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PART I

As used in this report, unless the context suggests otherwise, the terms "we," "our," "ours," "us," and the "Company"
refer to Leap Wireless International, Inc., or Leap, and its subsidiaries and consolidated joint ventures, including
Cricket Communications, Inc., or Cricket. Unless otherwise specified, information relating to population and potential
customers, or POPs, is based on 2013 population estimates provided by Claritas Inc., a market research company.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Except for the historical information contained herein, this report contains "forward-looking statements" within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements reflect management's current
forecast of certain aspects of our future. You can generally identify forward-looking statements by forward-looking
words such as "believe," "think," "may," "could," "will," "estimate," "continue," "anticipate," "intend," "seek," "plan,"
"project," "expect," "should," "would" and similar expressions in this report. Such statements are based on currently
available operating, financial and competitive information and are subject to various risks, uncertainties and
assumptions that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in or implied by our
forward-looking statements. Such risks, uncertainties and assumptions include, among other things:

•our ability to attract and retain customers in an extremely competitive marketplace;

•our ability to successfully implement product and service plan offerings and execute effectively on our strategicactivities;

•
our ability to compete effectively against wireless carriers with nationwide networks and significantly greater
deployment of 4G Long Term Evolution, or LTE, network technology, and the impact of competitors' initiatives
(including new service plans and pricing) and our ability to anticipate and respond to such initiatives;

•our ability to offer customers cost-effective 4G LTE services and to meet increasing customer demand forhigh-quality, high-speed data services;

•
uncertainties with respect to the proposed merger with AT&T Inc., or AT&T, including the possibility that the
proposed merger may not close or may be delayed, including due to the failure to timely receive required regulatory
approvals or satisfy other closing conditions;

•the effect of the announcement of the proposed merger with AT&T on our customers, employees, suppliers, vendors,distributors, dealers, retailers, content and application providers, operating results and business generally;
•the diversion of management's time and attention while the proposed merger transaction is pending;
•the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the merger;

•
limitations on our ability to make significant changes to our business in light of the proposed merger with AT&T and
the covenants contained in the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 12, 2013, between Leap, AT&T and
the other parties thereto, or the Merger Agreement;

•
changes in economic conditions, including interest rates, consumer credit conditions, consumer debt levels, consumer
confidence, unemployment rates, energy and transportation costs and other macro-economic factors that could
adversely affect demand for the services we provide;
•our ability to meet significant purchase commitments under agreements we have entered into;

•our ability to refinance our indebtedness under, and comply with the covenants in, any credit agreement, indenture orsimilar instrument governing our existing indebtedness or any future indebtedness;

•future customer usage of our wireless services, which could exceed our expectations, and our ability to manage orincrease network capacity to meet increasing customer demand, in particular demand for data services;

•our ability to obtain and maintain 3G and 4G roaming and wholesale services from other carriers at cost-effectiverates;
•our ability to acquire or obtain access to additional spectrum in the future at a reasonable cost or on a timely basis;
•our ability to cost-effectively procure handsets compatible with our network technology and frequency channels;

•failure of our network or information technology systems to perform according to expectations and risks associatedwith the ongoing operation and maintenance of those systems, including our customer billing system;
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•our ability to attract, integrate, motivate and retain an experienced workforce, including members of seniormanagement;
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•our ability to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting; and
•other factors detailed in "Part I - Item 1A. Risk Factors" below.
All forward-looking statements in this report (including any statements with respect to the proposed AT&T merger)
should be considered in the context of these risk factors. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the filing
date of this report, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. In light of these risks and uncertainties, the
forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this report may not occur and actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. Accordingly, users of this report are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements.

2
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Item 1. Business

Overview

We are a wireless communications carrier that offers digital wireless services in the U.S. under the "Cricket®" brand.
Our Cricket service offerings provide customers with unlimited nationwide wireless services for a flat rate without
requiring a fixed-term contract or a credit check.

Cricket service is offered by Cricket, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Leap. Cricket service is also offered in South
Texas by STX Wireless Operations, LLC, or STX Operations, which Cricket controls through a 75.75% membership
interest in STX Wireless, LLC, or STX Wireless, the parent company of STX Operations. For more information
regarding this joint venture, see "Part II - Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources - STX Wireless Joint Venture."

Leap was formed as a Delaware corporation in 1998. Leap's shares began trading publicly in September 1998, and we
launched our innovative Cricket service in March 1999. Leap conducts operations through its subsidiaries and has no
independent operations or sources of income other than interest income and through dividends, if any, from its
subsidiaries.

Proposed Merger

On July 12, 2013, Leap entered into the Merger Agreement with AT&T, Mariner Acquisition Sub Inc., a Delaware
corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of AT&T, which we refer to as Merger Sub, and Laser, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (which will act as the stockholders' representative for certain purposes under the Merger Agreement),
pursuant to which, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, AT&T will acquire
Leap in a transaction in which Leap stockholders would receive $15.00 in cash for each outstanding share of Leap's
common stock, plus one non-transferable contingent value right, or CVR, per share (together, referred to in this report
as the Merger Consideration). The CVR will entitle each Leap stockholder to a pro rata share of the net proceeds, if
any, resulting from the future sale of our 700 MHz A block license in Chicago, which we refer to as the 700 MHz
License. The Merger Agreement provides that, on the terms and subject to the conditions thereof, Merger Sub will be
merged with and into Leap, with Leap continuing as the surviving corporation in the Merger (which we refer to as the
Merger), and each outstanding share of common stock of Leap (other than excluded shares) will cease to be
outstanding and will be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration. Subject to the satisfaction or
waiver of the conditions to closing, we expect to complete the proposed Merger with AT&T no later than the end of
the first quarter of 2014.

Each outstanding stock option, whether vested or unvested, that was granted under one of Leap's stock plans and that
has an exercise price equal to or below the $15.00 per share cash merger consideration will be cancelled at the
effective time of the Merger and will entitle the holder to receive (1) cash equal to the product of the total number of
shares underlying the stock option multiplied by the difference, if any, of the per share cash merger consideration and
the exercise price per share underlying each stock option, less any applicable withholding taxes and (2) one CVR for
each share underlying the stock option. Holders of an outstanding stock option, whether vested or unvested, with an
exercise price greater than the per share cash merger consideration, will have the opportunity to exercise such stock
option prior to the effective time of the Merger by providing Leap with a notice of exercise and, for each share
underlying the stock option, a cash amount equal to the difference of the exercise price underlying the stock option
less the per share cash merger consideration. Each stock option that is so exercised will be settled at the effective time
of the Merger and the holder will receive one CVR in respect of each share underlying the stock option and, to the
extent the stock option is not exercised prior to the effective time of the Merger, the stock option will be cancelled at
the effective time of the Merger for no consideration to the holder. Each outstanding share of restricted stock granted
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under Leap's stock plans will be cancelled at the effective time of the Merger and the holder will receive the per share
cash merger consideration, less any applicable withholding taxes, plus one CVR in respect of such share of restricted
stock. Each outstanding stock unit granted under Leap's stock plans (including performance stock units, deferred stock
units and deferred cash units but excluding any cash award with a value that is not determined based on the price of
Leap common stock), whether vested or unvested, will be cancelled and will entitle the holder to receive an amount in
cash equal to the product of the number of shares covered by the unit (assuming target level of performance for any
incomplete performance periods) multiplied by the per share cash merger consideration, less any applicable
withholding taxes, plus one CVR in respect of such unit.

Leap has made customary representations, warranties and covenants in the Merger Agreement, including, among
others, covenants not to solicit proposals relating to alternative transactions or enter into discussions concerning or
provide information

3
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in connection with alternative transactions. On October 30, 2013, the Merger Agreement was adopted and approved
by the requisite vote of Leap's stockholders at the special meeting of stockholders.

Consummation of the Merger is subject to various customary conditions, including, among others, expiration of the
applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended; approval of
the transaction by the Federal Communications Commission, or FCC; and approval of the transaction by applicable
state public utility commissions. The parties have agreed to use their respective reasonable best efforts to obtain all
necessary regulatory approvals for the Merger, provided that AT&T will not be obligated to agree to divestitures or
other restrictions that would have any effect on AT&T or to divestitures or other restrictions that would reasonably be
expected to have a material adverse effect on Leap and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole. It is a condition to AT&T's
obligation to consummate the Merger that the FCC approval has been obtained by final order and that other regulatory
approvals have been obtained, in each case without the imposition of an adverse regulatory condition.

The Merger Agreement also provides for certain termination rights, including the right of either party to terminate the
Merger Agreement if the Merger is not consummated by July 11, 2014 (which we refer to in this report as the
Termination Date, as it may be extended in certain circumstances to January 11, 2015).

If the Merger Agreement is terminated because the Termination Date has been reached because there is an order of a
governmental entity permanently preventing completion of the transaction or as a result of a breach by AT&T and
AT&T's breach materially contributed to the failure to receive regulatory approval, and, at the time of such
termination, all regulatory approvals have not been received or the transaction has been enjoined, Leap, subject to
certain exceptions, will have the option within 30 days of termination of the Merger Agreement to enter into a
three-year LTE data roaming agreement with AT&T, which will provide coverage in certain of Leap's markets not
covered by Leap's LTE network. If Leap enters into the roaming agreement, AT&T will then have the option within
30 days after entry into the roaming agreement to purchase certain of Leap's spectrum assets. If AT&T does not
exercise its right to purchase all of the specified spectrum assets, Leap may, within 60 days after expiration of AT&T's
option, require AT&T to purchase all of the specified assets.

More information regarding the Merger, including the CVR, is available in our other filings with the SEC, including
the definitive proxy statement filed with the SEC on September 17, 2013 and the additional soliciting materials filed
with the SEC on October 18, 2013.

Cricket Business Overview

Cricket Service

As of December 31, 2013, Cricket service was offered in 48 states and the District of Columbia across an extended
area covering approximately 292 million POPs. As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 4.6 million
customers, and we owned wireless licenses covering an aggregate of approximately 137.7 million POPs (adjusted to
eliminate duplication from overlapping licenses). The combined network footprint in our operating markets covered
approximately 97.1 million POPs as of December 31, 2013. The licenses we own provide an average of 23 MHz of
spectrum capacity in our operating markets. In addition to our Cricket network footprint, we have entered into
roaming relationships with other wireless carriers that enable us to offer Cricket customers nationwide voice and data
roaming services (including 4G LTE roaming services) over an extended service area. In 2010 we entered into a
wholesale agreement, which we use to offer Cricket services in a limited number of nationwide retailers outside of our
current network footprint.

Cricket Business Strategy
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•

Deliver Superior Customer Experience. Because we offer monthly services without a fixed-term contract, we are
required to earn our customers' business every month. As a result, we are focused on improving the experience we
provide customers so that they choose to remain a Cricket customer for a longer period. We have improved our device
activation process by spending more time with customers to help ensure that they understand and are comfortable
with the device they are purchasing. We have also significantly improved the quality of our device portfolio in recent
years, including introducing higher-end smartphones such as the iPhone® and Samsung Galaxy handsets. In addition,
we are introducing improvements to the in-store experience we and our dealers provide our customers. We are also
working to improve ways that we resolve customer service issues, including by introducing more self-service
alternatives and improving the quality of call center services we provide.

4
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•

Retain and Expand Our Customer Base by Providing Value. The foundation of our business is to provide unlimited,
nationwide wireless services, and we design and market our products and services to appeal to customers seeking
increased value. We continually update our product and service offerings to better meet the needs of our current
customers and to attract and retain new ones, including customers who may have previously entered into
contract-based service plans with other nationwide carriers. The service offerings we have introduced in recent years
include Muve Music®, an unlimited music download service we offer that is designed specifically for mobile
handsets, which we offer for no additional cost in service plans for our Android-based smartphones. We have also
introduced Lifeline service offerings in a number of states, which provide qualifying low-income customers with a
subsidized discount on their wireless service. We offer current and new customers a diverse handset line-up, ranging
from higher-end smartphones to lower-cost feature phones. In addition, through a third party we have introduced a
device financing program in our markets to help customers manage the cost of purchasing a handset. We plan to
continue to develop our product and service offerings in 2014 and beyond.

•

Focus on Smart Investments. Our strategy is to be disciplined in pursuing investment initiatives and to remain focused
on our position as a low-cost provider of wireless telecommunications. Beginning in the second half of 2012, we
increased pricing on our devices in an effort to better manage device subsidies and promote the addition of
longer-tenured customers, although such changes have also had the effect of decreasing gross customer additions. In
addition, we have streamlined and reduced our number of dealer locations and Cricket-owned stores to increase sales
activity for more productive locations and reduce costs. The extent to which these initiatives and others we may
introduce will positively impact our future financial and operational results will depend upon our ability to anticipate
and respond to competitors' initiatives, our continued efforts to enhance the productivity of our distribution channels,
continued customer acceptance of our product and service offerings and our ability to retain and expand our customer
base. Our current investment initiatives also include the ongoing maintenance, development and enhancement of our
network and other business assets, including improving the 3G and LTE network coverage and capacity in existing
markets. To date, we have covered approximately 21 million POPs with next-generation LTE network technology.
However, given the significant decrease in the size of our customer base in recent quarters, our high level of
indebtedness and the high cost of LTE deployment, we have generally determined not to deploy LTE network
technology in additional markets at this time.

Cricket Business Operations

Cricket Products and Services

Cricket Wireless. Our Cricket Wireless service plans are designed to attract customers by offering simple, predictable
and affordable nationwide voice and data services that are a competitive alternative to traditional wireless and wireline
services. We offer service on a flat-rate, unlimited usage basis, without requiring fixed-term contracts, early
termination fees or credit checks.

Our most popular Cricket Wireless service plans bundle unlimited voice and data services, which include local and
U.S. long distance, text messaging, mobile web, navigation, data back-up and other features. The service plans we
currently offer are "all-inclusive," with telecommunication taxes and certain fees included within the service plan
price. We also offer a flexible payment option, BridgePayTM, which gives our customers greater flexibility in the use
of and payment for our Cricket Wireless service and which we believe helps us to retain customers.

Muve Music. We also offer Muve Music, an unlimited music download service designed specifically for mobile
handsets. We launched Muve Music in 2011 and the service is now offered for no additional cost in service plans for
our Android-based smartphones. Muve Music was available to more than 2.3 million Cricket customers as of
December 31, 2013 and is currently among the largest on-demand music subscription services in the U.S. as measured
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by the number of paid users.

Cricket Lifeline. We participate in the federal government's Lifeline program, which provides support from the federal
universal service fund, or USF, to subsidize discounted telecommunications services for qualified low-income
consumers. Through our Cricket Lifeline program, we provide qualified customers with a monthly credit that they can
apply to their phone service with us. In order to participate in the Lifeline program in any given state, a carrier must be
designated as an eligible telecommunications carrier, or ETC, in that state. As of December 31, 2013, Cricket had
been designated as an ETC in 28 states and the District of Columbia.

5
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Cricket PAYGoTM. Cricket PAYGo is a pay-as-you-go, unlimited prepaid wireless service designed for customers
who prefer the flexibility and control offered by traditional prepaid services. Monthly pay-as-you-go versions of our
Cricket PAYGo product are generally available through nationwide retailers.

Cricket Broadband. Cricket Broadband is our unlimited mobile broadband service offering and allows customers to
access the internet through their computers for low, flat rates that vary depending upon the targeted amount of data
that a customer expects to use during the month. These service plans are also "all-inclusive" and do not require
long-term commitments or credit checks. The service is available in all Cricket markets as well as through nationwide
retailers. As a result of strong customer adoption of our smartphones and other new handsets and devices, we have
deemphasized our Cricket Broadband service and have experienced a substantial reduction in the number of customers
subscribing to this service.

We expect to continue to develop our product and service offerings in 2014 and beyond to better meet our customers'
needs.

Devices

Our current device portfolio ranges widely from higher-end smartphones to lower-cost feature phones. Our portfolio
of devices provides features that include full web capabilities, mobile web browsers, picture-enabled caller ID,
high-resolution cameras with digital zoom and flash, integrated FM radio and MP3 stereo, USB, infrared and
Bluetooth connectivity, on-board memory and other features to facilitate digital data transmission. The higher-quality,
higher-priced devices in our portfolio include devices manufactured by Apple, Samsung, HTC and others. We
currently offer five LTE-compatible devices and expect to offer additional LTE devices in 2014.

Beginning in the second half of 2012, we increased the average out-the-door selling price for our devices as part of
our strategy to manage the amount we spend to subsidize devices we sell to new and current customers. In addition,
through a third party we have introduced a device financing program in certain of our markets to help customers
manage the cost of purchasing a device.

Customer Care and Billing

We outsource our call center operations to multiple call center vendors to manage the cost of providing care to our
customers, while still maintaining the quality of our customer care. One of our strategic priorities is to continue to
improve ways that we resolve customer service issues, including by introducing more self-service alternatives for
customers and improving the quality of the call center services we provide. We are focused on improving the
experience we provide our customers so that they choose to remain a Cricket customer for a longer period.

We outsource our billing, device provisioning and payment systems to external vendors and also outsource bill
presentment, distribution and fulfillment services. In recent years, we have upgraded a number of our significant,
internal business systems, including implementing a new inventory management system, a new point-of-sale system
and a new customer billing system. We believe that these systems have improved customer experience, increased our
efficiency, enhanced our ability to provide products and services, enabled us to better scale our business operations
and reduced our operating costs.

Sales and Distribution

Our sales and distribution strategy is designed to increase our market penetration, while minimizing expenses
associated with sales, distribution and marketing, by focusing on improving the sales process for customers, and by
offering easy-to-understand service plans and attractive device pricing and promotions.
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We sell our Cricket devices and service through direct and indirect channels of distribution. Our direct channel is
comprised of our own Cricket retail stores. As of December 31, 2013, we had 168 direct locations, which were
responsible for approximately 16% of our gross customer additions in 2013. In addition, we and third-party retailers
also sell Cricket services over the internet.

Our indirect channel consists of our authorized dealers and distributors, including premier dealers and local market
authorized dealers. Premier dealers are independent dealers that sell Cricket products exclusively in stores that look
and function similar to our company-owned stores, enhancing the in-store experience and the level of customer
service and expanding our brand presence within a market. Premier dealers tend to generate significantly more
business than other indirect dealers. As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 2,530 indirect dealer locations,
of which approximately 2,100 were premier dealer locations.

6
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Our indirect channel also includes national retail locations. Beginning in September 2011, we began to significantly
expand our nationwide sales presence by offering Cricket products and services in thousands of nationwide retail
locations. However, our mobile virtual network operator (MVNO) offering has fallen short of expectations.
Accordingly, we determined to focus our efforts on those nationwide retailers that we believe provide the most
attractive opportunities for our business. As a result, we reduced our total presence in the nationwide retail channel by
nearly two-thirds, from approximately 13,000 locations at June 30, 2012 to approximately 5,100 locations at
December 31, 2013. "Top-up" cards for our Cricket Broadband and Cricket PAYGo services are also available in
approximately 6,200 convenience stores and other indirect outlets.

We are focused on improving the productivity of our distribution system. We strategically select our direct and
indirect retail locations to enable us to focus on our target customer demographic and provide the most efficient
market coverage while minimizing cost.

In addition, we are focused on building and maintaining brand awareness in our markets. We combine mass and local
marketing strategies to build brand awareness for Cricket service within the communities we serve. In order to reach
our target segments, we advertise primarily on television, radio and online and also use out-of-home marketing (such
as billboards). We also maintain the Cricket website (www.mycricket.com) for informational, e-commerce and
customer service purposes.

Network Operations and Partnerships

As of December 31, 2013, Cricket service was offered in 48 states and the District of Columbia across an extended
area covering approximately 292 million POPs.

Network Operations

We offer Cricket service, in part, through a network footprint in our operating markets that covered approximately
97.1 million POPs as of December 31, 2013. We have deployed a high-quality network with CDMA2000® 1xRTT
(referred to as CDMA 1xRTT) and CDMA2000 1xEV-DO (referred to as EvDO) capability. In addition, to date we
have covered approximately 21 million POPs with next-generation LTE network technology. Our current investment
initiatives include improving our 3G and LTE network coverage and capacity in existing markets. However, given the
significant decrease in the size of our customer base in recent quarters, our high level of indebtedness and the high
cost of LTE deployment, we have generally determined not to deploy LTE network technology in additional markets
at this time.

As of December 31, 2013, our wireless network consisted of approximately 9,600 cell sites (most of which were
co-located on leased facilities) and 27 switches in 25 switching centers. A switching center serves several purposes,
including routing calls, supervising call originations and terminations at cell sites, managing call handoffs and access
to and from the public switched telephone network, or PSTN, and other value-added services. These locations also
house platforms that enable services including text messaging, picture messaging, voice mail and data services. In
operating our network, we monitor quality metrics, including dropped call rates and blocked call rates. We rely upon a
network operations center, or NOC, to provide dedicated monitoring capabilities 24 hours a day, every day of the
year, to ensure highly reliable service to our customers. We have outsourced the operation of our NOC to a third party
in order to improve monitoring and reporting functions and to reduce costs associated with these operations.

Our switches connect to the PSTN through fiber rings leased from third party providers, which facilitate the first leg
of origination and termination of traffic between our equipment and both local exchange and long distance carriers.
We have negotiated interconnection agreements with relevant exchange carriers in each of our markets. We use third
party providers for long distance services and for backhaul services carrying traffic between our cell sites and

Edgar Filing: LEAP WIRELESS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10-K

16



switching centers.

Roaming and Wholesale Services

In addition to utilizing our Cricket network footprint, we provide Cricket voice and data services through roaming and
wholesale relationships that have enabled us to offer enhanced Cricket products and services, strengthen our retail
presence in our existing markets and expand our distribution nationwide. We have entered into roaming relationships
with national and regional wireless carriers that enable us to offer Cricket customers nationwide voice and data
roaming services over an extended service area. We currently rely on one key carrier for 3G data roaming services and
recently entered into an agreement with that carrier for 4G LTE roaming services. We have also entered into a
wholesale agreement with an affiliate of Sprint Nextel, which we use to offer Cricket voice and data services in a
limited number of nationwide retailers outside of our current network footprint. We recently amended

7

Edgar Filing: LEAP WIRELESS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10-K

17



that agreement to enable us to offer 4G LTE services. Since introducing our products in nationwide retailers in
September 2011, our MVNO offering has fallen short of expectations. Accordingly, we determined to focus our
efforts on those nationwide retailers that we believe provide the most attractive opportunities for our business. As a
result, we reduced our total presence in the nationwide retail channel by nearly two-thirds, from approximately 13,000
locations at June 30, 2012 to approximately 5,100 locations at December 31, 2013.

Competition

The wireless telecommunications industry is very competitive. In general, we compete with national facilities-based
wireless providers and their prepaid affiliates or brands, local and regional carriers, non-facilities-based MVNOs,
voice-over-internet-protocol (VoIP) service providers, traditional landline service providers, cable companies and
mobile satellite service providers. In addition, we may face additional competition from new entrants in the wireless
marketplace. Competition in the wireless industry has increased and intensified in recent quarters, particularly from
carriers and their affiliated brands with robust nationwide networks and significantly greater deployment of 4G LTE
technology.

Many of our competitors have greater advantages of scale, larger spectrum holdings, larger network footprints, access
to greater amounts of capital, greater technical, sales, marketing and distribution resources, greater name and brand
recognition and established relationships with a larger base of current and potential customers. Many of our
competitors also offer LTE services over a significantly larger geographic area than we do, enabling them to better
meet increasing customer demand for higher data throughput speeds to support mobile applications and mobile
broadband use. These advantages may allow our competitors to provide service offerings with more extensive features
and options than those we currently provide; to offer the latest and most popular devices through exclusive vendor
arrangements; to offer lower out-the-door pricing for smartphone devices by offering greater device subsidies than we
do; to market to broader customer segments and offer service over larger geographic areas than we can; to offer
bundled service offerings that include landline phone, television and internet services that we are not able to duplicate;
to better attract and retain third-party dealers and distributors; and to purchase equipment, supplies, devices and
services at lower prices than we can. As device selection and pricing become increasingly important to customers, any
restriction on our ability to offer customers the latest and most popular devices as a result of exclusive dealings
between device manufacturers and our larger competitors could put us at a significant competitive disadvantage and
make it more difficult for us to attract and retain customers. We also anticipate that demand for CDMA-AWS
handsets will decrease in the future and, as a result, that the selection of such handsets will diminish and prices will
increase. In addition, further industry consolidation may result in vendors and suppliers devoting an increasing
percentage of their time and resources to assisting larger wireless companies or terminating relationships with us. In
addition, some of our competitors are able to offer their customers roaming services at lower rates. As consolidation in
the industry creates even larger competitors, advantages that our competitors may have, as well as their bargaining
power as wholesale providers of roaming services, may increase. For example, in connection with the offering of our
nationwide voice and data roaming services, we have encountered problems with certain large wireless carriers in
negotiating terms for roaming arrangements that we believe are reasonable, and we believe that consolidation has
contributed significantly to some carriers' control over the terms and conditions of wholesale roaming services.

These competitive pressures have continued to increase and intensify with recent market consolidation and other
strategic transactions, including Verizon Wireless' acquisition of significant amounts of spectrum from SpectrumCo in
August 2012, the combination of T-Mobile and MetroPCS in April 2013 and Softbank's acquisition of an
approximately 70% ownership position in Sprint in July 2013. In particular, we have been experiencing increased
competition in many of our core Cricket markets from nationwide carriers increasingly targeting the prepaid segment,
including from T-Mobile's nationwide expansion of the MetroPCS prepaid brand utilizing the T-Mobile 4G LTE
network.
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The competitive pressures of the wireless telecommunications industry and the attractive growth prospects in the
prepaid segment have caused a number of our competitors (including AT&T, Verizon Wireless, Sprint and T-Mobile)
to offer competitively-priced unlimited prepaid and postpaid service offerings. In addition, a number of carriers have
begun to offer bundled service offerings comprised of unlimited voice service and fixed amounts of data that
customers can share across all of their wireless devices. We also face additional competition in the prepaid segment
from Lifeline service offerings, which are available to consumers at reduced costs (and in some cases at no cost)
because carriers offering this service receive a subsidy payment from the federal USF program. These Lifeline service
offerings are also being provided by new MVNO providers who are utilizing other carriers' networks.

In addition to our voice offerings, many companies offer other products and services that compete with those we offer.
For example, there are numerous music services that compete with our Muve Music service, including the iTunes
service offered by
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Apple, and various streaming services offered by Rhapsody, Pandora, Spotify, Beats Music and others. These various
service offerings have presented, and are expected to continue to present, strong competition in markets in which our
offerings overlap.

The evolving competitive landscape has negatively impacted our financial and operating results in recent years, as
evidenced by a 26.5% reduction in the total number of our customers between March 31, 2012 and December 31,
2013. Our ability to remain competitive will depend, in part, on our ability to anticipate and respond to various
competitive factors, to provide LTE-based services and meet increasing customer demand for high data throughput
speeds, and to keep our costs low. Our competitiveness also will depend on our continued efforts to enhance the
productivity of our distribution channels, continued customer acceptance of our product and service offerings and our
ability to retain and expand our customer base. The evolving competitive landscape may result in more competitive
pricing, higher costs, lower customer additions and higher customer turnover than we project. Any of these results or
actions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Government Regulation

Pursuant to its authority under the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, or the Communications Act, the FCC
regulates the licensing, construction, modification, operation, ownership, sale and interconnection of wireless
communications systems, as do some state and local regulatory agencies. Congress also periodically revises or enacts
laws affecting the telecommunications industry, as do state legislatures. Decisions by these bodies could have a
significant impact on the competitive market structure among wireless providers and on the relationships between
wireless providers and other carriers. These mandates may also impose significant financial, operational or service
obligations on us and other wireless providers. We are unable to predict the scope, pace or financial impact of legal or
policy changes that could be adopted in these proceedings.

Licensing of our Wireless Service Systems

We hold broadband Personal Communications Services, or PCS, licenses, Advanced Wireless Services, or AWS,
licenses and the 700 MHz License. The licensing rules that apply to these three categories of licenses are summarized
below.

PCS Licenses. A broadband PCS system operates under a license granted by the FCC for a particular market on one of
six frequency blocks allocated for broadband PCS. Broadband PCS systems generally are used for two-way voice and
data applications. Narrowband PCS systems, in contrast, generally are used for non-voice applications such as paging
and data service and are separately licensed. The FCC has segmented the U.S. PCS markets into 51 large regions
called major trading areas, or MTAs, which in turn are comprised of 493 smaller regions called basic trading areas, or
BTAs. The FCC awards two broadband PCS licenses for each MTA and four licenses for each BTA. Thus, generally,
six PCS licensees are authorized to compete in each area. The two MTA licenses authorize the use of 30 MHz of
spectrum. One of the BTA licenses is for 30 MHz of spectrum, and the other three BTA licenses are for 10 MHz each.
The FCC permits licensees to split their licenses and assign a portion to a third party on either a geographic or
frequency basis or both. Over time, the FCC has also further split licenses in connection with re-auctions of PCS
spectrum, creating additional 15 MHz and 10 MHz licenses.

All PCS licensees must satisfy minimum geographic coverage requirements within five and, in some cases, ten years
after the license grant date. These initial requirements are met for most 10 MHz licenses when a signal level sufficient
to provide adequate service is offered to at least one-quarter of the population of the licensed area within five years, or
in the alternative, a showing of substantial service is made for the licensed area within five years of being licensed.
For 30 MHz licenses, a signal level must be provided that is sufficient to offer adequate service to at least one-third of
the population within five years and two-thirds of the population within ten years after the license grant date. In the
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alternative, 30 MHz licensees may provide substantial service to their licensed area within the appropriate five- and
ten-year benchmarks. "Substantial service" is defined by the FCC as service that is "sound, favorable, and
substantially above a level of mediocre service which just might minimally warrant renewal." In general, a failure to
comply with FCC coverage requirements could cause the revocation of the relevant wireless license, with no
eligibility to regain it, or the imposition of fines and/or other sanctions.

All PCS licenses have a 10-year term, at the end of which they must be renewed. Our PCS licenses began expiring in
2006 and will continue to expire through 2015. The FCC's rules provide a formal presumption that a PCS license will
be renewed, called a "renewal expectancy," if the PCS licensee (1) has provided "substantial service" during its past
license term, and (2) has substantially complied with applicable FCC rules and policies and the Communications Act.
If a licensee does not receive a renewal expectancy, then the FCC will accept competing applications for the license
renewal period and, subject to a comparative hearing, may award the license to another party. If the FCC does not
acknowledge a renewal expectancy with respect to one or more of our licenses, or renew one or more of our licenses,
our business may be materially harmed.

9
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AWS Licenses. Recognizing the increasing consumer demand for wireless mobile services, the FCC has allocated
additional spectrum that can be used for two-way mobile wireless voice, data and broadband services, including AWS
spectrum. The FCC has licensed six frequency blocks consisting of one 20 MHz license in each of 734 cellular market
areas, or CMAs; one 20 MHz license and one 10 MHz license in each of 176 economic areas, or EAs; and two
10 MHz licenses and one 20 MHz license in each of 12 regional economic area groupings, or REAGs.

AWS licenses generally have a 15-year term, at the end of which they must be renewed. With respect to construction
requirements, an AWS licensee must offer "substantial service" to the public at the end of the license term. As noted
above, a failure to comply with FCC coverage requirements could cause the revocation of the relevant wireless
license, with no eligibility to regain it, or the imposition of fines and/or other sanctions.

Portions of the AWS spectrum that we hold were originally subject to use by U.S. government and/or incumbent
commercial licensees. The FCC rules issued in connection with Auction #66 required winning bidders to avoid
interfering with existing users or to clear incumbent users from the spectrum through specified relocation procedures.
In connection with the launch of new markets, we worked with several incumbent government and commercial
licensees to clear AWS spectrum. In the event that we determine to launch additional new markets in the future using
AWS spectrum, or to enhance network coverage or capacity in other markets currently in operation, we may need to
pursue further spectrum clearing efforts. Any failure to complete these efforts on time or on budget could delay
implementation of any clustering and expansion strategies that we may decide to pursue.

700 MHz License. Our 700 MHz License was purchased from Cellco Partnership dba Verizon Wireless, or Verizon
Wireless, for $204 million in August 2012. The wireless spectrum covered by the 700 MHz License was previously
occupied by television broadcast stations but was made available by the FCC for commercial and public safety
services as a result of the digital television, or DTV, transition. The 700 MHz License was granted for a ten-year term
expiring on June 13, 2019. Until recently, as a condition of obtaining the license, 700 MHz A block licensees were
required to provide signal coverage and offer service to (1) at least 35% of the geographic area of the license within
four years of the initial license grant, and (2) at least 70% of the geographic area of the license at the end of the license
term. The licensee was also required to file construction notifications, all necessary supporting documentation and
required certifications with the FCC to demonstrate compliance with these interim and end-of-term construction
benchmarks. Any licensee that failed to meet the interim requirement within its license area would have its license
term reduced from ten to eight years, thus requiring the licensee to meet the end-of-term benchmark at an accelerated
schedule. Licensees that did not meet the interim construction benchmarks could also be subject to monetary
forfeitures and the loss of authority to operate in part of the unserved area. For those licenses for which the
end-of-term performance requirements had not been met, the unused portion of the license would terminate
automatically without FCC action and would become available for reassignment, subject to the "keep-what-you-use"
rule.

We have been engaged in the first stages of development of the 700 MHz License. In connection with the
development and operation of the license, we must coordinate with adjacent spectrum licensees to minimize
interference from and into our mobile wireless service. One of the adjacent licensees in the lower 700 MHz E block,
an affiliate of Dish Network, had been authorized to operate on its license at higher power levels than other lower 700
MHz licensees such as Leap that operate on different frequency blocks. In a recently issued FCC order, which we
refer to as the 700 MHz Interoperability Order, the FCC altered the technical parameters of lower 700 MHz E block
licenses, including lowering authorized E block licensee power levels. We and Dish Network have begun preliminary
coordination efforts, and our preliminary analysis indicates that we should be able to coexist with E block operations
that are consistent with the lower power levels in the 700 MHz Interoperability Order. However, once we or any
subsequent purchaser of the 700 MHz License were to determine the parameters of our or its actual operations in the
vicinity of Dish Network’s transmitter, we or such subsequent purchaser would need to coordinate such operations
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with Dish Network, and there can be no assurance that we or such purchaser would be successful in doing so.

We must also coordinate with the incumbent broadcaster on DTV Channel 51 to reduce possible signal interference in
order to commence operations using the 700 MHz License. Based upon third-party technical and statistical analyses
we have commissioned, we do not believe there is any harmful interference between the 700 MHz License and DTV
Channel 51 operations and have sought the concurrence of the incumbent broadcaster on DTV Channel 51. Because
the incumbent broadcaster has not concurred with our determination to date, we have also filed a petition with the
FCC seeking relief from the agency's DTV interference protection requirements. That petition has been vigorously
opposed by the incumbent Channel 51 broadcaster, as well as by the broadcast trade association. The opponents have
argued that we have not met the standard for a waiver of the FCC’s DTV protection criteria. The incumbent
broadcaster has also argued that wireless operations using the 700 MHz License will cause severe
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interference with Channel 51 operations and has submitted its own technical analysis that contradicts the third-party
reports we commissioned.

It is also possible that any purported interference of the 700 MHz License operations with DTV Channel 51 operations
could be eliminated by the future broadcast incentive spectrum auction that is currently expected to take place in 2015
or later, which may result in the movement of DTV Channel 51 to another spectrum band or other regulatory actions.
For example, the FCC could revise its rules relating to interference between wireless operations and over-the-air
broadcast service in ways that could facilitate usage of the 700 MHz License, including in connection with its current
rulemaking proceeding for the future broadcast incentive spectrum auction. However, there can be no assurance that
the FCC will grant relief on the terms we seek or at all, that any purported interference will be eliminated by the
broadcast incentive spectrum auction or that any other regulatory action will be taken that will mitigate the purported
interference or produce a more favorable operating environment for wireless carrier operations.

If we (or following the closing of the Merger, the stockholders' representative) are not able to resolve interference
issues affecting the license, including by coordinating with adjacent licensees, obtaining the concurrence of the
broadcaster on DTV Channel 51 or regulatory action (including receiving a waiver from the FCC, the interference
being eliminated as a result of the future broadcast incentive spectrum auction or other actions), the value of the 700
MHz License and the CVR could be materially and adversely affected and could be zero. In addition, the initiation of
the broadcast incentive spectrum auction could cause carriers that participate in that auction to be subject to
anti-collusion rules that historically have significantly constrained the ability of such carriers, during the pendency of
the auction process, to participate in other discussions regarding acquiring aftermarket spectrum, like the 700 MHz
License. Depending on the timing of the broadcast incentive spectrum auction, these anti-collusion rules could
significantly constrain, for a period of time, the pool of possible purchasers of the 700 MHz License, which could
materially and adversely affect the amount of proceeds realized on any sale of the 700 MHz License and thus the
value of the CVR.

The 700 MHz License also faces certain interoperability constraints. As an "A block" spectrum license, the 700 MHz
License authorizes operations on frequency "Band Class 12," which is a band not widely used by other wireless
communications carriers due, in part, to the DTV interference mentioned above. Since wireless handsets must be
manufactured to operate on particular spectrum bands, this results in fewer handsets being manufactured for Band
Class 12, making it more difficult for holders of A block licenses such as the 700 MHz License to achieve economies
of scale when purchasing handsets.

In addition, the ability to roam with a Band Class 12 handset is limited due to the limited use of Band Class 12
spectrum by wireless communications carriers. As a result, Band Class 12 handsets must contain additional hardware
in order to roam on additional bands. This additional hardware typically adds size and cost to the handsets, making
them less desirable for customers.

In the 700 MHz Interoperability Order, the FCC adopted an industry compromise under which AT&T has agreed to
take certain actions to promote device interoperability within the 700 MHz band, subject to certain conditions. These
actions include AT&T’s agreeing to deploy Multi-Frequency Band Indicator, or MFBI, capabilities into its network by
September 30, 2015, subject to an extension or waiver process. By that same date, under the compromise AT&T will
begin a phased roll-out of devices capable of supporting Band Class 12 and will provide LTE roaming to carriers with
compatible Band Class 12 devices, consistent with the FCC’s rules on roaming. In conjunction with the actions to be
taken by AT&T, as discussed above, Dish Network has agreed to operate in accordance with lower power limits on its
lower 700 MHz E block licenses.

As discussed above, the 700 MHz License was originally subject to an interim construction deadline. The 700 MHz
Interoperability Order generally extended the interim construction requirement for lower 700 MHz A and B block
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licensees until December 13, 2016 (three years from the current deadline) and eliminated the interim construction
requirement entirely for lower 700 MHz A block licensees that warrant relief from Channel 51 operations. The final
construction deadline of June 13, 2019 remains in effect. However, there can be no assurances that the interference
and interoperability issues affecting the 700 MHz License will be suitably resolved or that the 700 MHz License
ultimately will be sold for a value sufficient to generate a payment to CVR holders, or at all.

Designated Entities. Since the early 1990's the FCC has pursued a policy in wireless licensing of attempting to assist
various types of designated entities. The FCC generally has determined that designated entities who qualify as small
businesses or very small businesses, as defined by a complex set of FCC rules, can receive additional benefits. These
benefits can include eligibility to bid for certain licenses set aside only for designated entities. The FCC generally
required holders of these licenses to meet certain maximum financial size qualifications for at least a five-year period.
In addition, designated entities are eligible for bidding credits in most spectrum auctions and re-auctions, and, in some
cases, an installment loan from the federal government for a significant portion of the dollar amount of the winning
bids. A failure by an entity to maintain its qualifications to own licenses won through
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the designated entity program could cause a number of adverse consequences, including the ineligibility to hold
licenses for which the FCC's minimum coverage requirements have not been met, and the triggering of FCC unjust
enrichment rules, which could require the recapture of bidding credits and the acceleration of any installment
payments owed to the U.S. Treasury.

The FCC has implemented rules and policies to ensure that only legitimate small businesses benefit from the program,
and that such small businesses are not controlled or manipulated by larger wireless carriers or other investors that do
not meet the small business qualification tests. For example, designated entity structures are subject to a requirement
that they seek approval for any event that might affect their ongoing eligibility (for example, changes in agreements
that the FCC has previously reviewed), annual reporting requirements and a commitment by the FCC to audit each
designated entity at least once during the license term. In addition, third parties and the federal government have in the
past challenged certain designated entity structures, alleging violations of federal qui tam and other laws and seeking
significant monetary damages. We cannot predict the degree to which rule changes, federal court litigation
surrounding designated entity structures, increased regulatory scrutiny or third party or government lawsuits will
affect our prior investments in designated entities, future business ventures or our participation in future FCC
spectrum auctions.

Foreign Ownership. Under existing law, no more than 20% of an FCC licensee's capital stock may be owned, directly
or indirectly, or voted by non-U.S. citizens or their representatives, by a foreign government or its representatives or
by a foreign corporation. If an FCC licensee is controlled by another entity (as is the case with Leap's ownership and
control of subsidiaries that hold FCC licenses), up to 25% of that entity's capital stock may be owned or voted by
non-U.S. citizens or their representatives, by a foreign government or its representatives or by a foreign corporation.
Foreign ownership above the 25% holding company level may be allowed if the FCC finds such higher levels
consistent with the public interest. The FCC has ruled that higher levels of foreign ownership, even up to 100%, are
presumptively consistent with the public interest with respect to investors from certain nations. If our foreign
ownership were to exceed the permitted level, the FCC could revoke our wireless licenses, although we could seek a
declaratory ruling from the FCC allowing the foreign ownership or could take other actions to reduce our foreign
ownership percentage in order to avoid the loss of our licenses. We have no knowledge of any present foreign
ownership in violation of these restrictions.

Transfer and Assignment. The Communications Act and FCC rules require the FCC's prior approval of the assignment
or transfer of control of a commercial wireless license, with limited exceptions. The FCC may prohibit or impose
conditions on assignments and transfers of control of licenses. Non-controlling membership interests in an entity that
holds a wireless license generally may be bought or sold without FCC approval. The FCC engages in a case-by-case
review of transactions that involve the consolidation of spectrum licenses or leases and applies a spectrum "screen" in
examining such transactions. This screen and the rules and criteria that the FCC uses for evaluating spectrum
aggregation generally are under review in a pending FCC proceeding. Although we cannot assure you that the FCC
will approve or act in a timely fashion upon any pending or future requests for approval of assignment or transfer of
control applications that we file, in general we believe the FCC will approve or grant such requests or applications in
due course. Because an FCC license is necessary to lawfully provide wireless service, if the FCC were to disapprove
any such filing, our business plans would be adversely affected.

FCC Regulation Generally

The FCC has a number of other complex requirements and proceedings that affect our operations and that could
increase our costs or diminish our revenues. For example, the FCC requires wireless carriers to make available
emergency 911, or E911, services, including enhanced E911 services that provide the caller's telephone number and
detailed location information to emergency responders, as well as a requirement that E911 services be made available
to users with speech or hearing disabilities. Our obligations to implement these services occur on a market-by-market
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basis as emergency service providers request the implementation of enhanced E911 services in their locales. Absent a
waiver, a failure to comply with these requirements could subject us to significant penalties. Furthermore, the FCC
has initiated a comprehensive re-examination of E911 location accuracy and reliability requirements. In connection
with this re-examination, the FCC issued an order requiring wireless carriers to satisfy E911 location and reliability
standards at a geographical level defined by the coverage area of a Public Safety Answering Point, or PSAP, and has
indicated that further action may be taken in future proceedings to establish more stringent, uniform location accuracy
requirements across technologies, and to promote continuing development of technologies that might enable carriers
to provide public safety with better information for locating persons in the event of an emergency. We cannot predict
whether or how such actions will affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

FCC rules also require that local exchange carriers and most commercial mobile radio service providers, including
providers like Cricket, allow customers to change service providers without changing telephone numbers. For wireless
service providers,
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this mandate is referred to as wireless local number portability. The FCC also has adopted rules governing the porting
of wireline telephone numbers to wireless carriers.

The FCC has the authority to order interconnection between commercial mobile radio service operators and
incumbent local exchange carriers, and FCC rules provide that all local exchange carriers must enter into
compensation arrangements with commercial mobile radio service carriers for the exchange of local traffic, whereby
each carrier compensates the other for terminating local traffic originating on the other carrier's network. As a
commercial mobile radio services provider, we are required to pay compensation to a wireline local exchange carrier
that transports and terminates a local call that originated on our network. Similarly, we are entitled to receive
compensation when we transport and terminate a local call that originated on a wireline local exchange network. We
negotiate interconnection arrangements for our network with major incumbent local exchange carriers and other
independent telephone companies. If an agreement cannot be reached, under certain circumstances, parties to
interconnection negotiations can submit outstanding disputes to state authorities for arbitration. Negotiated
interconnection agreements are subject to state approval. The FCC's interconnection rules and rulings, as well as state
arbitration proceedings, directly impact the nature and costs of facilities necessary for the interconnection of our
network with other wireless telecommunications networks. They also determine the amount we receive for
terminating calls originating on the networks of local exchange carriers and other telecommunications carriers. The
FCC in recent years adopted comprehensive changes to its intercarrier compensation system, which include, among
other things, the transition of all types of traffic to a bill-and-keep regime over a multi-year period, as well as a
mechanism to offset the resulting revenue losses for incumbents. For wireless carriers, the FCC made the transition
immediately, and adopted bill-and-keep as the default compensation for intra-MTA traffic exchanged between local
exchange carriers, or LECs, and wireless carriers as of the effective date of the order. Various aspects of the FCC's
intercarrier compensation regime are subject to review before the FCC, state regulatory bodies or federal or state
courts. The outcome of such proceedings may affect the manner in which we are charged or compensated for the
exchange of traffic.

The FCC has adopted rules requiring commercial mobile radio service providers to provide automatic roaming for
voice and SMS text messaging services on just, reasonable and non-discriminatory terms. The FCC has also adopted
rules generally requiring carriers to offer data roaming services on commercially reasonable terms. These orders,
however, do not provide or mandate any specific mechanism for determining the reasonableness of roaming rates and
require that roaming complaints be resolved on a case-by-case basis, based on a non-exclusive list of factors that can
be taken into account in determining the reasonableness of particular conduct or rates. The FCC's data roaming order
and rules were recently affirmed on appeal, although they are still subject to a petition for reconsideration at the FCC.
Our inability to obtain these roaming services on a cost-effective basis may limit our ability to compete effectively for
wireless customers, which may increase our churn and decrease our revenues, which could materially adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The FCC has adopted an order codifying and supplementing its previous internet openness principles (sometimes
referred to as "network neutrality" principles) into binding rules. These rules are intended to ensure that consumers are
able to access the lawful internet content, applications, and services of their choice, and to attach non-harmful devices
to the network. The rules also require greater transparency regarding providers' network management practices. The
rules in this proceeding were recently vacated by a federal court and it is unclear whether the FCC will seek further
judicial review or attempt to issue new rules. Any new rules would likely contain uncertainties that would require
future case-by-case interpretation and enforcement by the FCC in specific complaints. Any new rules and pending
review and complaint proceedings affecting their interpretation and enforcement could have significant operational
implications for how we manage traffic on our network, the applications and devices that could be used on our
networks, and our consumer disclosure practices. We cannot predict how any such rules, or their interpretation or
enforcement, would affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The FCC has rules in place requiring interstate communications carriers, including commercial mobile wireless
carriers, to contribute to a federal USF that reimburses communications carriers who are providing subsidized
communications services to underserved areas and users. The FCC requires carriers to determine their percentage of
traffic that is interstate or international and to make contributions based on the revenues associated with such traffic.
Our failure to comply with our USF obligations could subject us to significant fines or forfeitures. The FCC is also
considering whether to amend rules regarding USF contributions, and new requirements could result in increased
contribution obligations for us and other carriers.

We participate in the federal government's Lifeline program, which provides support from the USF to subsidize
discounted telecommunications services for qualified low-income consumers. In order to participate in the Lifeline
program in any given state, a carrier must be designated as an ETC in that state. As of December 31, 2013, Cricket
had been designated as an ETC in 28 states and the District of Columbia. In January 2012, the FCC adopted an order
regarding the Lifeline program, the stated purpose of which is to streamline the administration of the program and to
implement measures to curb perceived waste, fraud
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and abuse in the program. In addition, various states are considering or enacting rules with similar stated purposes as
the FCC order. In connection with the FCC's order, among other things, we are required to have our Lifeline
customers re-certify on an annual basis their eligibility to participate in the program. These requirements could result
in the loss of Lifeline customers and associated funding from the USF if these customers fail to meet the FCC's
eligibility standards or fail to respond to requests to re-certify their eligibility. Further, the FCC is developing a
National Lifeline Accountability Database, the primary purpose of which will be to validate the identity of Lifeline
customers and prevent Lifeline support from being provided to more than one eligible recipient per household in
accordance with FCC regulations. While the timing of the deployment of the database is uncertain, its implementation
and use could reduce the number of customers we enroll in our Lifeline programs and thus the amount of Lifeline
funding we receive. In addition, the FCC could pursue enforcement action against us and impose monetary penalties if
it were to conclude that we violated any of the Lifeline rules. In addition, future action by Congress, the FCC, or the
states in which we have been designated as an ETC could reduce or eliminate the amount of Lifeline funding we
receive for providing wireless service to certain qualifying low income customers, which could result in the loss of
subscribers and the associated service revenue.

In November 2011, the FCC adopted an order establishing new universal service support mechanisms intended to
support both voice and broadband services in high-cost areas, which would be funded through a new Connect
America Fund, or CAF. Over time, these CAF mechanisms will replace legacy high-cost support mechanisms that
currently provide funding to wireless carriers and other ETCs. The new CAF mechanisms place greater limits on the
total amount of high-cost support available to wireless ETCs (as opposed to wireline incumbents). At the same time,
the CAF mechanisms will reduce or eliminate available support in certain high-cost areas that benefit from
competition. The CAF program has not yet been implemented fully, and the FCC has sought further public comment
with respect to certain details of its implementation. For example, the FCC has stated its intent to distribute funds to
wireless ETCs through a competitive auction mechanism but has not yet finalized the details of such a program. In
addition, the FCC order establishing the CAF program is the subject of pending petitions for reconsideration filed with
the FCC, as well as pending judicial appeals. As such, there is uncertainty as to how and when the CAF program will
be implemented fully and how such implementation could impact wireless carriers and competition in local and
national markets.

We also are subject, or potentially subject, to numerous additional rules and requirements, including universal service
obligations; number portability requirements; number pooling rules; rules governing billing, subscriber privacy and
customer proprietary network information; roaming obligations; rules that require wireless service providers to
configure their networks to facilitate electronic surveillance by law enforcement officials; rate averaging and
integration requirements; rules governing spam, telemarketing and truth-in-billing; and rules requiring us to offer
equipment and services that are accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities, among others. There are also
pending proceedings exploring the possible re-imposition of bright-line spectrum aggregation requirements and/or
adjustment of the FCC’s case-by-case spectrum screens; further regulation of special access used for wireless backhaul
services; regulation surrounding the deployment of advanced wireless broadband infrastructure; the imposition of
text-to-911 capabilities; and the transition to IP networks, among others. Some of these requirements and pending
proceedings (of which the foregoing examples are not an exhaustive list) pose technical and operational challenges to
which we, and the industry as a whole, have not yet developed clear solutions. These requirements generally are the
subject of pending FCC or judicial proceedings, and we are unable to predict how they may affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

State, Local and Other Regulation

Congress has given the FCC the authority to preempt states from regulating rates and entry into commercial mobile
radio service. The FCC, to date, has denied all state petitions to regulate the rates charged by commercial mobile radio
service providers. State and local governments are permitted to manage public rights of way and can require fair and
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reasonable compensation from telecommunications providers, on a competitively neutral and nondiscriminatory basis,
for the use of such rights of way by telecommunications carriers, including commercial mobile radio service
providers, so long as the compensation required is publicly disclosed by the state or local government. States may also
impose competitively neutral requirements that are necessary for universal service, to protect the public safety and
welfare, to ensure continued service quality and to safeguard the rights of consumers. While a state may not impose
requirements that effectively function as barriers to entry or create a competitive disadvantage, the scope of state
authority to maintain existing requirements or to adopt new requirements is unclear. State legislators, public utility
commissions and other state agencies are becoming increasingly active in efforts to regulate wireless carriers and the
service they provide, including efforts to conserve numbering resources and efforts aimed at regulating service
quality, advertising, warranties and returns, rebates, and other consumer protection measures.

The location and construction of our wireless antennas and base stations and the towers we lease on which such
antennas are located are subject to FCC and Federal Aviation Administration regulations, federal, state and local
environmental and historic preservation regulations, and state and local zoning, land use or other requirements.
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The Digital Millennium Copyright Act, or DMCA, prohibits the circumvention of technological measures or access
controls employed by or on behalf of copyright owners to protect their copyrighted works. However, under the
DMCA, the Copyright Office of the Library of Congress, or the Copyright Office, has the authority to exempt for
three-year periods certain circumventing activities that might otherwise be prohibited by the statute. In July 2010, the
Copyright Office granted an exemption to the DMCA to allow the circumvention of software locks and other
firmware that prohibit a wireless handset from connecting to a wireless network when such circumvention is
accomplished for the sole purpose of lawfully connecting the handset to another network. This exemption permitted
locked handsets purchased from one wireless carrier to be unlocked and then activated on another carrier's network.
On October 28, 2012, the Copyright Office issued a new exemption under the DMCA, which only permits the
circumvention of software locks on handsets purchased before January 26, 2013. In order for locked devices
purchased after this date to be connected to another carrier's network, the customer must obtain the prior carrier's
consent to unlock the device. This new, narrowed exemption, and any further modification of the DMCA copyright
exemption, could impact our ability to attract and activate new customers.

We cannot assure you that any federal, state or local regulatory requirements currently applicable to our systems will
not be changed in the future or that regulatory requirements will not be adopted in those states and localities that
currently have none. Such changes could impose new obligations on us that could adversely affect our operating
results.

Privacy

We are obligated to comply with a variety of federal and state privacy and consumer protection requirements. The
Communications Act and FCC rules, for example, impose various rules on us intended to protect against the
disclosure of customer proprietary network information. Other FCC and Federal Trade Commission rules regulate the
disclosure and sharing of subscriber information. We have developed and comply with a policy designed to protect the
privacy of our customers and their personal information. State legislatures and regulators are considering imposing
additional requirements on companies to further protect the privacy of wireless customers. Our need to comply with
these rules, and to address complaints by subscribers invoking them, could adversely affect our operating results.

Intellectual Property

We have pursued registration of our primary trademarks and service marks in the United States. Leap is a
U.S. registered trademark and the Leap logo is a trademark of Leap. Cricket, Cricket with Stylized K, Cricket
Wireless with Stylized K, Cricket Clicks, Color Green Trade Dress, Muve, Muve Music, Muve First, Muve Headliner,
MyPerks, Flex Bucket, Real Unlimited Unreal Savings and the Cricket "K" are U.S. registered trademarks of Cricket.
In addition, the following are trademarks or service marks of Cricket: BridgePay, Cricket By Week, Cricket Choice,
Cricket Connect, Cricket Nation, Cricket PAYGo, Muve Money, Cricket Crosswave, Seek Music, Cricket MyPerks
and Cricket Wireless Internet Service. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

We also have several patents and have several patent applications pending in the United States relating to
telecommunications and related services. However, our business is not substantially dependent upon any of our
patents or patent applications. We believe that our technical expertise, network technology, operational efficiency,
cost structure and ability to introduce new products in a timely manner are more critical to maintaining our
competitive position in the future.

Availability of Public Reports
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As soon as is reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, our proxy statements, Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports, are available free of charge at www.leapwireless.com.
They are also available free of charge on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. In addition, any materials filed with the
SEC may be read and copied by the public at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC
20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330. The information on our website is not part of this report or any other report that we furnish to or file
with the SEC.
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Financial Information Concerning Segments and Geographical Information

Financial information concerning our operating segment and the geographic area in which we operate is included in
"Part II - Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this report.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had 2,984 employees.

Seasonality

Our customer activity is influenced by seasonal effects related to traditional retail selling periods and other factors that
arise in connection with our target customer base. Based on historical results, we generally expect new sales activity
to be highest in the first and fourth quarters, although during 2012 we experienced our lowest customer activity during
the fourth quarter due, in part, to handset price increases that we introduced in the third quarter. Based on historical
results, we also generally expect churn to be highest in the third quarter and lowest in the first quarter. Sales activity
and churn, however, can be strongly affected by other factors, including changes in the competitive landscape, service
plan pricing, device availability, economic conditions, and high unemployment (particularly in the lower-income
segment of our customer base), any of which may either offset or magnify certain seasonal effects. Customer activity
can also be strongly affected by promotional and retention efforts that we undertake. For example, from time to time,
we lower the price on select smartphones for customers who activate a new line of service and then transfer phone
numbers previously used with other carriers. This type of promotion is intended to drive significant, new customer
activity for our smartphone handsets and their accompanying higher-priced service plans. We also frequently offer
existing customers the opportunity to activate an additional line of voice service on a previously activated Cricket
device not currently in service. Customers accepting this offer receive a free first month of service on the additional
line of service after paying an activation fee. We also utilize retention programs to encourage existing customers
whose service may have been suspended for failure to timely pay to continue service with us for a reduced or free
amount for a limited period of time. In addition, during holiday and other key selling periods, we may also increase
device subsidies to try to generate additional sales volume. The design, size and duration of our promotional and
retention programs vary over time in response to changing market conditions. We believe that our promotional and
retention efforts, including those efforts described above, have generally provided and continue to provide important
long-term benefits to us, including by helping us attract new customers for our wireless services or by extending the
period of time over which customers use our services, thus allowing us to obtain additional revenue from handsets we
have already sold. The success of any of these activities depends upon many factors, including the costs that we incur
to attract or retain customers and the length of time these customers continue to use our services. Sales activity that
would otherwise have been expected based on seasonal trends can also be negatively impacted by factors we have
experienced in the past such as billing system disruptions, promotional and retention efforts not performing as
expected, device quality issues, and inventory shortages.

Inflation

We believe inflation has not had a material effect on our results of operations.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks Related to the Merger

Failure to Consummate the Merger, or a Delay in Consummating the Merger, Could Negatively Impact the Market
Price of Leap Common Stock and Could Have a Material Adverse Effect on Our Business, Financial Condition and
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Results of Operations.

Consummation of the Merger is subject to various customary conditions, including, among others, the expiration of
the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended; approval
of the transaction by the FCC; and approval of the transaction by applicable state public utility commissions. The
parties have agreed to use their respective reasonable best efforts to obtain all necessary regulatory approvals for the
Merger, provided that AT&T will not be obligated to agree to divestitures or other restrictions that would have any
effect on AT&T or to divestitures or other restrictions that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect on Leap and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole. It is a condition to AT&T's obligation to consummate the Merger
that the FCC approval has been obtained by final order and that other regulatory approvals have been obtained, in
each case without the imposition of an adverse regulatory condition.
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If the Merger is not consummated, our ongoing business, financial condition and results of operations may be
materially adversely affected and the market price of Leap common stock may decline significantly, particularly to the
extent that the current market price reflects a market assumption that the Merger will be consummated. The evolving
competitive landscape has negatively impacted our financial and operating results in recent quarters, as evidenced by a
26.5% reduction in the total number of our customers between March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013, which
resulted in significant declines in our service revenues and cash generated from operations. Our ability to remain
competitive will depend, in part, on our ability to anticipate and respond to various competitive factors, to provide
LTE-based services and meet increasing customer demand for high data throughput speeds, and to keep our costs low.
If the Merger is not completed as expected, and if we are unable to successfully respond to the competitive
environment and we continue to lose customers at our current pace, we project that we will need to generate additional
capital resources by mid-2015. Under such circumstances, we expect that we would be required to take actions to
increase our liquidity, such as significantly reducing operating activities and associated operating expenses,
significantly delaying or reducing capital expenditures, selling assets, including spectrum not currently utilized in our
business operations or other business assets, or pursuing capital or credit markets activities. However, there can be no
assurances that we would be successful in any such efforts or that any or all of these actions would be sufficient to
allow us to fund our liquidity needs. Furthermore, we currently have limited capacity to incur additional debt under
our senior secured credit agreement, or the Credit Agreement, and the indenture governing Cricket's senior notes, and
we do not forecast having increases in such capacity in the near term or beyond. The evolving competitive landscape
may also result in more competitive pricing, higher costs, lower customer additions and higher customer turnover than
we project, any of which results or actions could materially adversely impact our capital requirements and require that
we generate additional capital resources sooner than we currently project. As a result, failure to consummate the
Merger, or any significant delay in consummating the Merger, including by a delay in receipt of necessary
governmental approvals, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We Are Subject to Various Uncertainties and Contractual Restrictions While the Merger Is Pending That Could
Disrupt the Conduct of Our Business and Could Have a Material Adverse Effect on Our Business, Financial Condition
and Results of Operations.

Uncertainty about the effect of the Merger on employees, customers, suppliers, vendors, distributors, dealers, retailers
and content and application providers may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. These uncertainties may impair our ability to attract, retain and motivate key personnel,
distributors, dealers and retailers pending the consummation of the Merger, as such personnel, distributors, dealers and
retailers may experience uncertainty about their future roles following the consummation of the Merger. Additionally,
these uncertainties could cause customers, suppliers, vendors, distributors, dealers, retailers, content and application
providers and others who deal with us to seek to change existing business relationships with us or fail to extend an
existing relationship with us. In addition, competitors may target our existing customers by highlighting potential
uncertainties and integration difficulties that may result from the Merger.

We have a small number of key personnel. The pursuit of the Merger and the preparation for the integration may place
a burden on management and internal resources. Any significant diversion of management attention away from
ongoing business concerns and any difficulties encountered in the transition and integration process could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, the Merger Agreement restricts us from taking certain actions without AT&T's consent while the Merger
is pending. These restrictions may, among other matters, prevent us from pursuing otherwise attractive business
opportunities, selling assets, including spectrum not currently utilized in our business operations or other business
assets, incurring indebtedness, engaging in significant capital expenditures in excess of our capital budget, entering
into other transactions or making other changes to our business prior to consummation of the Merger or termination of
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the Merger Agreement. These restrictions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The Consideration to be Paid in the Merger is Fixed and Will Not Be Adjusted for Changes in Our Business, Assets,
Liabilities, Prospects, Outlook, Financial Condition or Results of Operations, or in the Event of any Change in Our
Stock Price. The Value of the CVRs May Depend on the Resolution of Interference and Interoperability Issues and the
Sale of Our Chicago Spectrum, and We Make No Assurance as to the Value, if Any, That May Be Realized from the
CVRs.

The Merger Consideration is fixed in the Merger Agreement and will not be adjusted for changes in our business,
assets, liabilities, prospects, outlook, financial condition or results of operations, or changes in the market price of,
analyst estimates of, or projections relating to, Leap common stock. For example, if we experienced an improvement
in our business, assets, liabilities,
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prospects, outlook, financial condition or results of operations prior to the consummation of the Merger, there would
be no adjustment to the amount of the Merger Consideration.

The amount of cash, if any, realized with respect to the CVR portion of the Merger Consideration and the timing of
any payments made to Leap stockholders with respect to CVRs may be dependent on our ability and the ability of the
stockholder representative to resolve interference and interoperability issues with respect to our 700 MHz License in
Chicago and effect a sale of the license. There is no guarantee that any such interference or interoperability issues can
be resolved or that any such sale will be effected at a value sufficient to generate a payment to CVR holders, or at all,
and accordingly, Leap stockholders may not realize any proceeds from the CVR portion of the Merger Consideration.

Our 700 MHz License in Chicago Is Subject to Interference and Interoperability Issues, Which Could Delay or
Impede the Realization of Value of the CVRs for Leap Stockholders or, if the Merger Is Not Consummated, Our
Ability to Expand Our Service Capacity in the Chicago Market.

Our 700 MHz License was purchased from Verizon Wireless for $204 million in August 2012. The wireless spectrum
covered by the 700 MHz License was previously occupied by television broadcast stations but was made available by
the FCC for commercial and public safety services as a result of the DTV transition. The 700 MHz License was
granted for a ten-year term expiring on June 13, 2019. Until recently, as a condition of obtaining the license, 700 MHz
A block licensees were required to provide signal coverage and offer service to (1) at least 35% of the geographic area
of the license within four years of the initial license grant, and (2) at least 70% of the geographic area of the license at
the end of the license term. The licensee was also required to file construction notifications, all necessary supporting
documentation and required certifications with the FCC to demonstrate compliance with these interim and
end-of-term construction benchmarks. Any licensee that failed to meet the interim requirement within its license area
would have its license term reduced from ten to eight years, thus requiring the licensee to meet the end-of-term
benchmark at an accelerated schedule. Licensees that did not meet the interim construction benchmarks could also be
subject to monetary forfeitures and the loss of authority to operate in part of the unserved area. For those licenses for
which the end-of-term performance requirements had not been met, the unused portion of the license would terminate
automatically without FCC action and would become available for reassignment, subject to the "keep-what-you-use"
rule.

We have been engaged in the first stages of development of the 700 MHz License. In connection with the
development and operation of the license, we must coordinate with adjacent spectrum licensees to minimize
interference from and into our mobile wireless service. One of the adjacent licensees in the lower 700 MHz E block,
an affiliate of Dish Network, had been authorized to operate on its license at higher power levels than other lower 700
MHz licensees such as Leap that operate on different frequency blocks. In a recently issued FCC order, which we
refer to as the 700 MHz Interoperability Order, the FCC altered the technical parameters of lower 700 MHz E block
licenses, including lowering authorized E block licensee power levels. We and Dish Network have begun preliminary
coordination efforts, and our preliminary analysis indicates that we should be able to coexist with E block operations
that are consistent with the lower power levels in the 700 MHz Interoperability Order. However, once we or any
subsequent purchaser of the 700 MHz License were to determine the parameters of our or its actual operations in the
vicinity of Dish Network’s transmitter, we or such subsequent purchaser would need to coordinate such operations
with Dish Network, and there can be no assurance that we or such purchaser would be successful in doing so.

We must also coordinate with the incumbent broadcaster on DTV Channel 51 to reduce possible signal interference in
order to commence operations using the 700 MHz License. Based upon third-party technical and statistical analyses
we have commissioned, we do not believe there is any harmful interference between the 700 MHz License and DTV
Channel 51 operations and have sought the concurrence of the incumbent broadcaster on DTV Channel 51. Because
the incumbent broadcaster has not concurred with our determination to date, we have also filed a petition with the
FCC seeking relief from the agency's DTV interference protection requirements. That petition has been vigorously
opposed by the incumbent Channel 51 broadcaster, as well as by the broadcast trade association. The opponents have
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argued that we have not met the standard for a waiver of the FCC’s DTV protection criteria. The incumbent
broadcaster has also argued that wireless operations using the 700 MHz License will cause severe interference with
Channel 51 operations and has submitted its own technical analysis that contradicts the third-party reports we
commissioned.

It is also possible that any purported interference of the 700 MHz License operations with DTV Channel 51 operations
could be eliminated by the future broadcast incentive spectrum auction that is currently expected to take place in 2015
or later, which may result in the movement of DTV Channel 51 to another spectrum band or other regulatory actions.
For example, the FCC could revise its rules relating to interference between wireless operations and over-the-air
broadcast service in ways that could facilitate usage of the 700 MHz License, including in connection with its current
rulemaking proceeding for the future broadcast incentive
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spectrum auction. However, there can be no assurance that the FCC will grant relief on the terms we seek or at all, that
any purported interference will be eliminated by the broadcast incentive spectrum auction or that any other regulatory
action will be taken that will mitigate the purported interference or produce a more favorable operating environment
for wireless carrier operations.

If we (or following the closing of the Merger, the stockholders' representative) are not able to resolve interference
issues affecting the license, including by coordinating with adjacent licensees, obtaining the concurrence of the
broadcaster on DTV Channel 51 or regulatory action (including receiving a waiver from the FCC, the interference
being eliminated as a result of the future broadcast incentive spectrum auction or other actions), the value of the 700
MHz License and the CVR could be materially and adversely affected and could be zero. In addition, the initiation of
the broadcast incentive spectrum auction could cause carriers that participate in that auction to be subject to
anti-collusion rules that historically have significantly constrained the ability of such carriers, during the pendency of
the auction process, to participate in other discussions regarding acquiring aftermarket spectrum, like the 700 MHz
License. Depending on the timing of the broadcast incentive spectrum auction, these anti-collusion rules could
significantly constrain, for a period of time, the pool of possible purchasers of the 700 MHz License, which could
materially and adversely affect the amount of proceeds realized on any sale of the 700 MHz License and thus the
value of the CVR.

The 700 MHz License also faces certain interoperability constraints. As an "A block" spectrum license, the 700 MHz
License authorizes operations on frequency "Band Class 12," which is a band not widely used by other wireless
communications carriers due, in part, to the DTV interference mentioned above. Since wireless handsets must be
manufactured to operate on particular spectrum bands, this results in fewer handsets being manufactured for Band
Class 12, making it more difficult for holders of A block licenses such as the 700 MHz License to achieve economies
of scale when purchasing handsets.

In addition, the ability to roam with a Band Class 12 handset is limited due to the limited use of Band Class 12
spectrum by wireless communications carriers. As a result, Band Class 12 handsets must contain additional hardware
in order to roam on additional bands. This additional hardware typically adds size and cost to the handsets, making
them less desirable for customers.

In the 700 MHz Interoperability Order, the FCC adopted an industry compromise under which AT&T has agreed to
take certain actions to promote device interoperability within the 700 MHz band, subject to certain conditions. These
actions include AT&T’s agreeing to deploy Multi-Frequency Band Indicator, or MFBI, capabilities into its network by
September 30, 2015, subject to an extension or waiver process. By that same date, under the compromise AT&T will
begin a phased roll-out of devices capable of supporting Band Class 12 and will provide LTE roaming to carriers with
compatible Band Class 12 devices, consistent with the FCC’s rules on roaming. In conjunction with the actions to be
taken by AT&T, as discussed above, Dish Network has agreed to operate in accordance with lower power limits on its
lower 700 MHz E block licenses.

As discussed above, the 700 MHz License was originally subject to an interim construction deadline. The 700 MHz
Interoperability Order generally extended the interim construction requirement for lower 700 MHz A and B block
licensees until December 13, 2016 (three years from the current deadline) and eliminated the interim construction
requirement entirely for lower 700 MHz A block licensees that warrant relief from Channel 51 operations. The final
construction deadline of June 13, 2019 remains in effect. However, there can be no assurances that the interference
and interoperability issues affecting the 700 MHz License will be suitably resolved or that the 700 MHz License
ultimately will be sold for a value sufficient to generate a payment to CVR holders, or at all.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We Have Experienced Net Losses, and We May Not Be Profitable in the Future.
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We experienced a net loss of $603.5 million, $187.3 million and $317.7 million for the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. We may not generate profits in the future on a consistent basis or at all. Our
strategic objectives depend on our ability to successfully and cost-effectively operate our markets, on our ability to
forecast and respond appropriately to changes in the competitive and economic environment, on the successful
enhancement of our distribution channels, and on customer acceptance of our Cricket product and service offerings. If
we fail to attract and retain additional customers for our Cricket products and services and fail to achieve consistent
profitability in the future, that failure could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.
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Our Strategic Plans Require that We Retain and Grow Our Current Customer Base; Our Failure to Do So Negatively
Affects Our Business Plans and Financial Outlook.

We experienced a 26.5% reduction in the total number of our customers between March 31, 2012 and December 31,
2013. In addition, our growth has varied substantially in the past. We believe that the recent customer losses and the
uneven growth we have experienced generally reflect increased and intensified competition in the wireless
telecommunications market, increasing customer demand for the high data throughput speeds available on 4G LTE
networks, promotional activity, seasonal trends in customer activity and varying national economic conditions. Our
ability to retain and grow our customer base and to achieve increased customer penetration levels in our markets is
subject to a number of risks, including, among other things: increased competition; challenges in managing or
increasing our network capacity or service offerings to meet increasing customer demand; the LTE technology
deployment alternatives available to us; the defection of third-party dealers and distributors to competitors;
promotional or retention activities that do not perform as expected; device quality, availability and selection issues;
inventory shortages; device pricing; unfavorable economic conditions (which may have a disproportionate negative
impact on portions of our customer base); our inability to successfully enhance our distribution channels; billing or
other system or service disruptions; adverse changes in the legislative and regulatory environment; and other factors
that may limit our ability to grow our customer base. Our strategic plans depend heavily upon the efforts of our
authorized dealers, distributors and national retail partners, which together constitute the significant majority of our
sales and distribution presence. If we are unable to offer customers compelling products and services, we could lose
distribution partners. If we continue to lose customers or are unable to attract and retain a growing customer base, that
failure could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Operation of Our Business Requires a Significant Amount of Cash. Our Ability to Generate Cash Depends on
Many Factors Beyond Our Control.

Our business requires that we generate a significant amount of cash flow from operations to fund ongoing liquidity
requirements, including payments on our indebtedness. Our ability to generate cash flow from operations is subject to
our operational performance and to general competitive, economic, financial, legislative, regulatory and other factors
that are beyond our control. Our service revenues have significantly declined in recent quarters, primarily due to our
net customer losses. We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fund
our ongoing liquidity needs. If cash flow from operations is insufficient, we may be required to take actions, such as
significantly reducing operating activities and associated operating expenses, significantly delaying or reducing capital
expenditures, selling assets, including spectrum not currently utilized in our business operations or other business
assets, or pursuing capital or credit markets activities. However, there can be no assurances that we would be
successful in any such efforts or that any or all of these actions would be sufficient to allow us to fund our liquidity
needs. In addition, our ability to undertake these actions may be restricted by the terms of the Merger Agreement
unless consented to by AT&T. Furthermore, we currently have limited capacity to incur additional debt under our
Credit Agreement and the indenture governing Cricket's senior notes, and we do not forecast having increases in such
capacity in the near term or beyond.

We Face Significant Competition, Which Could Have a Material Adverse Effect on Demand for Cricket Service.

The wireless telecommunications industry is very competitive. In general, we compete with national facilities-based
wireless providers and their prepaid affiliates or brands, local and regional carriers, non-facilities-based MVNOs,
VoIP service providers, traditional landline service providers, cable companies and mobile satellite service providers.
In addition, we may face additional competition from new entrants in the wireless marketplace. Competition in the
wireless industry has increased and intensified in recent quarters, particularly from carriers and their affiliated brands
with robust nationwide networks and significantly greater deployment of 4G LTE technology.
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Many of our competitors have greater advantages of scale, larger spectrum holdings, larger network footprints, access
to greater amounts of capital, greater technical, sales, marketing and distribution resources, greater name and brand
recognition and established relationships with a larger base of current and potential customers. Many of our
competitors also offer LTE services over a significantly larger geographic area than we do, enabling them to better
meet increasing customer demand for higher data throughput speeds to support mobile applications and mobile
broadband use. These advantages may allow our competitors to provide service offerings with more extensive features
and options than those we currently provide; to offer the latest and most popular devices through exclusive vendor
arrangements; to offer lower out-the-door pricing for smartphone devices by offering greater device subsidies than we
do; to market to broader customer segments and offer service over larger geographic areas than we can; to offer
bundled service offerings that include landline phone, television and internet services that we are not able to duplicate;
to better attract and retain third-party dealers and distributors; and to purchase equipment, supplies, devices and
services at lower prices than we can. As device selection and pricing become increasingly important to customers, any
restriction on our ability to offer
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customers the latest and most popular devices as a result of exclusive dealings between device manufacturers and our
larger competitors could put us at a significant competitive disadvantage and make it more difficult for us to attract
and retain customers. We also anticipate that demand for CDMA-AWS handsets will decrease in the future and, as a
result, that the selection of such handsets will diminish and prices will increase. In addition, further industry
consolidation may result in vendors and suppliers devoting an increasing percentage of their time and resources to
assisting larger wireless companies or terminating relationships with us. In addition, some of our competitors are able
to offer their customers roaming services at lower rates. As consolidation in the industry creates even larger
competitors, advantages that our competitors may have, as well as their bargaining power as wholesale providers of
roaming services, may increase. For example, in connection with the offering of our nationwide voice and data
roaming services, we have encountered problems with certain large wireless carriers in negotiating terms for roaming
arrangements that we believe are reasonable, and we believe that consolidation has contributed significantly to some
carriers' control over the terms and conditions of wholesale roaming services.

These competitive pressures have continued to increase and intensify with recent market consolidation and other
strategic transactions, including Verizon Wireless' acquisition of significant amounts of spectrum from SpectrumCo in
August 2012, the combination of T-Mobile and MetroPCS in April 2013 and Softbank's acquisition of an
approximately 70% ownership position in Sprint in July 2013. In particular, we have been experiencing increased
competition in many of our core Cricket markets from nationwide carriers increasingly targeting the prepaid segment,
including from T-Mobile's nationwide expansion of the MetroPCS prepaid brand utilizing the T-Mobile 4G LTE
network.

The competitive pressures of the wireless telecommunications industry and the attractive growth prospects in the
prepaid segment have caused a number of our competitors (including AT&T, Verizon Wireless, Sprint and T-Mobile)
to offer competitively-priced unlimited prepaid and postpaid service offerings. In addition, a number of carriers have
begun to offer bundled service offerings comprised of unlimited voice service and fixed amounts of data that
customers can share across all of their wireless devices. We also face additional competition in the prepaid segment
from Lifeline service offerings, which are available to consumers at reduced costs (and in some cases at no cost)
because carriers offering this service receive a subsidy payment from the federal universal service fund, or USF,
program. These Lifeline service offerings are also being provided by new MVNO providers who are utilizing other
carriers' networks.

In addition to our voice offerings, many companies offer other products and services that compete with those we offer.
For example, there are numerous music services that compete with our Muve Music service, including the iTunes
service offered by Apple, and various streaming services offered by Rhapsody, Pandora, Spotify, Beats Music and
others. These various service offerings have presented, and are expected to continue to present, strong competition in
markets in which our offerings overlap.

The evolving competitive landscape has negatively impacted our financial and operating results in recent years, as
evidenced by a 26.5% reduction in the total number of our customers between March 31, 2012 and December 31,
2013. Our ability to remain competitive will depend, in part, on our ability to anticipate and respond to various
competitive factors, to provide LTE-based services and meet increasing customer demand for high data throughput
speeds, and to keep our costs low. Our competitiveness will also depend on our continued efforts to enhance the
productivity of our distribution channels, continued customer acceptance of our product and service offerings and our
ability to retain and expand our customer base. The evolving competitive landscape may result in more competitive
pricing, higher costs, lower customer additions and higher customer turnover than we project. Any of these results or
actions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Wireless Industry Is Experiencing Rapid Technological Change; Many of Our Facilities-Based Competitors Have
Deployed Next-Generation LTE Technology Across a Substantial Portion of Their Network Footprint.
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The wireless communications industry continues to experience significant technological change, as evidenced by the
ongoing improvements in the capacity and quality of digital technology, the development and commercial acceptance
of wireless data services, shorter development cycles for new products, and enhancements and changes in end-user
requirements and preferences. Our continued success will depend, in part, on our ability to anticipate and adapt to
technological changes and to offer, on a timely basis, services that meet customer demands.

Many of our facilities-based competitors have deployed next-generation LTE network technology across a substantial
portion of their network footprint and have the spectrum depth to be able to provide faster data throughput speeds on
their LTE networks than we can. If we are unable to offer our customers cost-effective LTE services to meet
increasing customer demand for higher data throughput speeds to support mobile applications and mobile broadband
use, such failure would have a material adverse effect on our competitive position and our business, financial
condition and results of operations. In addition, the pace and scope at which
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we offer LTE services could impact us in a number of ways. If we are unable to offer customers LTE services to the
extent provided by other wireless carriers, we may have difficulty attracting and retaining customers for our wireless
products and services, providing customers with attractive handset offerings and procuring cost-effective vendor
support for our network infrastructure.

Deployment of LTE through facilities-based coverage requires significant capital investment. To date, we have
covered approximately 21 million POPs in our network footprint with LTE technology. However, given the
significant decrease in the size of our customer base in recent quarters, our high level of indebtedness and the high
cost of LTE deployment, we have generally determined not to deploy LTE network technology in additional markets
at this time.

If we decide to pursue further facilities-based coverage in the future, we expect that we would likely be required over
time to acquire or access additional spectrum or take other actions to enable us to provide LTE at service levels that
would meet future customer expectations. We currently own an average of 23 MHz of spectrum capacity in the
markets we operate, which generally includes an initial spectrum reserve that we could use to deploy LTE network
technology. The national wireless carriers against which we compete generally have greater spectrum capacity than
we do in the markets in which we would launch LTE. Because the efficiency of an LTE network and the peak speeds
that it can deliver depend upon the amount of contiguous spectrum that is available, competitors who have access to
more spectrum than we do are likely to offer faster speeds for their next-generation services and operate those
networks more efficiently than we could. As a result, we may be required to take various actions to meet consumer
demand, including acquiring additional spectrum, entering into third-party wholesale or roaming arrangements,
leasing additional cell sites, spending additional capital to deploy equipment or other actions. We cannot assure you
that we would be able to take any of these actions at reasonable costs, on a timely basis or at all.

We recently entered into a nationwide roaming agreement for LTE services. In addition, we amended our wholesale
agreement to enable us to purchase LTE services. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to maintain or renew these
arrangements or enter into additional agreements on a cost-effective basis. There are also risks that other wireless
carriers on whose networks our customers roam may change their technology to other technologies or pursue
standards that are incompatible with ours. If these risks materialize, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected.

In June 2013, T-Mobile announced that the migration of legacy MetroPCS customers onto its HSPA+ and LTE
network was ahead of schedule and that T-Mobile expected to complete migration by the end of 2015. The shutdown
of the legacy MetroPCS CDMA network is likely to result in Leap being the sole U.S. carrier operating a CDMA
network on AWS frequencies. As a result, we anticipate that demand for CDMA-AWS handsets will decrease in the
future and, as a result, that the selection of such handsets will diminish and prices will increase. There can be no
assurance that we will continue to be able to cost-effectively procure AWS-compatible devices in the future.

We cannot predict which of the many possible future technologies, standards, products or services will be important to
maintain our competitive position. The evolutionary path that we may select may not be demanded by customers or
provide the advantages that we expect. If such services are not broadly adopted within the industry or commercially
accepted by our customers, our revenues and competitive position could be materially and adversely affected. In
addition, the cost of implementing or competing against alternative or future technological innovations may be
prohibitive to us, and we may lose customers if we fail to keep up with these changes.

General Economic Conditions May Adversely Affect Our Business, Financial Performance or Ability to Obtain
Financing on Reasonable Terms or at All.

Our business and financial performance are sensitive to changes in general economic conditions, including changes in
interest rates, consumer credit conditions, consumer debt levels, consumer confidence, rates of inflation (or concerns
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about deflation), unemployment rates, energy costs and other macro-economic factors. Market and economic
conditions have been unprecedented and challenging in recent years. Continued concerns about the systemic impact of
a long-term downturn, high unemployment, high energy costs, the availability and cost of credit and unstable housing
and mortgage markets have contributed to increased market volatility and economic uncertainty. These factors have
led to a decrease in spending in recent years by businesses and consumers alike.

Continued market turbulence and weak economic conditions may materially adversely affect our business and
financial performance in a number of ways. Because we do not require customers to sign fixed-term contracts or pass
a credit check, our service is available to a broad customer base and may be attractive to a market segment that is
more vulnerable to weak economic conditions. As a result, during general economic downturns, we may have greater
difficulty in gaining new customers within this
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base for our services and existing customers may be more likely to terminate service due to an inability to pay. For
example, high unemployment levels have historically impacted our customer base, especially the lower-income
segment of our customer base, by decreasing their discretionary income and affecting their ability to maintain service.
Continued weak economic conditions and tight credit conditions may also adversely impact our vendors and dealers,
some of which have filed for or may be considering bankruptcy, or may experience cash flow or liquidity problems,
any of which could adversely impact our ability to distribute, market or sell our products and services. Sustained
difficult, or worsening, general economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

In addition, U.S. credit markets have in recent years experienced significant dislocations and liquidity disruptions.
Because our $1,813.9 million in aggregate principal amount of outstanding borrowings under our Credit Agreement
bears interest at a floating rate, significant adverse changes and trends in interest rates could materially impact our
borrowing costs. In addition, uncertainty in the capital markets could negatively impact our ability to access additional
debt financing or to refinance existing indebtedness in the future on favorable terms or at all. General economic
conditions, combined with intensified competition in the wireless telecommunications industry and other factors, have
also adversely affected the trading prices of equity securities of many U.S. companies, including Leap, which could
significantly limit our ability to raise additional capital through the issuance of common stock, preferred stock or other
equity securities. Any of these risks could impair our ability to fund our operations or limit our ability to expand our
business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We Have Entered into Agreements with Significant Purchase Commitments and Cannot Guarantee that We Will Meet
These Commitments or Realize the Expected Benefits from These Agreements.

iPhone Purchase Commitment
In May 2012, we entered into a three-year iPhone purchase commitment with Apple. The commitment began upon our
launch of sales of the iPhone in June 2012. Based on our current handset purchase and sales mix and current iPhone
device pricing, we estimate that the commitment would require us to purchase approximately $800 million of iPhones,
with annual commitments during the three-year period that increase moderately in the second and third years.
We purchased approximately one-half of our first-year minimum purchase commitment through June 2013, which
purchases were approximately $100 million below our first-year minimum purchase commitment. Due to our efforts
to expand sales volume for the iPhone, we have not been required to purchase additional handsets to meet our
first-year minimum purchase commitment. Based on our current network footprint and product offerings, we currently
estimate that our iPhone purchases for the second year would be approximately $200 million below our second-year
minimum purchase commitment and our purchases for the third year would be approximately $300 million below our
third-year minimum purchase commitment. We believe that we would be able to increase our current iPhone sales rate
and purchase and sell the total required number of devices over the three-year period of the commitment and for a
subsequent inventory sell-through period of 12 to 18 months. The actual amount that we spend and the number of
devices that we purchase over the term of the commitment will depend on many factors, including customer
acceptance and availability of current and future versions of the device, future costs for the device, the success of our
marketing and advertising efforts, customer demand for devices offered by other manufacturers and other factors. If
our proposed Merger with AT&T is not completed as expected, and we were required to meet the annual minimum
commitment in any year of the contract term and we were unable to sell such additional devices at the rates and prices
we project, such shortfall could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
Wholesale Agreement

In August 2010, we entered into a wholesale agreement with an affiliate of Sprint, which we use to offer Cricket
services in nationwide retailers outside of our current network footprint. We have agreed, among other things, to
purchase a minimum of $300 million of wholesale services over the initial five-year term of the agreement, with the
following annual minimum purchase commitments: $20 million in 2011; $75 million in 2012; $80 million in 2013;

Edgar Filing: LEAP WIRELESS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10-K

48



$75 million in 2014; and $50 million in 2015. We entered into an amendment to the wholesale agreement in February
2013 to enable us to purchase 4G LTE services. In addition, under the amendment, we can credit up to $162 million of
revenue we provide Sprint under other existing commercial arrangements against the minimum purchase commitment.
Any wholesale revenue we provide to Sprint in a given year above the minimum purchase commitment for that
particular year is credited to the next succeeding year. However, to the extent the revenues we provide Sprint were to
fall beneath the applicable commitment amount for any given year, excess revenues from a subsequent year could not
be carried back to offset such shortfall.
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Other Agreements
In recent years we have entered into other agreements with significant purchase commitments, including agreements
with music content providers, which required us to purchase certain minimum amounts of content for our Muve Music
service. We may enter into additional agreements with vendors with significant purchase commitments in the future to
enable us to offer enhanced products and services or to obtain more favorable overall purchasing terms and conditions.

There are numerous risks and uncertainties that could impact our ability to realize the expected benefits from these
arrangements or any new ones we may enter into. We cannot guarantee that customers will accept our products and
service offerings at the levels we expect, that prices will not decline to levels below what we have negotiated to pay or
that we will be able to satisfy any purchase commitments. Since introducing our products in nationwide retailers in
September 2011, our MVNO offering has fallen short of expectations. As a result, we significantly reduced the
number of locations in which we offer our products in the nationwide retail channel from approximately 13,000
locations at June 30, 2012 to approximately 5,100 locations at December 31, 2013, which may impact our sales
volumes and therefore the amount of services we may purchase under the wholesale agreement. Furthermore, we
cannot guarantee that we will be able to renew these agreements or any future agreement on terms that will be
acceptable to us. If we are unable to attract new wireless customers and sell our products and services at the levels we
expect, our ability to derive benefits from these agreements or any future agreement we enter into could be limited,
which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our Significant Indebtedness Could Adversely Affect Our Financial Health and Prevent Us from Fulfilling Our
Obligations. We May Be Unable to Refinance Our Indebtedness Prior to Maturity.

We have now and will continue to have a significant amount of indebtedness. As of December 31, 2013, our total
outstanding principal amount of indebtedness was $3,662.1 million, including $1,813.9 million in aggregate principal
amount of outstanding borrowings under our Credit Agreement, $248.2 million in aggregate principal amount of
4.50% convertible senior notes due 2014 and $1,600.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.75% senior notes
due 2020.

Our significant indebtedness could have material consequences. For example, it could:

•make it more difficult for us to service or refinance our debt obligations;

•increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

•impair our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital needs, capital expenditures, networkbuild-out and other activities, including acquisitions and general corporate purposes;

•
require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to the payment of principal and
interest on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of our cash flows to fund working capital needs,
capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;

•limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate; and

•place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less indebtedness.

Any of these risks could impact our ability to fund our operations or limit our ability to expand our business, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, any
significant capital expenditures or increased operating expenses associated with the launch of new product or service
offerings or other business investment initiatives will decrease OIBDA and free cash flow for the periods in which we
incur such costs, increasing the risk that we may not be able to service our indebtedness.
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In addition, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to repay or refinance all or any portion of our indebtedness prior
to its maturity. If we are unable to repay or refinance our indebtedness as planned, we will likely be required to take
additional actions to generate liquidity such as significantly reducing operating activities and associated operating
expenses, significantly delaying or reducing capital expenditures, selling assets, including spectrum not currently
utilized in our business operations or other business assets, or pursuing credit or capital markets activities. There can
be no assurance, however, that we will be able to obtain sufficient funds to enable us to repay or refinance any of our
indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
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Despite Current Indebtedness Levels, We May Incur Additional Indebtedness, Which Could Further Increase the
Risks Associated with Our Leverage.

The terms of our Credit Agreement, and the indenture governing Cricket's senior notes permit us, subject to specified
limitations, to incur additional indebtedness, including secured indebtedness. The indenture governing Leap's
convertible senior notes does not limit our ability to incur debt.

We currently have limited capacity to incur additional debt under our Credit Agreement and the indenture governing
Cricket's senior notes, and we do not forecast having increases in such capacity in the near term or beyond. We may,
however, incur additional indebtedness in the future, as market conditions permit, to enhance our liquidity and to
provide us with additional flexibility to pursue business investment initiatives, which could consist of debt financing
from the public and/or private credit or capital markets. However, our ability to undertake these transactions may be
restricted by the terms of the Merger Agreement unless consented to by AT&T. If new indebtedness is added to our
current levels of indebtedness, the related risks that we now face could intensify. In addition, depending on the timing
and extent of any additional indebtedness that we could incur and our then-current consolidated leverage ratio, such
additional amounts could potentially result in the issuance of adverse credit ratings affecting us and/or our outstanding
indebtedness. Any future adverse credit ratings could make it more difficult or expensive for us to borrow in the future
and could affect the trading prices of our senior notes, our convertible senior notes and our common stock.

Covenants in Our Credit Agreement and Indentures or in Credit Agreements or Indentures That We May Enter into in
the Future May Limit Our Ability to Operate Our Business.

Our Credit Agreement and the indenture governing Cricket's senior notes contain covenants that restrict the ability of
Leap, Cricket and their restricted subsidiaries to make distributions or other payments to our investors or subordinated
creditors unless we satisfy certain financial tests or other criteria. In addition, our Credit Agreement and indenture
include covenants restricting, among other things, the ability of Leap, Cricket and their restricted subsidiaries to:

•incur additional indebtedness;
•create liens or other encumbrances;
•place limitations on distributions from restricted subsidiaries;
•pay dividends, make investments, prepay subordinated indebtedness or make other restricted payments;
•issue or sell capital stock of restricted subsidiaries;
•issue guarantees;
•sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets;
•enter into transactions with affiliates; and
•make acquisitions or merge or consolidate with another entity.

The restrictions in our Credit Agreement and the indenture governing Cricket's senior notes could limit our ability to
make borrowings, obtain debt financing, repurchase stock, refinance or pay principal or interest on our outstanding
indebtedness, complete acquisitions for cash or debt or react to changes in our operating environment. Any credit
agreement or indenture that we may enter into in the future may have similar or more onerous restrictions.

We currently have limited capacity to incur additional debt under our Credit Agreement and the indenture governing
Cricket's senior notes, and we do not forecast having increases in such capacity in the near term or beyond. If our
proposed Merger with AT&T is not completed as expected, and if we are unable to successfully respond to the
competitive environment and we continue to lose customers at our current pace, our limited ability to incur additional
debt as a source of liquidity could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
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Our Credit Agreement also provides for an event of default upon the occurrence of a change of control, which
includes the acquisition of beneficial ownership of 35% or more of Leap's equity securities (except for a transaction
where immediately after such transaction Leap will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of a person of which no person or
group is the beneficial owner of 35% or more of such person's voting stock), a sale of all or substantially all of the
assets of Leap and its restricted subsidiaries and a
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change in a majority of the members of Leap's board of directors that is not approved by the board. In addition, under
the indentures governing our senior notes and convertible senior notes, if certain "change of control" events occur,
each holder of notes may require us to repurchase all of such holder's notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the
principal amount of senior notes, or 100% of the principal amount of convertible senior notes, plus accrued and
unpaid interest. The change in control resulting from the Merger would not constitute a "change of control" under our
Credit Agreement or the indenture governing the notes because immediately after such transaction Leap will be a
wholly-owned subsidiary of a person of which no person or group is the beneficial owner of 35% or more of such
person's voting stock. However, the Merger, if consummated, would trigger the right of holders of Leap's 4.50%
convertible senior notes due 2014 to require Leap to repurchase holders' notes at a repurchase price of 100% of the
principal amount of the notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to the repurchase date.

If we default under our Credit Agreement or any of the indentures governing our senior notes or convertible senior
notes because of a covenant breach or otherwise, all outstanding amounts thereunder could become immediately due
and payable. We cannot assure you that we would be able to obtain a waiver should any default occur. Any
acceleration of amounts due would have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and financial condition, and we
cannot assure you that we would have sufficient funds to repay all of the outstanding amounts under our Credit
Agreement or the indentures governing our senior notes and convertible senior notes.

If Customer Usage of Our Services Exceeds Our Expectations, Our Costs of Providing Service Could Increase, Which
Could Have a Material Adverse Effect on Our Operating Expenses.

Because we offer unlimited voice, data, mobile broadband and music download services for a flat monthly rate, our
customers' average usage of these services per month is significant. We provide these services through our own
Cricket network footprint and through roaming and wholesale agreements that we entered into with other carriers.

If customers exceed expected usage for our voice, data, mobile broadband or music download services, we could face
capacity problems and our costs of providing the services could increase. Although we own less spectrum in many of
our markets than our competitors, we seek to design our network to accommodate our expected high rates of usage for
our services, and we continue to assess and seek to implement technological improvements to increase the efficiency
of our wireless spectrum. We currently manage our network and users of our smartphones and Cricket Broadband
service by limiting throughput speeds if usage exceeds certain thresholds. However, if future wireless use by Cricket
customers increases faster than we anticipate and exceeds the then-available capacity of our network, service quality
may suffer. In addition, our roaming or wholesale costs may be higher than we anticipate. Depending on the extent of
customers' future use of our network and the roaming and wholesale services we provide, we may be forced to raise
the price or alter the service offerings of our wireless or mobile broadband services, further limit data quantities or
speeds, otherwise limit the number of new customers for certain services, acquire additional spectrum and/or incur
substantial additional capital expenditures to enhance network capacity or quality.

We May Be Unable to Obtain or Maintain the Roaming and Wholesale Services We Need From Other Carriers to
Remain Competitive.

Many of our competitors have regional or national networks which enable them to offer automatic roaming services to
their subscribers at a lower cost than we can offer. The networks we operate do not, by themselves, provide national
coverage and we must pay fees to other carriers who provide roaming and wholesale services to us. We currently rely
on roaming agreements with one key carrier for our voice roaming and 3G and 4G data roaming services. We have
also entered into a wholesale agreement, which we use to offer Cricket services in nationwide retailers outside of our
current network footprint, and we amended that agreement to enable us to purchase 4G LTE services. Most of our
roaming agreements cover voice but not data services and some of these agreements may be terminated on relatively
short notice. In addition, we believe that the rates charged to us by some carriers are higher than the rates they charge
to certain other roaming partners.
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The FCC has adopted rules requiring commercial mobile radio service providers to provide automatic roaming for
voice and SMS text messaging services on just, reasonable and non-discriminatory terms. The FCC has also adopted
rules generally requiring carriers to offer data roaming services on commercially reasonable terms. Despite the
adoption of these rules, however, we have encountered problems with certain large wireless carriers in negotiating
terms for roaming arrangements that we believe are reasonable, and we believe that consolidation has contributed
significantly to some carriers' control over the terms and conditions of wholesale roaming services. In addition, these
rules do not provide or mandate any specific mechanism for determining the reasonableness of roaming rates and
require that roaming complaints be resolved on a case-by-case basis, based on a non-exclusive list of factors that can
be taken into account in determining the reasonableness of particular conduct or rates. Furthermore, the
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FCC's data roaming order is subject to a petition for reconsideration at the FCC. In light of the current FCC rules,
orders and proceedings, if we were unexpectedly to lose the benefit of one or more key roaming or wholesale
agreements, we may be unable to obtain similar replacement agreements and as a result may be unable to continue
providing nationwide voice and 3G or 4G data roaming services for our customers or may be unable to provide such
services on a cost-effective basis. Our inability to obtain new or replacement roaming services on a cost-effective
basis may limit our ability to compete effectively for wireless customers, which may increase our churn and decrease
our revenues, which in turn could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We May Be Unable to Acquire Additional Spectrum in the Future at a Reasonable Cost or on a Timely Basis.

We expect that we will need to acquire or access additional spectrum in the future to satisfy increasing demand for
data and mobile broadband services, to maintain an acceptable grade of service and to provide or support new services
or technologies to meet increasing customer demands. We cannot assure you that additional spectrum will become
available at auction or in the after-market at a reasonable cost, or at all. Furthermore, even if it were to become
available, we may not have sufficient capital resources or sufficient capacity under our existing debt instruments to
acquire additional spectrum that we may require to meet customer demands and remain competitive. In addition, the
FCC may impose conditions on the use of new wireless broadband mobile spectrum, such as heightened build-out
requirements or open access requirements, which may make it less attractive or uneconomical for us. If we are unable
to acquire or obtain access to additional spectrum in the future to meet customer demands, such inability may
materially and adversely affect our competitive position and our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We Rely Heavily on Third Parties to Provide Specialized Services; a Failure or Inability by Such Parties to Provide
the Agreed Upon Products or Services Could Materially Adversely Affect Our Business, Results of Operations and
Financial Condition.

We depend heavily on suppliers and contractors with specialized expertise in order for us to efficiently operate our
business. Generally, there are multiple sources for the types of products and services we purchase or use. However, we
currently rely on one key vendor for billing services, a single vendor to support the platform for our Muve Music
service, a single vendor for the operation of our network operations center, a limited number of vendors for voice and
data communications transport services and a limited number of vendors for payment processing services. We have
also entered into an inventory logistics and supply chain outsourcing arrangement with a third party to manage the
planning, purchasing and fulfillment of handsets and other devices. We have also recently entered into outsourcing
agreements to transition various network operations, IT and service desk functions to new vendors.

In the past, our suppliers, contractors and third-party retailers have not always performed at the levels we expect or at
the levels required by their contracts. If key suppliers, contractors, service providers or third-party retailers fail to
comply with their contracts, fail to meet our performance expectations or refuse or are unable to supply or provide
services to us in the future, or if we experience delays, disruptions or service degradation during any transition to a
new outsourcing provider or other vendor, our business could be severely disrupted. In addition, the costs and time
lags that can be associated with transitioning from one supplier or service provider to another could cause further
disruptions if we were required to replace the products or services of one or more major suppliers or service providers
with those from another source, especially if the replacement became necessary on short notice. Any such disruptions
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Associated With Wireless Devices Could Pose Product Liability, Health and Safety Risks That Could Adversely
Affect Our Business.
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We do not manufacture devices or other equipment sold by us and generally rely on our suppliers to provide us with
safe equipment. Our suppliers are required by applicable law to manufacture their devices to meet certain
governmentally imposed safety criteria. However, even if the devices we sell meet the regulatory safety criteria, we
could be held liable with the equipment manufacturers and suppliers for any harm caused by products we sell if such
products are later found to have design or manufacturing defects. We generally seek to enter into indemnification
agreements with the manufacturers who supply us with devices to protect us from direct losses associated with
product liability, but we cannot guarantee that we will be fully protected against all losses associated with a product
that is found to be defective.

Media reports have suggested that the use of wireless handsets may be linked to various health concerns, including
cancer, and may interfere with various electronic medical devices, including hearing aids and pacemakers. Certain
class action lawsuits have been filed in the industry claiming damages for alleged health problems arising from the use
of wireless handsets. We are currently
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a defendant in a matter brought by an individual alleging that one of our wireless handsets caused brain cancer. The
World Health Organization's International Agency for Research of Cancer has also stated that exposure to wireless
handsets may be carcinogenic. In addition, interest groups have requested that the FCC investigate claims that
wireless technologies pose health concerns and cause interference with airbags, anti-lock brakes, hearing aids and
other medical devices. The FCC has indicated that it plans to gather additional data regarding handset emissions and
has opened a proceeding to evaluate whether any changes to radio frequency exposure limits are necessary. The media
has also reported incidents of handset battery malfunction, including reports of batteries that have overheated.

Concerns over possible health and safety risks associated with radio frequency emissions, future determinations that
such risks exist or defective products may discourage the use of wireless handsets, which could decrease demand for
our services, or result in regulatory restrictions or increased requirements on the location and operation of cell sites,
which could increase our operating expenses. If one or more Cricket customers were harmed by a defective product
provided to us by a manufacturer and subsequently sold in connection with our services, our ability to add and
maintain customers for Cricket service could be materially adversely affected by negative public reactions.

There also are some safety risks associated with the use of wireless devices while operating vehicles or equipment.
Concerns over these safety risks and the effect of any legislation, rules or regulations that have been and may be
adopted in response to these risks could limit our ability to sell our wireless service.

System Failures, Security Breaches, Business Disruptions and Unauthorized Use or Interference with Our Network or
Other Systems Could Result in Higher Churn, Reduced Revenue and Increased Costs, and Could Harm Our
Reputation.

Our network and information technology (IT) infrastructure and the infrastructure of our vendors (including systems
supporting service activation, billing, point of sale, inventory management, customer care and financial reporting) are
vulnerable to damage and disruption from technology failures, power surges or outages, system or equipment failures,
natural disasters, fires, human error, hacking and cyber attacks, computer viruses, terrorism, intentional wrongdoing
and similar events. In particular, cyber attacks on companies, including our company, have increased in frequency,
scope and potential harm in recent years. Any such failure, damage or disruption could affect the quality of our
services, cause network service interruptions and result in material remediation costs, litigation, higher churn, reduced
revenue, increased costs and lost market share. Unauthorized access to or use of customer or account information,
including credit card or other personal data, could also result in harm to our customers and legal actions against us,
and could damage our reputation. In addition, earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, fires and other unforeseen natural
disasters or events could materially disrupt our business operations or the provision of Cricket service in one or more
markets. In the past, our operations in certain markets have been adversely affected by hurricanes and related weather
systems. Costs we incur to restore, repair or replace our network or IT infrastructure, as well as costs associated with
detecting, monitoring or reducing the incidence of unauthorized use and other security breaches, may be substantial
and increase our cost of providing service. Any failure in, damage to or disruption of our or our vendors' network and
IT infrastructure could also materially impact our ability to timely and accurately record, process and report
information important to our business. While we maintain insurance coverage for some of the above events, the
potential liabilities associated with these events could exceed the insurance coverage we maintain. If any of the above
events were to occur, we could experience higher churn, reduced revenues, increased costs and reputational harm, any
of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We Have Upgraded a Number of Significant Business Systems, Including Our Customer Billing System, and Any
Unanticipated Difficulties, Delays or Interruptions Could Negatively Impact Our Business.

During recent years, we have upgraded a number of our significant, internal business systems, including implementing
a new customer billing system, a new inventory management system and a new point-of-sale system.
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The implementation of significant new systems often involves delays and disruptions in connection with the transition
to and operation of the new systems. From time to time after the launch of our customer billing system in the second
quarter of 2011, we experienced intermittent disruptions with certain aspects of the system, which limited our ability
to activate new customers and to provide account services to current customers. We believe that these system issues
had the effect of reducing our gross customer additions and increasing churn. Although we believe that we largely
identified and remedied the causes of these disruptions, we still experience intermittent outages with our customer
billing system from time to time and we cannot assure you that we will not experience additional disruptions in the
future. Future significant difficulties in operating our customer billing system or other systems could materially
impact our ability to attract and retain customers or to timely and accurately record, process and report information
that is important to our business. If any of the above events were to occur, we could experience decreased gross
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customer additions, higher churn, reduced revenues and increased costs or could suffer material weaknesses in our
internal control over financial reporting, any of which could harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition or results of operations.

In addition, we cannot guarantee that these systems will improve our business operations, including our ability to
manage and control device inventories. We implemented the inventory management system to assist us with the
planning, purchasing and fulfillment of handsets and other devices. Prior to implementing this system, we experienced
inventory shortages from time to time, most notably with certain of our strongest-selling devices, and these shortages
had the effect of limiting customer activity. There can be no assurance that this system will improve device inventory
management or that we will not experience inventory shortages in the future. Any failure to effectively manage and
control our device inventories could adversely affect our ability to gain new customers and have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We May Not Be Successful in Protecting and Enforcing Our Intellectual Property Rights.

We rely on a combination of patent, service mark, trademark, and trade secret laws and contractual restrictions to
establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which offer only limited protection. We endeavor to enter into
agreements with our employees and contractors and agreements with parties with whom we do business in order to
limit access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. Despite our efforts, the steps we have taken to protect
our intellectual property may not prevent the misappropriation of our proprietary rights. Moreover, others may
independently develop processes and technologies that are competitive to ours. The enforcement of our intellectual
property rights may depend on any legal actions that we undertake against such infringers being successful, but we
cannot be sure that any such actions will be successful, even when our rights have been infringed. We cannot assure
you that our pending, or any future, patent applications will be granted, that any existing or future patents will not be
challenged, invalidated or circumvented, that any existing or future patents will be enforceable, or that the rights
granted under any patent that may issue will provide us with any competitive advantages. In addition, we cannot
assure you that any trademark or service mark registrations will be issued with respect to pending or future
applications or that any registered trademarks or service marks will be enforceable or provide adequate protection of
our brands. Our inability to secure trademark or service mark protection with respect to our brands could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We Use Equipment, Software, Technology and Content in the Operation of Our Business, Which May Subject Us to
Third-Party Infringement Claims.

The technologies used in the telecommunications industry are protected by and subject to a wide array of patents and
other intellectual property rights. As a result, third parties have asserted and may in the future assert infringement
claims against us or our suppliers based on our or their general business operations and the equipment, software,
technology or other content that we or they use or provide. Over the past several years, we have become subject to
increased amounts of litigation, including disputes alleging patent and other intellectual property infringement relating
to the operation of our networks and our sale of handsets and other devices. If plaintiffs in any patent litigation that
may be brought against us were to prevail, we could be required to pay substantial damages or settlement costs, and
we could be required to alter the way we conduct business to avoid future infringement, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, we rely on third-party intellectual property and digital content to provide certain of our wireless services
to customers, including Muve Music, an unlimited music download service we offer that is designed specifically for
mobile handsets. The Muve Music service requires us to license music and other intellectual property rights of third
parties. We cannot guarantee that these licenses will continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms
or at all. Our licensing arrangements with these third parties are generally short-term in nature and do not guarantee
the continuation or renewal of these arrangements on reasonable terms, if at all. Our inability to continue to offer
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customers a wide variety of content at reasonable costs to us could limit the success of our Muve Music service. In
addition, we could become subject to infringement claims and potential liability for damages or royalties related to
music and intellectual property rights of third parties, including as a result of any unauthorized access to the
third-party content we have licensed.

We generally seek to enter into indemnification agreements with the manufacturers, licensors and vendors who
provide us with the equipment, software and technology that we use in our business to help protect us against possible
infringement claims. However, we do not have indemnification arrangements with all of our partners and suppliers. In
addition, to the extent that there is an indemnification arrangement in place, depending on the nature and scope of a
possible claim, we may not be entitled to seek indemnification under the terms of the agreement. We also cannot
guarantee that the financial condition of an indemnifying party
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would be sufficient to protect us against all losses associated with infringement claims or that we would be fully
indemnified against all possible losses associated with a possible claim. In addition, our suppliers may be subject to
infringement claims that could prevent or make it more expensive for them to supply us with the products and services
we require to run our business, which could have the effect of slowing or limiting our ability to introduce products and
services to our customers. Moreover, we may be subject to claims that products, software and services provided by
different vendors, which we combine to offer our services, may infringe the rights of third parties, and we may not
have any indemnification from our vendors for these claims. Whether or not an infringement claim against us or a
supplier is valid or successful, it could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of
operations by diverting management attention, involving us in costly and time-consuming litigation, requiring us to
enter into royalty or licensing agreements (which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all) or requiring us to
redesign our business operations or systems to avoid claims of infringement. In addition, infringement claims against
our suppliers could also require us to purchase products and services at higher prices or from different suppliers and
could adversely affect our business by delaying our ability to offer certain products and services to our customers.

Action by Congress or Government Agencies and Regulatory Requirements May Increase Our Costs of Providing
Service or Require Us to Change Our Services.

The FCC regulates the licensing, construction, modification, operation, ownership, sale and interconnection of
wireless communications systems, as do some state and local regulatory agencies. We cannot assure you that the FCC
or any state or local agencies having jurisdiction over our business will not adopt regulations or take other
enforcement or other actions that would adversely affect our business, impose new costs or require changes in current
or planned operations. In addition, state regulatory agencies are increasingly focused on the quality of service and
support that wireless carriers provide to their customers and several agencies have proposed or enacted new and
potentially burdensome regulations in this area. We also cannot assure you that Congress will not amend the
Communications Act, from which the FCC obtains its authority, or enact other legislation in a manner that could be
adverse to us.

Under existing law, no more than 20% of an FCC licensee's capital stock may be owned, directly or indirectly, or
voted by non-U.S. citizens or their representatives, by a foreign government or its representatives or by a foreign
corporation. If an FCC licensee is controlled by another entity (as is the case with Leap's ownership and control of
subsidiaries that hold FCC licenses), up to 25% of that entity's capital stock may be owned or voted by
non-U.S. citizens or their representatives, by a foreign government or its representatives or by a foreign corporation.
Foreign ownership above the 25% holding company level may be allowed if the FCC finds such higher levels
consistent with the public interest. The FCC has ruled that higher levels of foreign ownership, even up to 100%, are
presumptively consistent with the public interest with respect to investors from certain nations. If our foreign
ownership were to exceed the permitted level, the FCC could revoke our wireless licenses, which would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Although we could seek a
declaratory ruling from the FCC allowing the foreign ownership or could take other actions to reduce our foreign
ownership percentage in order to avoid the loss of our licenses, we cannot assure you that we would be able to obtain
such a ruling or that any other actions we may take would be successful.

In addition, legislative or regulatory action could be taken that could limit our ability to use certain foreign vendors to
supply us with equipment, materials or other services that we use in our business operations. For example, we
previously acquired network equipment from a Chinese company (Huawei), which is currently used to support
approximately 20% of our covered POPs. Members of the U.S. Congress and certain regulatory agencies have raised
concerns about American companies purchasing equipment and software from Chinese telecommunications
companies, including concerns relating to alleged violations of intellectual property rights by Chinese companies and
potential security risks posed by U.S. companies purchasing technical equipment and software from Chinese
companies. In October 2012, the U.S. House of Representatives Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence issued a
report asserting that network equipment manufactured by Chinese telecommunications companies poses a security
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threat to the United States and recommending the use of other network vendors. The report also recommends that
Congress consider adopting legislation to address the purported risk posed by telecommunications companies with
nation-state ties. Media outlets have reported that Huawei is planning to cease selling network equipment in the
United States. Any legislative or regulatory requirement that restricts us from purchasing or utilizing equipment or
software from Huawei or other Chinese or other foreign companies, any determination by such suppliers to cease
doing business in the United States, or any determination that we otherwise make that it is advantageous for us to
cease doing business with these companies could require changes in our equipment procurement activities and
business operations and make it more difficult for us to maintain our network and other assets.
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The DMCA prohibits the circumvention of technological measures or access controls employed by or on behalf of
copyright owners to protect their copyrighted works. However, under the DMCA, the Copyright Office of the Library
of Congress, or the Copyright Office, has the authority to exempt for three-year periods certain circumventing
activities that might otherwise be prohibited by the statute. In July 2010, the Copyright Office granted an exemption to
the DMCA to allow the circumvention of software locks and other firmware that prohibit a wireless handset from
connecting to a wireless network when such circumvention is accomplished for the sole purpose of lawfully
connecting the handset to another network. This exemption permitted locked handsets purchased from one wireless
carrier to be unlocked and then activated on another carrier's network. On October 28, 2012, the Copyright Office
issued a new exemption under the DMCA, which only permits the circumvention of software locks on handsets
purchased before January 26, 2013. In order for locked devices purchased after this date to be connected to another
carrier's network, the customer must obtain the prior carrier's consent to unlock the device. This new, narrowed
exemption, and any further modification of the DMCA copyright exemption, could impact our ability to attract and
activate new customers, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of
operations.

We participate in the federal government's Lifeline program, which provides support from the USF to subsidize
discounted telecommunications services for qualified low-income consumers. In order to participate in the Lifeline
program in any given state, a carrier must be designated as an eligible telecommunications carrier, or ETC, in that
state. As of December 31, 2013, Cricket had been designated as an ETC in 28 states and the District of Columbia. In
January 2012, the FCC adopted an order regarding the Lifeline program, the stated purpose of which is to streamline
the administration of the program and to implement measures to curb perceived waste, fraud and abuse in the
program. In addition, various states are considering or enacting rules with similar stated purposes as the FCC order. In
connection with the FCC's order, among other things, we are required to have our Lifeline customers re-certify on an
annual basis their eligibility to participate in the program. These requirements could result in the loss of Lifeline
customers and associated funding from the USF if these customers fail to meet the FCC's eligibility standards or fail to
respond to requests to re-certify their eligibility. Further, the FCC is developing a National Lifeline Accountability
Database, the primary purpose of which will be to validate the identity of Lifeline customers and prevent Lifeline
support from being provided to more than one eligible recipient per household in accordance with FCC regulations.
While the timing of the deployment of the database is uncertain, its implementation and use could reduce the number
of customers we could enroll in our Lifeline programs and thus reduce the amount of Lifeline funding we receive. In
addition, the FCC could pursue enforcement action against us and impose monetary penalties if it were to conclude
that we violated any of the Lifeline rules. In addition, future action by Congress, the FCC, or the states in which we
have been designated as an ETC could reduce or eliminate the amount of Lifeline funding we receive for providing
wireless service to certain qualifying low income customers, which could result in the loss of subscribers and the
associated service revenue.

We previously invested in various entities that qualified as "very small business" designated entities under FCC
regulations. The FCC's rules restricted our ability to acquire controlling membership interests in designated entities
during the period that such entities were required to maintain their eligibility as a designated entity. The FCC has
implemented rules and policies to ensure that only legitimate small businesses benefit from the designated entity
program, and that such small businesses are not controlled or manipulated by larger wireless carriers or other investors
that do not meet the small business qualification tests. For example, designated entity structures are subject to a
requirement that they seek approval for any event that might affect their ongoing eligibility (for example, changes in
agreements that the FCC has previously reviewed), annual reporting requirements and a commitment by the FCC to
audit each designated entity at least once during the license term. In addition, third parties and the federal government
have in the past challenged certain designated entity structures, alleging violations of federal qui tam and other laws
and seeking significant monetary damages. If we previously failed to comply with the FCC's designated entity rules,
any such failure could lead to fines, and in extreme cases, license revocation, third-party lawsuits and/or criminal
penalties. Federal court litigation surrounding designated entity structures, increased regulatory scrutiny or third party
or government lawsuits with respect to our prior investments in designated entities could materially adversely affect
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our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We also are subject, or potentially subject, to numerous additional rules and requirements, including universal service
obligations; number portability requirements; number pooling rules; rules governing billing, subscriber privacy and
customer proprietary network information; roaming obligations; rules that require wireless service providers to
configure their networks to facilitate electronic surveillance by law enforcement officials; rate averaging and
integration requirements; rules governing spam, telemarketing and truth-in-billing; and rules requiring us to offer
equipment and services that are accessible to and usable by persons with disabilities, among others. There are also
pending proceedings exploring the possible re-imposition of bright-line spectrum aggregation requirements and/or
adjustment of the FCC’s case-by-case spectrum screens; further regulation of special access used for wireless backhaul
services; regulation surrounding the deployment of advanced wireless broadband infrastructure; the imposition of
text-to-911 capabilities; and the transition to IP networks, among others. Some of these requirements and pending
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proceedings (of which the foregoing examples are not an exhaustive list) pose technical and operational challenges to
which we, and the industry as a whole, have not yet developed clear solutions. These requirements generally are the
subject of pending FCC or judicial proceedings, and we are unable to predict how they may affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations.

In addition, certain states in which we provide service are considering legislation that would require companies selling
prepaid wireless services to verify a customer's identity using government identification. Although we request
identification from new customers, we currently do not require them to provide identification in order to initiate
service with us, and such a requirement could adversely impact our ability to attract new customers for our services.

Our operations are subject to various other laws and regulations, including those regulations promulgated by the
Federal Trade Commission, the Federal Aviation Administration, the Environmental Protection Agency, the
Occupational Safety and Health Administration, other federal agencies and state and local regulatory agencies and
legislative bodies. Adverse decisions or regulations of these regulatory bodies could negatively impact our operations
and costs of doing business. Because of our smaller size, legislation or governmental regulations and orders can
significantly increase our costs and affect our competitive position compared to other larger telecommunications
providers. We are unable to predict the scope, pace or financial impact of regulations and other policy changes that
could be adopted by the various governmental entities that oversee portions of our business.

Our Wireless Licenses Are Subject to Renewal and May Be Revoked in the Event That We Violate Applicable Laws.

Our existing wireless licenses are subject to renewal upon the expiration of the 10-year or 15-year period for which
they are granted, which renewal period commenced for some of our Personal Communications Services, or PCS,
wireless licenses in 2006. The FCC will award renewal expectancy to a wireless licensee that timely files a renewal
application, has provided substantial service during its past license term and has substantially complied with
applicable FCC rules and policies and the Communications Act. Historically, the FCC has approved our license
renewal applications. However, the Communications Act provides that licenses may be revoked for cause and license
renewal applications denied if the FCC determines that a renewal would not serve the public interest. In addition, if
we fail to timely file to renew any wireless license, or fail to meet any regulatory requirements for renewal, including
construction and substantial service requirements, we could be denied a license renewal. Many of our wireless licenses
are subject to interim or final construction requirements and there is no guarantee that the FCC will find our
construction, or the construction of prior licensees, sufficient to meet the build-out or renewal requirements. FCC rules
provide that applications competing with a license renewal application may be considered in comparative hearings,
and establish the qualifications for competing applications and the standards to be applied in hearings. The FCC has
pending a rulemaking proceeding to re-evaluate, among other things, its wireless license renewal showings and
standards and may in this or other proceedings promulgate changes or additional substantial requirements or
conditions to its renewal rules, including revising license build-out requirements. We cannot assure you that the FCC
will renew our wireless licenses upon their expiration. If any of our wireless licenses were to be revoked or not
renewed upon expiration, we would not be permitted to provide services under that license, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Wireless Licenses Comprise a Significant Portion of our Assets; Future Declines in the Fair Value of Our Licenses
Could Result in Impairment Charges.
As of December 31, 2013, the carrying value of our wireless licenses was approximately $2.1 billion. These assets by
their nature, however, may not be readily saleable or, if saleable, there may be substantial delays in their liquidation.
For example, prior FCC approval is required in order for us to sell, or for any remedies to be exercised by our lenders
with respect to, our wireless licenses, and obtaining such approval could result in significant delays and reduce the
proceeds obtained from the sale or other disposition of our wireless licenses. In addition, the amount that we could
realize upon any sale of our wireless licenses could materially differ from their carrying value. Valuation swings could
occur for a variety of reasons relating to supply and demand, including consolidation in the wireless industry that
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allows or requires carriers to sell significant portions of their spectrum holdings, a sudden, large sale of spectrum by
one or more carriers, or a decline in market prices as a result of the sale prices in FCC auctions.
We assess potential impairments to our indefinite-lived intangible assets, including our wireless licenses, annually
during the third quarter of each year. We also evaluate on a quarterly basis whether any triggering events or changes
in circumstances have occurred subsequent to the annual impairment test that would indicate an impairment condition
exists. We estimate the fair value of our wireless licenses primarily on available market prices, including successful
bid prices in FCC auctions and selling prices observed in wireless license transactions, pricing trends among historical
wireless license transactions, our spectrum holdings within a given market relative to other carriers' holdings and
qualitative demographic and economic information concerning the areas that comprise our markets. No impairment
charges were recorded for the years ended December 31, 2013 or December 31,
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2012 with respect to our wireless licenses. During the year ended December 31, 2011, we recorded an impairment
charge of $0.4 million with respect to our wireless licenses. A significant impairment loss in any future period could
have a material adverse effect on our operating income and on the carrying value of our wireless licenses on our
balance sheet.

We Are Subject to Numerous Surcharges, Taxes and Fees from Federal, State and Local Governments, and the
Applicability and Amount of These Fees Can Be Uncertain.

We calculate and remit surcharges, taxes and fees to numerous federal, state and local jurisdictions in connection with
the services we provide. These fees include federal USF fees and common carrier regulatory fees. In addition, many
state and local governments impose various surcharges, taxes and fees on our activities, including with respect to sales
of our products and services and to our purchases of telecommunications services from various carriers. In many
cases, the applicability and method of calculating these surcharges, taxes and fees may be uncertain, and our
calculation, assessment and remittance of these amounts may be contested. In the event that we have incorrectly
assessed and remitted amounts that were due, we could be subject to fines and penalties, which could materially
impact our financial condition. In addition, although we remit applicable surcharges, taxes and fees that are due with
respect to the services we provide, we do not recover these amounts (other than sales taxes) as additional charges from
customers subscribing to our "all-inclusive" service plans, which are priced to include telecommunications taxes and
certain other fees. In the event that federal, state and/or local municipalities were to significantly increase taxes and
regulatory fees on our services or seek to impose new ones, it could have a significant adverse effect on our margins
and financial and operational results.

We May Incur Higher Than Anticipated Intercarrier Compensation Costs.

When our customers use our service to call customers of local exchange carriers, we are required under the current
intercarrier compensation scheme to pay the carrier that serves the called party, and any intermediary or transit carrier,
for the use of their networks. While in most cases we have been successful in negotiating agreements with other
carriers that impose reasonable reciprocal compensation arrangements, some local exchange carriers have claimed a
right to unilaterally impose what we believe to be unreasonably high charges on us. Some of these carriers have
threatened to pursue, have initiated, or may in the future initiate, claims against us to recover these charges, and the
outcome of any such claims is uncertain.

The FCC has been considering whether a unified intercarrier compensation regime can or should be established for all
traffic exchanged between carriers, including commercial mobile radio services carriers. The FCC has instituted a
uniform, national bill-and-keep framework for telecommunications traffic exchanged with a local exchange carrier,
which will be phased in under a multi-year transition period. There are also various other pending proceedings in the
courts, at the FCC and before state regulatory bodies that may affect intercarrier compensation. New or modified
intercarrier compensation rules, federal or state proceedings implementing or interpreting those rules and other
judicial or regulatory decisions may increase the charges we are required to pay other carriers for terminating calls or
transiting calls over telecommunications networks, increase the costs of, or make it more difficult to negotiate, new
agreements with carriers, decrease the amount of revenue we receive for terminating calls from other carriers on our
network, or result in significant costs to us for past and future termination charges. Any of these changes could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

We resell third party long distance services in connection with our offering of unlimited international long distance
service. The charges for these services may be subject to change by the terminating or interconnecting carrier, or by
the regulatory body having jurisdiction in the applicable foreign country. If the charges are modified, the terminating
or interconnecting carrier may attempt to assess such charges retroactively on us or our third party international long
distance provider. If such charges are substantial, or we cease providing service to the foreign destination, prospective
customers may elect not to use our service and current customers may choose to terminate service. Such events could
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limit our ability to grow our customer base, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and operating results.

If We Experience High Rates of Credit Card, Subscription or Dealer Fraud, Our Ability to Generate Cash Flow Will
Decrease.

Our operating costs could increase substantially as a result of fraud, including customer credit card, subscription or
dealer fraud. We have implemented a number of strategies and processes to detect and prevent efforts to defraud us,
and we believe that our efforts have substantially reduced the incidence of the types of fraud we have identified.
However, we continue to identify instances of fraud and undertake measures to address and prevent the recurrence of
the fraudulent activities we identify. If our strategies are
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not successful in detecting and controlling fraud, the resulting loss of revenue or increased expenses could have a
material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

The Loss of Key Personnel and Difficulty Attracting, Integrating and Retaining Qualified Personnel Could Harm Our
Business.

We believe our success depends heavily on the contributions of our employees and on attracting, motivating and
retaining our officers and other management and technical personnel. We do not, however, generally provide
employment contracts to our employees. If we are unable to attract and retain the qualified employees that we need,
our business may be harmed.

Our business is managed by a small number of key executive officers, including our chief executive officer, or CEO,
S. Douglas Hutcheson. In February 2012, we hired Robert A. Strickland as our chief technical officer. In May 2012,
we hired Jerry V. Elliott as our chief financial officer, or CFO, and in November 2012 appointed him as president and
chief operating officer. In November 2012, we hired R. Perley McBride as our CFO. In May 2013, we hired Julie
Dexter Berg as our chief marketing officer.

As several members of senior management have been hired in the past few years, it may take time to fully integrate
these individuals into their roles. In addition, if we were to lose the services of key individuals in the future, any such
departures could materially and adversely impact how we manage and operate our business. We may also have
difficulty attracting and retaining key personnel in future periods, particularly if we were to experience poor operating
or financial performance.

Our Ability to Use Our Net Operating Loss Carryforwards to Reduce Future Possible Tax Payments Could Be
Negatively Impacted if There Is an "Ownership Change" (as Defined Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code); Our Tax Benefit Preservation Plan May Not Be Effective to Prevent an Ownership Change.

We have substantial federal and state net operating losses, or NOLs, for income tax purposes. Subject to certain
requirements, we may "carry forward" our federal NOLs for up to 20 years to offset future taxable income and reduce
our income tax liability. For state income tax purposes, the NOL carryforward period ranges from five to 20 years.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, $69.8 million of our state NOLs expired. At December 31, 2013, we had
federal and state NOLs of approximately $3.1 billion and $2.3 billion, respectively (which begin to expire in 2022 for
federal income tax purposes and of which $92.8 million will expire at the end of 2014 for state income tax purposes).
While these NOL carryforwards have a potential to be used to offset future ordinary taxable income and reduce future
cash tax liabilities by approximately $1.2 billion, our ability to utilize these NOLs will depend upon the availability of
future taxable income during the carryforward period along with any impacts resulting from the Merger and, as such,
there is no assurance we will be able to realize such tax savings.

Our ability to utilize NOLs could be further limited if we were to experience an "ownership change," as defined in
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. In general terms, an ownership change can
occur whenever there is a cumulative shift in the ownership of a company by more than 50 percentage points by one
or more "5% stockholders" within a three-year period, which would include the ownership change that would result
from the Merger. The occurrence of such a change in our ownership would generally limit the amount of NOL
carryforwards we could utilize in a given year to the aggregate fair market value of Leap common stock immediately
prior to the ownership change, multiplied by the long-term tax-exempt interest rate in effect for the month of the
ownership change.

The determination of whether an ownership change has occurred for purposes of Section 382 is complex and requires
significant judgment. The occurrence of such an ownership change would accelerate cash tax payments we would be
required to make and likely result in a substantial portion of our NOLs expiring before we could fully utilize them. As

Edgar Filing: LEAP WIRELESS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10-K

70



a result, any restriction on our ability to utilize these NOL carryforwards could have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition and future cash flows.

On August 30, 2011, our board of directors adopted a Tax Benefit Preservation Plan to help deter acquisitions of Leap
common stock that could result in an ownership change under Section 382 and thus help preserve our ability to use
our NOL carryforwards. The Tax Benefit Preservation Plan was approved by our stockholders in May 2012. The Tax
Benefit Preservation Plan is designed to deter acquisitions of Leap common stock that would result in a stockholder
owning 4.99% or more of Leap common stock (as calculated under Section 382), or any existing holder of 4.99% or
more of Leap common stock acquiring additional shares, by substantially diluting the ownership interest of any such
stockholder unless the stockholder obtains an exemption from our board of directors. Because the number of shares of
Leap common stock outstanding at any particular time for purposes of the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan is determined
in accordance with Section 382, it may differ from the number of shares that we report as outstanding

34

Edgar Filing: LEAP WIRELESS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10-K

71



in our SEC filings. On July 12, 2013, Leap entered into an amendment to the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan to provide
that neither the approval, execution or delivery of the Merger Agreement, the related voting agreement executed by
MHR or any amendments thereof or agreements in connection therewith, nor the consummation of transactions or
entry into any agreements contemplated thereby, including the Merger, will (i) cause the rights under the Tax Benefit
Preservation Plan to become exercisable or entitle a holder of the rights to exercise such rights, (ii) cause AT&T or
MHR or any of their affiliates or associates to become an "Acquiring Person" under the terms of the Tax Benefit
Preservation Plan, or (iii) give rise to a Distribution Date or a Stock Acquisition Date (as such terms are defined in the
Tax Benefit Preservation Plan). Other than as described above, the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan remains in effect
and continues to apply to acquisitions of Leap common stock.

Although the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan is intended to reduce the likelihood of an adverse ownership change under
Section 382, the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan may not prevent such an ownership change from occurring and does
not protect against all transactions that could cause an ownership change, such as sales of Leap common stock by
certain greater than 5% stockholders or transactions that occurred prior to the adoption of the Tax Benefit Preservation
Plan. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that an ownership change under Section 382 will not occur and significantly
limit the use of our NOLs.

Our Business and Stock Price May Be Adversely Affected if Our Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Is Not
Effective.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires companies to conduct a comprehensive evaluation of their
internal control over financial reporting. To comply with this statute, each year we are required to document and test
our internal control over financial reporting; our management is required to assess and issue a report concerning our
internal control over financial reporting; and our independent registered public accounting firm is required to report on
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

During the fourth quarter of 2013, we reported that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of
December 31, 2011 and 2012 due to the existence of a material weakness. The material weakness we identified in our
internal control over financial reporting was that management failed to design and maintain a process to evaluate the
completeness of the amount of capital expenditures that had not been paid in cash at the end of the period.
Specifically, management did not design effective controls to properly classify purchases of property and equipment
included in accounts payable at period end such that the consolidated statements of cash flows only included
purchases of property and equipment as investing cash outflows when such amounts had been actually paid during the
period. Accordingly, management concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective from
December 31, 2011 through September 30, 2013.

In addition, in our quarterly and annual reports (as amended) for the periods ended from December 31, 2006 through
September 30, 2008, we reported a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, which related to
the design of controls over the preparation and review of the account reconciliations and analysis of revenues, cost of
revenues and deferred revenues, and ineffective testing of changes made to our revenue and billing systems in
connection with the introduction or modification of service offerings. Moreover, we previously reported that certain
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting existed at various times during the period from
September 30, 2004 through September 30, 2006. These material weaknesses included excessive turnover and
inadequate staffing levels in our accounting, financial reporting and tax departments, weaknesses in the preparation of
our income tax provision, and weaknesses in our application of lease-related accounting principles, fresh-start
reporting oversight, and account reconciliation procedures.

Although we believe we have taken appropriate actions to remediate the control deficiencies we identified and to
strengthen our internal control over financial reporting, we cannot assure you that we will not discover other material
weaknesses in the future or that no material weakness will result from any difficulties, errors, delays or disruptions
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from significant new internal systems we have implemented in recent years, including our customer billing system,
inventory management system and point-of-sale system. The existence of one or more material weaknesses could
result in errors in our financial statements, and substantial costs and resources may be required to rectify these or other
internal control deficiencies, and may subject us to risk of litigation, for which we may incur substantial costs
regardless of its outcome. If we cannot produce reliable financial reports, investors could lose confidence in our
reported financial information, the market price of Leap common stock could decline significantly, we may be unable
to obtain additional financing to operate and expand our business, and our business and financial condition could be
harmed.
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Related to Ownership of Leap Common Stock

Our Stock Price May Be Volatile, and You May Lose All or Some of Your Investment.

The trading prices of the securities of telecommunications companies have been highly volatile. Accordingly, the
trading price of Leap common stock has been subject to wide fluctuations. Factors affecting the trading price of Leap
common stock may include, among other things:

• expectations regarding the timing and likelihood of the consummation of the Merger, including any delays in
obtaining regulatory and other required approvals, or any termination of the Merger Agreement;

•variations in our operating results or those of our competitors;

•announcements of technological innovations, new services or service enhancements, strategic alliances or significantagreements (including merger, acquisition or other investment agreements) by us or by our competitors;

•
entry or expansion of competitors into our markets, changes in product and service offerings by us or our competitors,
changes in the prices charged for product and service offerings by us or our competitors, or changes or upgrades in the
network technologies used by us or our competitors;

•the commencement of or significant developments with respect to intellectual property or other litigation (includinglitigation relating to the Merger);
•announcements of and bidding in auctions for new spectrum;
•recruitment or departure of key personnel;

• changes in the estimates of our operating results or changes in recommendations by any securities analysts
that elect to follow Leap common stock, or changes in our credit ratings or those of our competitors;

•changes in the levels of our indebtedness;

•any default under our Credit Agreement or any of the indentures governing our senior notes or convertible seniornotes because of a covenant breach or otherwise;

•announcements, rumors or speculation in the marketplace regarding acquisitions or consolidation in our industry,including regarding the Merger and other transactions involving Leap; and
•market conditions in our industry and the economy as a whole.

The occurrence of any one or more of these events could significantly impact the trading price of Leap common stock,
and you could lose all or some of your investment.

Our Directors and Affiliated Entities Have Substantial Influence over Our Affairs, and Our Ownership Is Highly
Concentrated. Sales of a Significant Number of Shares by Large Stockholders May Adversely Affect the Market Price
of Leap Common Stock.

Our directors and entities affiliated with them beneficially owned in the aggregate approximately 30% of Leap
common stock as of February 18, 2014. Moreover, our two largest stockholders and entities affiliated with them
beneficially owned in the aggregate approximately 35% of Leap common stock as of February 18, 2014. These
stockholders have the ability to exert substantial influence over all matters requiring approval by our stockholders.
These stockholders will be able to influence the election and removal of directors and any merger, consolidation or
sale of all or substantially all of Leap's assets and other matters.

Our resale shelf registration statement registers for resale 23,533,869 shares of Leap common stock held by entities
affiliated with one of our directors, or approximately 30% of Leap's outstanding common stock as of February 18,
2014. We have also agreed to register for resale any additional shares of common stock that these entities or their
affiliates acquire. We are unable to predict the potential effect that sales into the market of any material portion of
such shares, or any of the other shares held by our other large stockholders and entities affiliated with them, may have
on the then-prevailing market price of Leap common stock. If any of Leap's stockholders cause a large number of
securities to be sold in the public market, these sales could reduce the trading price of Leap common stock. These
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sales could also impede our ability to raise future capital.
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We Could Elect to Raise Additional Equity Capital, Which Could Dilute Existing Stockholders.

During the second quarter of 2009 we sold 7,000,000 shares of Leap common stock in an underwritten public
offering. We could raise additional capital in the future, as market conditions permit, to enhance our liquidity and to
provide us with additional flexibility to pursue business investment initiatives. Any additional capital we could raise
could be significant and could consist of debt, convertible debt or equity financing from the public and/or private
credit or capital markets. However, our ability to undertake these transactions may be restricted by the terms of the
Merger Agreement unless consented to by AT&T. To the extent that we were to elect to raise equity capital, this
financing may not be available in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us and could be dilutive to existing
stockholders. In addition, these sales could reduce the trading price of Leap common stock and impede our ability to
raise future capital.

Your Ownership Interest in Leap Will Be Diluted upon Issuance of Shares We Have Reserved for Future Issuances,
and Future Issuances or Sales of Such Shares May Adversely Affect the Market Price of Leap Common Stock.

As of February 18, 2014, 79,780,364 shares of Leap common stock were issued and outstanding, and 5,544,096
additional shares of Leap common stock were reserved for issuance, including 3,607,842 shares reserved for issuance
upon the exercise of outstanding stock options and deferred stock units under our 2004 Stock Option, Restricted Stock
and Deferred Stock Unit Plan; 991,924 shares of common stock available for future issuance under our 2004 Stock
Option, Restricted Stock and Deferred Stock Unit Plan; 531,620 shares reserved for issuance upon the exercise of
outstanding stock options and deferred stock units under our 2009 Employment Inducement Equity Incentive Plan;
193,046 shares of common stock available for future issuance under our 2009 Employment Inducement Equity
Incentive Plan; and 219,664 shares available for future issuance under our Amended and Restated Employee Stock
Purchase Plan.

Leap has also reserved up to 4,761,000 shares of its common stock for issuance upon conversion of its $248.2 million
in aggregate principal amount of 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2014. Holders may convert their notes into shares
of Leap common stock at any time on or prior to the third scheduled trading day prior to the maturity date of the notes,
July 15, 2014. If, at the time of conversion, the applicable stock price of Leap common stock is less than or equal to
approximately $93.21 per share, the notes will be convertible into 10.7290 shares of Leap common stock per $1,000
principal amount of the notes (referred to as the "base conversion rate"), subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of
certain events. If, at the time of conversion, the applicable stock price of Leap common stock exceeds approximately
$93.21 per share, the conversion rate will be determined pursuant to a formula based on the base conversion rate and
an incremental share factor of 8.3150 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the notes, subject to adjustment. At an
applicable stock price of approximately $93.21 per share, the number of shares of common stock issuable upon full
conversion of the convertible senior notes would be 2,682,250 shares. Upon the occurrence of a "make-whole
fundamental change" of Leap under the indenture, under certain circumstances the maximum number of shares of
common stock issuable upon full conversion of the convertible senior notes would be 4,761,000 shares. However,
following consummation of the Merger, holders would receive cash and CVRs upon conversion in lieu of shares of
Leap common stock as set forth in the indenture governing the notes.

In addition, we have registered all shares of common stock that we may issue under our 2004 Stock Option, Restricted
Stock and Deferred Stock Unit Plan, under our 2009 Employment Inducement Equity Incentive Plan and under our
Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan. When we issue shares under these stock plans, they can be
freely sold in the public market after the recipient satisfies any vesting period applicable to the shares. If any of Leap's
stockholders causes a large number of securities to be sold in the public market, these sales could reduce the trading
price of Leap common stock. These sales also could impede our ability to raise future capital.

Provisions in Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, under Delaware Law, in Our Credit
Agreement and Indentures, or in Our Tax Benefit Preservation Plan Might Discourage, Delay or Prevent a Change in
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Control of Our Company or Changes in Our Management and, Therefore, Depress the Trading Price of Leap Common
Stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the trading
price of Leap common stock by acting to discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our company or changes
in our management that our stockholders may deem advantageous. These provisions:

•require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation andbylaws;

37

Edgar Filing: LEAP WIRELESS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10-K

77



•authorize the issuance of "blank check" preferred stock that our board of directors could issue to increase the numberof outstanding shares to discourage a takeover attempt;

•prohibit stockholder action by written consent, and require that all stockholder actions be taken at a meeting of ourstockholders;
•provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

•establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our board or for proposing matters that can beacted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.
We are also subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delaware
corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any "interested" stockholder for a
period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an "interested" stockholder and which may
discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our company.

In addition, under the indentures governing our senior notes and convertible senior notes, if certain "change of
control" events occur, each holder of notes may require us to repurchase all of such holder's notes at a purchase price
equal to 101% of the principal amount of senior notes, or 100% of the principal amount of convertible senior notes,
plus accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, our Credit Agreement provides for an event of default upon the
occurrence of a change of control. See "Part II - Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations -Liquidity and Capital Resources" of this report.

On August 30, 2011, our board of directors adopted a Tax Benefit Preservation Plan as a measure intended to help
deter acquisitions of Leap common stock that could result in an ownership change under Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code and thus help preserve our ability to use our NOL carryforwards. The Tax Benefit Preservation Plan
was approved by our stockholders in May 2012. The Tax Benefit Preservation Plan is designed to deter acquisitions of
Leap common stock that would result in a stockholder owning 4.99% or more of Leap common stock (as calculated
under Section 382), or any existing holder of 4.99% or more of Leap common stock acquiring additional shares, by
substantially diluting the ownership interest of any such stockholder unless the stockholder obtains an exemption from
our board of directors. Because the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan may restrict a stockholder's ability to acquire Leap
common stock, it could discourage a tender offer for Leap common stock or make it more difficult for a third party to
acquire a controlling position in our stock without our approval, and the liquidity and market value of Leap common
stock may be adversely affected while the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan is in effect. On July 12, 2013, Leap entered
into an amendment to the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan to provide that neither the approval, execution or delivery of
the Merger Agreement, the related voting agreement executed by MHR or any amendments thereof or agreements in
connection therewith, nor the consummation of transactions or entry into any agreements contemplated thereby,
including the Merger, will (i) cause the rights under the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan to become exercisable or entitle
a holder of the rights to exercise such rights, (ii) cause AT&T or MHR or any of their affiliates or associates to
become an "Acquiring Person" under the terms of the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan, or (iii) give rise to a Distribution
Date or a Stock Acquisition Date (as such terms are defined in the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan). Other than as
described above, the Tax Benefit Preservation Plan remains in effect and continues to apply to acquisitions of Leap
common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties     

As of December 31, 2013, we leased approximately 9,600 cell sites, 25 switching centers and three warehouse
facilities (which range in size from approximately 3,750 square feet to 16,000 square feet). In addition, we had 36
office leases in our individual markets that range from approximately 100 square feet to approximately 40,000 square
feet. We also leased approximately 190 retail locations, comprised of our own Cricket retail stores and a smaller
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number of locations that we subleased to authorized dealers, which range in size from approximately 900 square feet
to 4,000 square feet.

As of December 31, 2013, we leased office space totaling approximately 200,000 square feet for our corporate
headquarters in San Diego. We use these offices for engineering and administrative purposes. As of such date, we also
leased space, totaling approximately 100,000 square feet, for our facility in Denver for sales and marketing, product
development, supply chain, engineering and information technology functions. We do not own any real property.
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As we operate our business, we may lease additional or substitute office facilities, retail stores, cell sites, switch sites
and warehouse facilities.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in a variety of legal proceedings, including lawsuits, claims, investigations and
other proceedings concerning intellectual property, commercial disputes, business practices and other matters. Over
the past several years, we have become subject to an increased number of these proceedings, including disputes
alleging intellectual property infringement. These matters may seek monetary damages and other relief.

We believe that any damage amounts alleged by plaintiffs in matters that may arise are not necessarily meaningful
indicators of our potential liability. We determine whether we should accrue an estimated loss for a contingency in a
particular legal proceeding by assessing whether a loss is deemed probable and whether the amount can be reasonably
estimated. We reassess our view on estimated losses on a quarterly basis to reflect the impact of any developments in
the matters in which we are involved.

Legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable, and the matters in which we are involved often present complex legal
and factual issues. We vigorously pursue defenses in legal proceedings and engage in discussions where possible to
resolve these matters on favorable terms. Our policy is to recognize legal costs as incurred. It is possible, however,
that our business, financial condition and results of operations in future periods could be materially adversely affected
by increased litigation expenses, significant settlement costs and/or unfavorable damage awards.

Merger-Related Litigation

On July 15, 2013, following the announcement of the Merger, a lawsuit was filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery
challenging the proposed Merger. The action is captioned Booth Family Trust v. Leap Wireless International, Inc. et
al., C.A. No. 8730-VCN. It is a putative class action filed on behalf of purported stockholders of Leap, and it names
Leap and its directors as defendants. The complaint alleges that the directors of Leap breached their fiduciary duties to
Leap stockholders by engaging in a flawed sales process, by agreeing to sell Leap for inadequate consideration and by
agreeing to improper deal protection terms in the Merger Agreement. The complaint seeks, among other relief,
declaratory and injunctive relief against the Merger and costs and fees.

On July 19, 2013, July 24, 2013 and July 26, 2013, additional lawsuits were filed in the Superior Court of the State of
California, County of San Diego challenging the proposed Merger. The action filed on July 19, 2013 is captioned John
Kim v. Leap Wireless International, Inc. et al., Case No. 37-2013-00058491-CU-BT-CTL; the actions filed on July
24, 2013 are captioned Wesley Decker v. Leap Wireless International, Inc. et al, Case No.
37-2013-00059095-CU-SL-CTL and Roxane Andrews v. Leap Wireless International, Inc. et al, Case No.
37-2013-00059141-CU-BT-CTL; and the action filed on July 26, 2013 is captioned Joseph Marino v. Leap Wireless
International Inc. et al, Case No. 37-2013-00059565-CU-BT-CTL. Each lawsuit is a putative class action filed on
behalf of purported stockholders of Leap and names Leap, its directors as well as AT&T and Merger Sub as
defendants. The California complaints allege that Leap and its directors breached their fiduciary duties to Leap
stockholders, and that AT&T and Merger Sub aided and abetted such breaches, by agreeing to improper deal
protection terms in the Merger Agreement. The Decker, Andrews and Marino complaints further allege that Leap and
its directors breached their fiduciary duties, and that AT&T and Merger Sub aided and abetted such breaches, by
engaging in a flawed sales process and by agreeing to sell Leap for inadequate consideration. The Kim complaint
seeks, among other relief, declaratory and injunctive relief against the Merger, imposition of a constructive trust and
costs and fees. The Decker, Andrews and Marino complaints seek, among other relief, declaratory and injunctive
relief against the Merger and costs and fees.
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On August 15, 2013, the Superior Court of the State of California entered an order consolidating the four California
actions under the caption In re Leap Wireless International, Inc. Shareholder Litigation, Lead Case No.
37-2013-00058491-CU-BT-CTL. On August 19, 2013, plaintiffs in the consolidated Superior Court action filed a
consolidated amended complaint against Leap, its directors, AT&T, and Merger Sub. Generally, the complaint alleges
that the Leap directors breached their fiduciary duties by agreeing to the Merger Agreement for insufficient
consideration, on improper terms, and with inadequate disclosure, and it alleges that these purported breaches were
aided by AT&T and Merger Sub. The complaint seeks, among other relief, an injunction against the proposed Merger
and damages.
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On August 30, 2013, the Delaware Court of Chancery entered an order staying the Delaware action pending resolution
of the consolidated action in California.

On October 17, 2013, following stipulated expedited discovery and negotiations among counsel to the parties, the
parties entered into a memorandum of understanding regarding the settlement of the putative class actions, or the
MOU. Although the defendants believe that no further disclosure was required to supplement the proxy statement for
the Merger and deny that they acted improperly and that the process by which the proposed transaction was negotiated
or is being implemented was insufficient in any way, the defendants agreed to enter into the MOU to avoid the risk
that the putative stockholder class actions may delay or otherwise adversely affect the consummation of the Merger
and to minimize the expense of defending such actions. Pursuant to the MOU Leap agreed to make certain
supplemental disclosures related to the Merger. In addition, AT&T agreed to forbear from asserting its right to prevent
termination of the voting agreement, dated July 12, 2013, among Leap, AT&T and affiliates of MHR Fund
Management LLC, or MHR, if a "Change of Recommendation" (as defined in the Merger Agreement) was made by
Leap as a result of a "Superior Proposal" (as defined in the Merger Agreement) as permitted by Section 6.2(f)(i) of the
Merger Agreement, and to forbear from asserting its right to prevent a Change of Recommendation by Leap under
Sections 6.2(f)(ii)(A), (B), (C), and (E) of the Merger Agreement.

The MOU contemplates that the parties will enter into a stipulation of settlement. The stipulation of settlement will be
subject to customary conditions, including completion of the Merger and court approval following notice to Leap’s
stockholders. In the event that the parties enter into a stipulation of settlement, a hearing will be scheduled at which
the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Diego will consider the fairness, reasonableness, and
adequacy of the settlement. If the settlement is finally approved by the court, it will resolve and release all claims in
all actions that were or could have been brought challenging any aspect of the proposed Merger, the Merger
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, and any disclosure made in connection therewith (but
excluding claims for appraisal under Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law), among other claims. In
addition, in connection with the settlement, the parties contemplate that plaintiffs’ counsel will file a petition in the
Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Diego for an award of attorneys’ fees and expenses to be paid
by Leap, its successor, or its insurer. The MOU also contemplates that Leap, its successor, or its insurer will pay or
cause to be paid any attorneys’ fees and expenses, in an amount up to $990,000, awarded by the Superior Court of the
State of California, County of San Diego.

There can be no assurance that the parties will ultimately enter into a stipulation of settlement or that the Superior
Court of the State of California, County of San Diego will approve the settlement even if the parties were to enter into
such stipulation. In such event, the proposed settlement as contemplated by the MOU may be terminated. In the event
that the parties do not enter into a stipulation of settlement or the MOU is terminated, the outcome of these lawsuits
would be uncertain. An adverse monetary judgment could have a material adverse effect on the operations and
liquidity of Leap, a preliminary injunction could delay or jeopardize the completion of the Merger, and an adverse
judgment granting permanent injunctive relief could indefinitely enjoin completion of the Merger. Leap believes these
lawsuits are meritless.

Flat Wireless

On January 5, 2014, we filed an action against Flat Wireless, LLC, or Flat, in the U.S. District Court for the Southern
District of California, which we refer to as the California Action. In the California Action, Cricket sought declaratory
relief that it was entitled to sell its approximately 4% membership interest in Flat to a third party, subject to Cricket’s
complying with the right of right refusal provisions set forth in the Amended and Restated Company Agreement of
Flat Wireless, LLC, as amended, or the Flat LLC Agreement. On January 9, 2014, Flat filed suit against us in the
District Court of Lubbock County, Texas, which we refer to as the Texas Action, seeking to prohibit Cricket from
transferring its membership interest in Flat on the grounds that the third-party offer is allegedly not "bona fide." On
that same date, Flat obtained, on an ex parte basis without any notice to us, a temporary restraining order, or TRO,
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which prohibited Cricket from any further action or attempts to transfer its membership interest pending further order
of the court or expiration of the TRO. The TRO was subsequently extended, again ex parte, to February 6, 2014. On
February 3, 2014, following a hearing, the Texas court (i) dissolved the TRO, (ii) denied Flat’s request for a temporary
injunction, (iii) compelled Flat’s claims to arbitration, which we refer to as the Arbitration Proceeding, and (iv) stayed
the case. Flat has appealed the denial of the temporary injunction, and that appeal remains pending. In addition, Flat
filed a motion for temporary injunction with the Court of Appeal, which was denied on February 24, 2014, and a
motion for preliminary injunction in the Arbitration Proceeding. In light of the Arbitration Proceeding, the parties
have agreed that the California Action should be dismissed. On February 26, 2014, the arbitrator issued a preliminary
injunction prohibiting Cricket from transferring the units to the prospective third party purchaser pending the final
outcome of the Arbitration Proceeding, which is expected in April 2014. The disposition of Cricket’s membership
interest in Flat is one of the conditions to the completion of the Merger with AT&T. On March 3, 2014, AT&T
waived the condition. We believe that Flat’s claims in the appeal of the Texas Action and in the Arbitration Proceeding
are without merit, and we will continue to defend vigorously our position in both proceedings.
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M Seven

We are party to a civil action brought in June 2012 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
California by M Seven System Limited, or M Seven, against Cricket, a third-party handset design firm and two
employees of that design firm (one of whom is a former employee of ours). M Seven alleges that Cricket, the
third-party firm and its employees engaged in trade secret misappropriation, copyright infringement and violations of
the DMCA in the design and distribution of the handsets. M Seven seeks compensatory damages in the form of lost
profits or a reasonable royalty, disgorgement of defendants' profits, statutory damages, exemplary and/or punitive
damages, pre- and post-judgment interest, attorneys' fees and costs and injunctive relief. On October 8, 2013, the
District Court set a final pretrial conference of February 27, 2015, with a trial date to follow thereafter. M Seven
previously filed civil and criminal actions in South Korea with similar allegations against our former employee, the
handset design firm and its subcontractors. The handset design firm and its subcontractors were found liable in the
civil matter and the subcontractors were found liable in the criminal action in South Korea. We, however, were not
party to those actions and those judgments are not binding upon us or the District Court in the current matter.

Item 4.Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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PART II

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 5.Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of EquitySecurities

Our common stock is listed for trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under "LEAP."

The following table sets forth the high and low closing prices per share of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market for the quarterly periods indicated, which correspond to our quarterly fiscal periods for financial
reporting purposes.

High($) Low($)
Calendar Year - 2012
First Quarter 11.14 8.56
Second Quarter 8.78 4.78
Third Quarter 6.96 4.42
Fourth Quarter 7.59 5.18
Calendar Year - 2013
First Quarter 7.05 5.22
Second Quarter 6.73 5.38
Third Quarter 17.39 6.67
Fourth Quarter 17.44 15.67

On February 18, 2014, the last reported sale price of Leap common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market was
$17.56 per share. As of February 18, 2014, there were 79,780,364 shares of common stock outstanding held by
approximately 220 holders of record.

Dividends

Leap has not paid or declared any cash dividends on its common stock and we do not anticipate paying any cash
dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. As more fully described in "Item 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," the terms of our Credit Agreement and
the indenture governing our senior notes restrict our ability to declare or pay dividends. We intend to retain future
earnings, if any, to fund our business operations. Any future payment of dividends to our stockholders will depend on
decisions that will be made by our board of directors and will depend on then existing conditions, including our
financial condition, contractual restrictions, capital requirements and business prospects.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data (in thousands, except per share data)

The following selected financial data were derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. These tables
should be read in conjunction with "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" and "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" included elsewhere in this report.

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues $2,898,072 $3,142,341 $3,071,131 $2,697,203 $2,481,321
Operating income (loss)(1)(2) (224,916 ) 157,763 (25,352 ) (450,738 ) 31,124
Loss before income taxes (557,884 ) (129,373 ) (278,300 ) (742,542 ) (197,354 )
Income tax expense (45,569 ) (57,904 ) (39,377 ) (42,513 ) (40,609 )
Net loss (603,453 ) (187,277 ) (317,677 ) (785,055 ) (237,963 )
Accretion of redeemable non-controlling
interests, net of tax (37,355 ) (2,015 ) 3,050 (86,898 ) (1,529 )

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $(640,808 ) $(189,292 ) $(314,627 ) $(871,953 ) $(239,492 )
Loss per share attributable to common
stockholders
   Basic(3) $(8.20 ) $(2.45 ) $(4.11 ) $(11.49 ) $(3.30 )
   Diluted(3) $(8.20 ) $(2.45 ) $(4.11 ) $(11.49 ) $(3.30 )
Shares used in per share calculations:(3)
   Basic 78,136 77,283 76,534 75,917 72,515
   Diluted 78,136 77,283 76,534 75,917 72,515

As of December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $531,245 $515,550 $345,243 $350,790 $174,999
Short-term investments 385,783 159,426 405,801 68,367 389,154
Working capital 346,936 379,792 314,508 85,305 272,974
Total assets 4,662,888 4,967,260 5,152,690 4,834,823 5,377,481
Capital leases 36,545 42,896 34,823 10,307 12,285
Current maturities of long-term debt 266,454 4,000 21,911 8,500 8,000
Long-term debt, net (excluding current
maturities) 3,364,567 3,298,463 3,198,749 2,832,070 2,735,318

Total stockholders' equity (deficit) (193,671 ) 433,132 613,315 911,282 1,690,530

(1)
We recorded a gain on sale, exchange or disposal of assets, net of $229.7 million for the year ended December
31, 2012. Refer to Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for a description of the wireless license dispositions resulting in the gain.

(2)

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 for discussion
of the $477.3 million non-cash impairment recorded within operating income (loss) during the year ended
December 31, 2010.

(3) Refer to Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data" for an explanation of the calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share.
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Item 7.Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following information should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this report.

Overview

Company Overview

We are a wireless communications carrier that offers digital wireless services in the U.S. under the "Cricket" brand.
Our Cricket service offerings provide customers with unlimited nationwide wireless services for a flat rate without
requiring a fixed-term contract or a credit check.

Cricket service is offered by Cricket, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Leap. Cricket service is also offered in South
Texas by STX Operations, which Cricket controls through a 75.75% membership interest in STX Wireless, the parent
company of STX Operations. For more information regarding this joint venture, see "Liquidity and Capital Resources —
STX Wireless Joint Venture" below.

As of December 31, 2013, Cricket service was offered in 48 states and the District of Columbia across an extended
area covering approximately 292 million POPs. As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 4.6 million
customers, and we owned wireless licenses covering an aggregate of approximately 137.7 million POPs (adjusted to
eliminate duplication from overlapping licenses). The combined network footprint in our operating markets covered
approximately 97.1 million POPs as of December 31, 2013. The licenses we own provide an average of 23 MHz of
spectrum capacity in our operating markets.

In addition to our Cricket network footprint, we have entered into roaming relationships with other wireless carriers
that enable us to offer Cricket customers nationwide voice and data roaming services (including 4G LTE roaming
services) over an extended service area. In 2010 we also entered into a wholesale agreement, which we use to offer
Cricket services in a limited number of nationwide retailers outside of our current network footprint. These
arrangements have enabled us to offer enhanced Cricket products and services, strengthen our retail presence in our
existing markets and expand our distribution nationwide. In addition, we amended the wholesale agreement to enable
us to purchase 4G LTE services. Since introducing our products in nationwide retailers in September 2011, our
MVNO offering has fallen short of expectations. Accordingly, we determined to focus our efforts on those nationwide
retailers that we believe provide the most attractive opportunities for our business. As a result, we reduced our total
presence in the nationwide retail channel by nearly two-thirds, from approximately 13,000 locations at June 30, 2012
to approximately 5,100 locations at December 31, 2013.

Our business strategy includes our efforts to improve the experience we provide customers so that they choose to
remain a Cricket customer for a longer period. As part of these efforts, we have improved our device activation
process, the quality of our device portfolio, and the in-store and call center experience we provide to our customers.
We are also focused on continually updating our product and service offerings to better meet the needs of current
customers and to attract and retain new ones. Product and service offerings we have introduced in recent years include
our Muve Music unlimited music download service, the Lifeline service offerings we have introduced in a number of
states, and the third-party device financing programs we have introduced in our markets to help customers manage the
cost of purchasing a handset. We are also focused on pursuing disciplined investment initiatives and remaining
focused on our position as a low-cost provider of wireless telecommunications. Beginning in the second half of 2012,
we increased pricing on our devices in an effort to better manage device subsidies and promote the addition of
longer-tenured customers, although such changes have also had the effect of decreasing gross customer additions. In
addition, we have streamlined and reduced our number of dealer locations and Cricket-owned stores to increase sales
activity for more productive locations and reduce costs. The extent to which these initiatives and others we may
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introduce will positively impact our future financial and operational results will depend upon our ability to anticipate
and respond to competitors' initiatives, our continued efforts to enhance the productivity of our distribution channels,
continued customer acceptance of our product and service offerings and our ability to retain and expand our customer
base.

We also continue to enhance our network to allow us to provide customers with high-quality service by improving the
3G and LTE network coverage and capacity in existing markets. To date, we have covered approximately 21 million
POPs with next-generation LTE network technology. However, given the significant decrease in the size of our
customer base in recent quarters, our high level of indebtedness and the high cost of LTE deployment, we have
generally determined not to deploy LTE network technology in additional markets at this time.
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The wireless telecommunications industry is very competitive. In general, we compete with national facilities-based
wireless providers and their prepaid affiliates or brands, local and regional carriers, non-facilities-based MVNOs,
VoIP service providers, traditional landline service providers, cable companies and mobile satellite service providers.
Competition in the wireless industry has increased and intensified in recent quarters, particularly from carriers and
their affiliated brands with robust nationwide networks and significantly greater deployment of 4G LTE technology.
In particular, we have been experiencing increased competition in many of our core Cricket markets from nationwide
carriers increasingly targeting the prepaid segment, including from T-Mobile's nationwide expansion of the MetroPCS
prepaid brand utilizing the T-Mobile 4G LTE network. This evolving competitive landscape has negatively impacted
our financial and operating results in recent years, as evidenced by a 26.5% reduction in customers between March 31,
2012 and December 31, 2013. Our ability to remain competitive will depend, in part, on our ability to anticipate and
respond to various competitive factors, to provide LTE-based services and meet increasing customer demand for high
data throughput speeds, and to keep our costs low. The evolving competitive landscape may result in more
competitive pricing, higher costs, lower customer additions and higher customer turnover than we project. Any of
these results or actions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our customer activity is influenced by seasonal effects related to traditional retail selling periods and other factors that
arise in connection with our target customer base. Based on historical results, we generally expect new sales activity
to be highest in the first and fourth quarters, although during 2012 we experienced our lowest customer activity during
the fourth quarter due, in part, to handset price increases that we introduced in the third quarter. Based on historical
results, we also generally expect churn to be highest in the third quarter and lowest in the first quarter. Sales activity
and churn, however, can be strongly affected by other factors, including changes in the competitive landscape, service
plan pricing, device availability, economic conditions, and high unemployment (particularly in the lower-income
segment of our customer base), any of which may either offset or magnify certain seasonal effects. Customer activity
can also be strongly affected by promotional and retention efforts that we undertake. For example, from time to time,
we lower the price on select smartphones for customers who activate a new line of service and then transfer phone
numbers previously used with other carriers. This type of promotion is intended to drive significant, new customer
activity for our smartphone handsets and their accompanying higher-priced service plans. We also frequently offer
existing customers the opportunity to activate an additional line of voice service on a previously activated Cricket
device not currently in service. Customers accepting this offer receive a free first month of service on the additional
line of service after paying an activation fee. We also utilize retention programs to encourage existing customers
whose service may have been suspended for failure to timely pay to continue service with us for a reduced or free
amount for a limited period of time. In addition, during holiday and other key selling periods, we may also increase
device subsidies to try to generate additional sales volume. The design, size and duration of our promotional and
retention programs vary over time in response to changing market conditions. We believe that our promotional and
retention efforts, including those efforts described above, have generally provided and continue to provide important
long-term benefits to us, including by helping us attract new customers for our wireless services or by extending the
period of time over which customers use our services, thus allowing us to obtain additional revenue from handsets we
have already sold. The success of any of these activities depends upon many factors, including the costs that we incur
to attract or retain customers and the length of time these customers continue to use our services. Sales activity that
would otherwise have been expected based on seasonal trends can also be negatively impacted by factors we have
experienced in the past such as billing system disruptions, promotional and retention efforts not performing as
expected, device quality issues, and inventory shortages.

Our principal sources of liquidity are our existing unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and
cash generated from operations. See "—Liquidity and Capital Resources" below.

Proposed Merger
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On July 12, 2013, Leap entered into the Merger Agreement with AT&T, Merger Sub, and Laser, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (which will act as the stockholders' representative for certain purposes under the Merger Agreement),
pursuant to which, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, AT&T will acquire
Leap in a transaction in which Leap stockholders would receive $15.00 in cash for each outstanding share of Leap's
common stock, plus one non-transferable CVR per share (together, referred to in this report as the Merger
Consideration). The CVR will entitle each Leap stockholder to a pro rata share of the net proceeds, if any, resulting
from the future sale of our 700 MHz License. The Merger Agreement provides that, on the terms and subject to the
conditions thereof, Merger Sub will be merged with and into Leap, with Leap continuing as the surviving corporation
in the Merger, and each outstanding share of common stock of Leap (other than excluded shares) will cease to be
outstanding and will be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration. Subject to the satisfaction or
waiver of the conditions to closing, we expect to complete the proposed Merger with AT&T no later than the end of
the first quarter of 2014. See "Part I - Item 1. Business - Proposed Merger" above for more information regarding this
transaction.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Our discussion and analysis of our results of operations and liquidity and capital resources are based on our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP. These principles require us to make estimates and judgments that
affect our reported amounts of assets and liabilities, our disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and our reported
amounts of revenues and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those
related to revenue recognition and the valuation of deferred tax assets, long-lived assets and indefinite-lived intangible
assets. We base our estimates on historical and anticipated results and trends and on various other assumptions that we
believe are reasonable under the circumstances, including assumptions as to future events. These estimates form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. By their nature, estimates are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. Actual results may differ from our
estimates.

We believe that the following critical accounting policies and estimates involve a higher degree of judgment or
complexity than others used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenues

Our business revenues principally arise from the sale of wireless services, devices (handsets and broadband modems)
and accessories. Wireless services are provided primarily on a month-to-month basis. Our customers are required to
pay for their service in advance and we do not require customers to sign fixed-term contracts or pass a credit check.
Service revenues are recognized only after payment has been received and services have been rendered.

When we activate service for a new customer, we often sell that customer a device along with a period of service. In
accordance with the authoritative guidance for revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables, the sale of a device
along with service constitutes a multiple element arrangement. Under this guidance, once a company has determined
the best estimate of selling price of the elements in the sales transaction, the total consideration received from the
customer must be allocated among those elements on a relative selling price basis. Applying the guidance to these
transactions results in our recognition of the total consideration received, less amounts allocated to the wireless service
period (generally the customer's monthly service plan), as equipment revenue.

Amounts allocated to equipment revenues and related costs from the sale of devices are recognized when service is
activated by new customers. Revenues and related costs from the sale of devices and accessories to existing customers
are recognized at the point of sale. The costs of devices and accessories sold are recorded in cost of equipment. In
addition to devices that we sell directly to our customers at Cricket-owned stores, we sell devices to third-party
dealers, including nationwide retailers. These dealers then sell the devices to the ultimate Cricket customer, similar to
the sale made at a Cricket-owned store. Sales of devices to third-party dealers are recognized as equipment revenues
only when service is activated by customers, since the level of price reductions and commissions ultimately available
to such dealers is not reliably estimable until the devices are sold by such dealers to customers. Thus, revenues from
devices sold to third-party dealers are recorded as deferred equipment revenue and the related costs of the devices are
recorded as deferred charges upon shipment of the devices by us. The deferred charges are recognized as equipment
costs when the related equipment revenue is recognized, which occurs when service is activated by the customer.

Through another third-party provider, our customers may elect to participate in an extended warranty program for
devices they purchase. We recognize revenue on replacement devices sold to our customers under the program when
the customer purchases the device.
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We participate in the federal government's Lifeline program and are designated as an eligible telecommunications
carrier in certain states in which we provide wireless services. Under this program, we offer discounted wireless
services to qualified customers and generally receive reimbursement for a portion of the subsidized services. We
recognize revenue under this program only after amounts eligible for reimbursement have been determined and
services have been rendered.

Sales incentives offered to customers and commissions and sales incentives offered to our third-party dealers are
recognized as a reduction of revenue when the related service or equipment revenue is recognized. Customers have
limited rights to return devices and accessories based on time and/or usage, and customer returns of devices and
accessories have historically been insignificant.

Amounts that are billed in advance of customers' wireless service periods are not reflected in accounts receivable or
deferred revenue since collectability of such amounts is not reasonably assured. Deferred revenue consists primarily of
cash received from
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customers in advance of their service period and deferred equipment revenue related to devices sold to third-party
dealers, including nationwide retailers.

Universal Service Fund, E-911 and other telecommunications-related regulatory fees are assessed by various federal
and state governmental agencies in connection with the services that we provide to our customers. The service plans
we currently offer are "all-inclusive" of telecommunications and regulatory fees, in that we do not separately bill and
collect amounts owed and remitted to government agencies from our customers. For our legacy service plans, which
are not "all-inclusive," we separately bill and collect from our customers amounts owed and remitted to government
agencies. Regulatory fees and telecommunications taxes separately billed and collected from our customers are
recorded in service revenues. Amounts owed to government agencies are recorded in cost of service. During the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the total amount of regulatory fees and telecommunications taxes
separately billed and collected from customers and recorded in service revenues was $2.6 million, $9.4 million and
$32.6 million, respectively. Sales, use and excise taxes for all service plans are reported on a net basis.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The authoritative guidance for fair value measurements defines fair value for accounting purposes, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value and provides disclosure requirements regarding fair value measurements. The
guidance defines fair value as an exit price, which is the price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid
upon transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The degree
of judgment utilized in measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities generally correlates to the level of pricing
observability. Assets and liabilities with readily available, actively quoted prices or for which fair value can be
measured from actively quoted prices in active markets generally have more pricing observability and require less
judgment in measuring fair value. Conversely, assets and liabilities that are rarely traded or not quoted have less
pricing observability and are generally measured at fair value using valuation models that require more judgment.
These valuation techniques involve some level of management estimation and judgment, the degree of which is
dependent on the price transparency of the asset, liability or market and the nature of the asset or liability. We have
categorized our assets and liabilities measured at fair value into a three-level hierarchy in accordance with the
guidance for fair value measurements.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation of property and equipment is applied using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of our
assets once the assets are placed in service. The following table summarizes the depreciable lives for property and
equipment (in years):

Depreciable
Life

Network equipment:
  Switches 5-10
  Switch power equipment 15
  Cell site equipment and site improvements 5-7
  Towers 15
  Antennae 5
Computer hardware and software 3-5
Furniture, fixtures, retail and office equipment 3-7

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
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We assess potential impairments to our long-lived assets, including property and equipment and certain intangible
assets, when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that their respective carrying values
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss may be required to be recognized when the undiscounted cash flows
expected to be generated by a long-lived asset (or group of such assets) is less than its carrying value. Any required
impairment loss would be measured as the amount by which the asset's carrying value exceeds its fair value and would
be recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and charged to results of operations.

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, we determined that certain amounts capitalized were no longer
recoverable, and as such, recorded impairment charges of approximately $19.8 million and $13.6 million,
respectively, reducing the carrying
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value of those capitalized amounts to zero. There were no other events or circumstances that occurred during the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 that indicated the carrying value of any long-lived assets may not be
recoverable.

Impairment of Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

We assess potential impairments to our indefinite-lived intangible assets, including wireless licenses and goodwill, on
an annual basis or when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate an impairment condition
may exist. Our annual impairment test is conducted each year during the third quarter. We adopted Accounting
Standards Update No. 2012-02, "Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment," or ASU 2012-02, in the
first quarter of 2013. ASU 2012-02 simplified the requirements for testing indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment and permits an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform a
quantitative fair value test.

Wireless Licenses

We hold PCS, AWS and 700MHz wireless licenses granted by the FCC that are specific to a particular geographic
area on spectrum that has been allocated by the FCC for such services. Wireless licenses are initially recorded at cost
and are not amortized. Although FCC licenses are issued with a stated term (ten years in the case of PCS and 700MHz
licenses and fifteen years in the case of AWS licenses), wireless licenses are considered to be indefinite-lived
intangible assets because we expect to provide wireless service using the relevant licenses for the foreseeable future.
PCS, AWS and 700MHz licenses are routinely renewed for either no or a nominal fee and we have determined that no
legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or other factors currently exist that limit the useful lives of our
wireless licenses. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the remaining useful lives of our indefinite-lived wireless licenses
to determine whether events and circumstances, such as legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or other
factors, continue to support an indefinite useful life. If a wireless license is subsequently determined to have a finite
useful life, we would first test the wireless license for impairment and the wireless license would then be amortized
prospectively over its estimated remaining useful life. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the carrying value of our
wireless licenses (excluding assets held for sale) was $2.1 billion and $1.9 billion, respectively. Wireless licenses to be
disposed of by sale are carried at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less costs to sell. As of December 31,
2013, no wireless licenses were classified as assets held for sale. As of December 31, 2012, wireless licenses with
carrying values and fair values of $136.2 million and $143.0 million, respectively, were classified as assets held for
sale, as more fully described below in "-Liquidity and Capital Resources-Capital Expenditures, Significant
Acquisitions and Other Transactions."

For purposes of testing impairment, our wireless licenses in our operating markets are combined into a single unit of
account because we believe that utilizing these wireless licenses as a group represents the highest and best use of the
assets, and the value of the wireless licenses would not be significantly impacted by a sale of one or a portion of the
wireless licenses, among other factors. Our non-operating licenses are tested for impairment on an individual basis
because these licenses are not functioning as part of a group with licenses in our operating markets. As of
December 31, 2013, the carrying values of our operating and non-operating wireless licenses were $2,047.4 million
and $43.9 million, respectively.

In accordance with ASU 2012-02, for the 2013 annual impairment test, we elected to perform a qualitative assessment
to determine whether it would be more likely than not that our wireless licenses were impaired. We considered a
variety of relevant events and circumstances that could affect the significant inputs used to determine fair value, most
specifically, how the values of wireless licenses have generally increased over time. No adverse events or
circumstances were identified that would significantly affect the fair values of our wireless licenses. As a result, we
determined that it was more likely than not that our wireless licenses were not impaired, and therefore, we concluded
that a quantitative impairment test was not necessary.
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Subsequent to the 2013 annual impairment test of our wireless licenses, we evaluated whether any triggering events or
changes in circumstances had occurred that indicated that an impairment condition may exist. This evaluation
included consideration of whether there had been any significant adverse change in legal factors or in our business
climate, any adverse action or assessment by a regulator, unanticipated competition, loss of key personnel or likely
sale or disposal of all or a significant portion of an asset group. Based upon this evaluation, we concluded that no
triggering events or changes in circumstances had occurred.

In connection with our 2012 annual impairment test, the aggregate fair value and carrying value of our operating
wireless licenses (excluding assets held for sale) were $2,415.0 million and $1,745.7 million, respectively, as of
September 30, 2012. No impairment charges were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2012 or 2011 with
respect to our operating wireless licenses as the aggregate fair value of these licenses exceeded their aggregate
carrying value as of such dates. If the fair value of our operating wireless licenses had declined by 10%, we would not
have recognized any impairment loss.
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In connection with our 2012 annual impairment test, the aggregate fair value and carrying value of our non-operating
wireless licenses (excluding assets held for sale) were $77.9 million and $42.6 million, respectively, as of
September 30, 2012. We did not record any impairment charges during the year ended December 31, 2012 to reduce
the carrying value of any non-operating wireless license to its estimated fair value. If the fair value of our
non-operating wireless licenses had each declined by 10%, we would have recognized an impairment loss of
approximately $0.1 million.

We recorded an impairment charge of $0.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2011 to reduce the carrying
values of certain non-operating wireless licenses to their estimated fair values.

Goodwill

We record the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in a business combination as
goodwill. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as well as when an event or change in circumstance indicates an
impairment may have occurred. As further discussed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill is
tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of our single reporting unit to its carrying amount to determine if
there is a potential goodwill impairment. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an
impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the implied fair value of the goodwill of the reporting unit is less than its
carrying value.

During the third quarter of each year, we assess our goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level by applying a
fair value test. This fair value test involves a two-step process. The first step is to compare the carrying value of our
net assets to their fair value. If the fair value is determined to be less than the carrying value, a second step is
performed to measure the amount of the impairment, if any.

In connection with our annual impairment testing of goodwill in 2013, we based the determination of fair value
primarily upon our average market capitalization for the month of August 2013, which inherently included an
assumed control premium due to the proposed Merger with AT&T. Our average market capitalization is calculated
based upon the average number of shares of Leap common stock outstanding during such month and the average
closing price of Leap common stock during such month. We considered the month of August to be an appropriate
period over which to measure average market capitalization in 2013 because trading prices during that period reflected
market reaction to our most recently announced financial and operating results, as well as the proposed Merger.

As of December 31, 2013, the carrying value of our goodwill was $31.9 million. Based upon our annual impairment
test conducted during the third quarter of 2013, the value of our net assets as of August 31, 2013 was $58.4 million
and our fair value, based upon our average market capitalization during the month of August, was $1,267.1 million.
As such, we determined that no impairment condition existed and that we were not required to perform the second
step of the goodwill impairment test.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, we evaluated whether any triggering events or changes in circumstances had occurred
subsequent to the annual impairment test conducted in the third quarter of 2013. As part of this evaluation, we
considered whether there had been any events or circumstances that would indicate it was more likely than not that
our carrying value exceeded our fair value. Based on this evaluation, we determined that there had not been any
triggering events or changes in circumstances that indicated an impairment condition existed as of December 31,
2013. Had we concluded that a triggering event had occurred as of such date, the first step of the goodwill impairment
test would have resulted in a determination that our fair value (based upon our average market capitalization during
the month of December, which included an assumed control premium due to the proposed Merger) exceeded the
carrying value of our net assets, and thus we would not have been required to perform any further impairment
evaluation.
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Based upon our annual impairment test conducted during the third quarter of 2012, the value of our net assets as of
August 31, 2012 was $527.5 million and our fair value, based upon our average market capitalization during the
month of August and an assumed control premium of 30%, was $573.5 million. We believe that consideration of a
control premium is customary in determining fair value and is contemplated by the applicable accounting guidance.
We believe that our consideration of a control premium was appropriate because we believe that our market
capitalization did not fully capture the fair value of our business as a whole or the additional amount an assumed
purchaser would pay to obtain a controlling interest in our company. We determined the amount of the control
premium as part of our third quarter 2012 testing based upon relevant transactional experience and an assessment of
market, economic and other factors. As such, we determined that no impairment condition existed and that we were
not required to perform the second step of the goodwill impairment test.
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Income Taxes

We calculate income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves calculating the
current tax expense or benefit and any deferred income tax expense or benefit resulting from temporary differences
arising from differing treatments of items for tax and accounting purposes. These temporary differences result in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are also established for the expected future tax benefits to be
derived from our NOL carryforwards, capital loss carryforwards and income tax credits.

We periodically assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recoverable from future taxable income. To
the extent we believe it is more likely than not that our deferred tax assets will not be recovered, we must establish a
valuation allowance. As part of this periodic assessment for the year ended December 31, 2013, we weighed the
positive and negative factors and, at this time, we do not believe there is sufficient positive evidence to support a
conclusion that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of our deferred tax assets will be realized, except with
respect to the realization of a $1.8 million Texas Margins Tax, or TMT, credit. Accordingly, at December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, we recorded a valuation allowance offsetting substantially all of our deferred tax assets. We will
continue to monitor the positive and negative factors to assess whether we are required to continue to maintain a
valuation allowance. At such time as we determine that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred
tax assets are realizable, the valuation allowance will be reduced or released in its entirety, with the corresponding
benefit reflected in our tax provision. Deferred tax liabilities associated with wireless licenses and investments in
certain joint ventures cannot be considered a source of taxable income to support the realization of deferred tax assets
because these deferred tax liabilities will not reverse until some indefinite future period when these assets are either
sold or impaired for book purposes.

We have substantial federal and state NOLs for income tax purposes. Subject to certain requirements, we may "carry
forward" our federal NOLs for up to 20 years to offset future taxable income and reduce our income tax liability. For
state income tax purposes, the NOL carryforward period ranges from five to 20 years. As of December 31, 2013, we
had federal and state NOLs of approximately $3.1 billion and $2.3 billion, respectively, which begin to expire in 2022
for federal income tax purposes and of which $92.8 million will expire at the end of 2014 for state income tax
purposes. While these NOL carryforwards have a potential to be used to offset future ordinary taxable income and
reduce future cash tax liabilities by approximately $1.2 billion, our ability to utilize these NOLs will depend upon the
availability of future taxable income during the carryforward period and, as such, there is no assurance we will be able
to realize such tax savings.

Our ability to utilize NOLs could be further limited if we were to experience an "ownership change," as defined in
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. In general terms, an ownership change can
occur whenever there is a collective shift in the ownership of a company by more than 50 percentage points by one or
more "5% stockholders" within a three-year period. The occurrence of such a change generally limits the amount of
NOL carryforwards a company could utilize in a given year to the aggregate fair market value of the company's
common stock immediately prior to the ownership change, multiplied by the long-term tax-exempt interest rate in
effect for the month of the ownership change.

In 2011, trading in Leap common stock increased the risk of an ownership change under Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code. Accordingly, on August 30, 2011, our board of directors adopted a Tax Benefit Preservation Plan to
help deter acquisitions of Leap common stock that could result in an ownership change under Section 382 and thus
help preserve our ability to use our NOL carryforwards. The Tax Benefit Preservation Plan is designed to deter
acquisitions of Leap common stock that would result in a stockholder owning 4.99% or more of Leap common stock
(as calculated under Section 382), or any existing holder of 4.99% or more of Leap common stock acquiring
additional shares, by substantially diluting the ownership interest of any such stockholder unless the stockholder
obtains an exemption from our board of directors.
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None of our NOL carryforwards are being considered as an uncertain tax position or disclosed as an unrecognized tax
benefit. Any carryforwards that expire prior to utilization as a result of a Section 382 limitation will be removed from
deferred tax assets with a corresponding reduction to the valuation allowance. Since we currently maintain a full
valuation allowance against our federal and state NOL carryforwards, we do not expect that any possible limitation
would have a current impact on our results of operations.

In accordance with the authoritative guidance for business combinations, which became effective for us on January 1,
2009, any reduction in the valuation allowance, including the valuation allowance established in fresh-start reporting,
will be accounted for as a reduction of income tax expense.
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Our unrecognized income tax benefits and uncertain tax positions, as well as any associated interest and penalties, are
recorded through income tax expense; however, such amounts have not been significant in any period. All of our tax
years from 1998 to 2011 remain open to examination by federal and state taxing authorities. In July 2009, the federal
examination of our 2005 tax year, which was limited in scope, was concluded and the results did not have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Customer Recognition and Disconnect Policies

We recognize a new customer as a gross addition in the month that he or she activates a Cricket service. We recognize
a gross customer addition for each Cricket Wireless, Cricket Broadband and Cricket PAYGo line of service activated.

For our Cricket Wireless and Cricket Broadband services, the customer must pay his or her service amount by the
payment due date or his or her service will be suspended. These customers, however, may elect to purchase our
BridgePay service, which entitles them to an additional seven days of service. When service is suspended, the
customer is generally not able to make or receive calls or access the internet. Any call attempted by a suspended
customer is routed directly to our customer service center in order to arrange payment. If a new customer does not pay
all amounts due on the first bill he or she receives after initial activation within 30 days of the due date, the account is
disconnected and deducted from gross customer additions during the month in which the customer's service was
discontinued. If a customer has made payment on the first bill received after initial activation and in a subsequent
month does not pay all amounts due within 30 days of the due date, the account is disconnected and counted as churn.
For Cricket Wireless customers who have elected to use BridgePay to receive an additional seven days of service,
those customers must still pay all amounts otherwise due on their account within 30 days of the original due date or
their account will also be disconnected and counted as churn. Pay-in-advance customers who ask to terminate their
service are disconnected when their paid service period ends.

Customers for our Cricket PAYGo service generally have 60 days from the date they activated their account, were
charged a daily or monthly access fee for service or last "topped-up" their account (whichever is later) to do so again,
or they will have their account suspended for a subsequent 60-day period before being disconnected.

Customer turnover, frequently referred to as churn, is an important business metric in the telecommunications industry
because it can have significant financial effects. Because we do not require customers to sign fixed-term contracts or
pass a credit check, our service is available to a broad customer base and, as a result, some of our customers may be
more likely to have their service terminated due to an inability to pay.
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Results of Operations

Operating Items

The following tables summarize operating data for our consolidated operations (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,
Change from
Prior Year

2013
% of
Service
Revenues

2012
% of
Service
Revenues

Dollars Percent

Revenues:
Service revenues $2,630,554 $2,947,457 $(316,903 ) (10.8 )%
Equipment revenues 267,518 194,884 72,634 37.3  %
Total revenues 2,898,072 3,142,341 (244,269 ) (7.8 )%
Operating expenses:
Cost of service 999,965 38.0  % 1,034,167 35.1 % (34,202 ) (3.3 )%
Cost of equipment 871,399 33.1  % 816,226 27.7 % 55,173 6.8  %
Selling and marketing 276,604 10.5  % 349,970 11.9 % (73,366 ) (21.0 )%
General and administrative 357,323 13.6  % 348,934 11.8 % 8,389 2.4  %
Depreciation and amortization 594,341 22.6  % 625,596 21.2 % (31,255 ) (5.0 )%
Impairments and other charges 28,783 1.1  % 39,399 1.3 % (10,616 ) (26.9 )%
Total operating expenses 3,128,415 118.9  % 3,214,292 109.1 % (85,877 ) (2.7 )%
Gain on sale, exchange or
disposal of assets, net 5,427 0.2  % 229,714 7.8 % (224,287 ) (97.6 )%

Operating income (loss) $(224,916 ) (8.6 )% $157,763 5.4 % $(382,679 ) *
* Percentage change is not meaningful.
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Year Ended December 31,
Change from
Prior Year

2012
% of
Service
Revenues

2011
% of
Service
Revenues

Dollars Percent

Revenues:
Service revenues $2,947,457 $2,829,281 $118,176 4.2  %
Equipment revenues 194,884 241,850 (46,966 ) (19.4 )%
Total revenues 3,142,341 3,071,131 71,210 2.3  %
Operating expenses:
Cost of service 1,034,167 35.1 % 981,203 34.7  % 52,964 5.4  %
Cost of equipment 816,226 27.7 % 817,920 28.9  % (1,694 ) (0.2 )%
Selling and marketing 349,970 11.9 % 369,257 13.1  % (19,287 ) (5.2 )%
General and administrative 348,934 11.8 % 355,529 12.6  % (6,595 ) (1.9 )%
Depreciation and amortization 625,596 21.2 % 548,426 19.4  % 77,170 14.1  %
Impairments and other charges 39,399 1.3 % 26,770 0.9  % 12,629 47.2  %
Total operating expenses 3,214,292 109.1 % 3,099,105 109.5  % 115,187 3.7  %
Gain on sale, exchange or
disposal of assets, net 229,714 7.8 % 2,622 0.1  % 227,092 *

Operating income (loss) $157,763 5.4 % $(25,352 ) (0.9 )% $183,115 *
* Percentage change is not meaningful.

The following tables summarize customer activity:
Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Gross customer additions 1,519,833 2,334,383 2,991,352
Net customer additions (losses) (745,297 ) (637,229 ) 415,834
Weighted-average number of customers 4,886,943 5,799,493 5,724,152
Total customers, end of period 4,551,484 5,296,784 5,934,013

Gross Customer Additions

Gross customer additions for the year ended December 31, 2013 were 1,519,833 compared to 2,334,383 for the prior
year. The 34.9% decrease in the number of gross customer additions was primarily attributable to intensified
competition in our markets (particularly from T-Mobile's MetroPCS brand and from other nationwide carriers who are
increasingly targeting the prepaid segment), increasing customer demand for 4G data services and increased handset
pricing.

Gross customer additions for the year ended December 31, 2012 were 2,334,383 compared to 2,991,352 for the prior
year. The 22.0% decrease in the number of gross customer additions was primarily attributable to increased
competition and overall softness in the wireless industry. Additional contributors to the decrease in the number of
gross customer additions included higher pricing on our devices, promotional activities that did not perform as
expected, certain device quality and selection issues, our continued de-emphasis of Cricket Broadband,
discontinuation of our daily PAYGo product and a narrowed focus on fewer nationwide retail partners.

Net Customer Additions (Losses)

Net customer losses for the year ended December 31, 2013 were 745,297 compared to 637,229 for the prior year. The
change was primarily due to the decrease in gross customer additions discussed above and fewer reactivating
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customers, partially offset by lower churn.
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Net customer losses for the year ended December 31, 2012 were 637,229 compared to net customer additions of
415,834 for the prior year. The change was primarily due to the decrease in gross customer additions discussed above
and higher churn levels.

Service Revenues

Service revenues decreased $316.9 million, or 10.8%, for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the prior
year. This decrease resulted from a 15.7% decrease in weighted-average number of customers, partially offset by a
6.1% increase in ARPU, primarily due to increased uptake of higher-priced service plans for our smartphones and
Muve Music service.

Service revenues increased $118.2 million, or 4.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the prior
year. This increase resulted from a 1.3% increase in the weighted-average number of customers and a 3.7% increase in
ARPU, primarily due to increased uptake of higher-priced service plans for our smartphones and Muve Music service.

Equipment Revenues

Equipment revenues increased $72.6 million, or 37.3%, for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the prior
year. This increase resulted primarily from a 76.8% increase in average revenue per device sold due to uptake of our
higher-priced devices, partially offset by a 22.4% decrease in the number of devices sold to new and upgrading
customers, lower revenues from our handset protection programs and an increase in promotional activities.

Equipment revenues decreased $47.0 million, or 19.4%, for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the prior
year, primarily due to an 8.9% decrease in the number of devices sold to new and upgrading customers, which was
primarily due to our decreased gross customer additions in 2012, as discussed above.

Cost of Service

Cost of service decreased $34.2 million, or 3.3%, for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the prior year.
The decrease was primarily attributable to lower variable product costs associated with a 15.7% decrease in the
weighted-average number of customers, partially offset by an increase in costs associated with our Muve Music
service. As a percentage of service revenues, such expenses increased to 38.0% from 35.1% in the prior year, which
was primarily due to our fixed network costs and the decrease in the size of our customer base.

Cost of service increased $53.0 million, or 5.4%, for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the prior year.
As a percentage of service revenues, such expenses increased to 35.1% from 34.7% in the prior year. Principal factors
contributing to the increase in cost of service were the inclusion of Muve Music in service plans for our
Android-based smartphones and increased roaming costs in connection with our unlimited nationwide service plans.

Cost of Equipment

Cost of equipment increased $55.2 million, or 6.8%, for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the prior
year. This increase was primarily due to increased uptake of our higher-priced devices, partially offset by a decrease in
the number of devices sold to new and upgrading customers discussed above.

Cost of equipment decreased $1.7 million, or 0.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the prior year,
primarily due to an 8.9% decrease in the number of devices sold, partially offset by a 9.6% increase in the average
cost per device sold.
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Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses decreased $73.4 million, or 21.0%, for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared
to the prior year, largely due to lower spending on traditional media in connection with our cost management
initiatives and a reduction in the amount we were required by Apple to spend on iPhone-related marketing activities.
As a percentage of service revenues, selling and marketing expenses decreased to 10.5% from 11.9% in the prior year.

Selling and marketing expenses decreased $19.3 million, or 5.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to
the prior year. As a percentage of service revenues, such expenses decreased to 11.9% from 13.1% in the prior year.
This percentage decrease
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was largely attributable to the increase in service revenues and the decrease in selling costs primarily due to the sale
and transfer of select company-owned retail locations to indirect dealers, which lowered our fixed costs associated
with store facilities and employee-related costs. These decreases were partially offset by the increase in advertising
expense in the third quarter of 2012 associated with the launch of our new devices and service plans.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased $8.4 million, or 2.4%, for the year ended December 31, 2013
compared to the prior year. As a percentage of service revenues, such expenses increased to 13.6% from 11.8% in the
prior year. These increases were largely attributable to $21.3 million of expenses incurred in connection with the
proposed Merger with AT&T. Excluding Merger-related expenses, general and administrative expenses were $336.1
million and decreased $12.9 million or 3.7% from the prior year. This decrease reflects continued benefits from our
cost-management initiatives, partially offset by increased compensation expense associated with certain employee
benefits. As a percentage of service revenues, excluding Merger-related expenses, general and administrative expenses
increased to 12.8% from 11.8% in the prior year, primarily due to the decrease in the size of our customer base.

General and administrative expenses decreased $6.6 million, or 1.9%, for the year ended December 31, 2012
compared to the prior year. As a percentage of service revenues, such expenses decreased to 11.8% from 12.6% in the
prior year, primarily due to continued benefits from our cost-management initiatives and the increase in service
revenues.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $31.3 million, or 5.0%, for the year ended December 31, 2013
compared to the prior year. The changes in depreciation and amortization expense were driven primarily by reduced
levels of capital expenditures and assets reaching the end of their depreciable lives.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $77.2 million, or 14.1%, for the year ended December 31, 2012
compared to the prior year. The increase in depreciation and amortization expense was due primarily to network
upgrades, which related, in part, to our deployment of next-generation LTE technology.

Impairments and Other Charges

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we incurred approximately $28.8 million in impairments and other
charges, primarily related to write-offs of capitalized amounts related to internal corporate infrastructure projects that
were no longer recoverable and contract termination and lease exit costs.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we incurred approximately $39.4 million in impairments and other charges
related to reducing our cost structure and exiting certain activities. During the third quarter of 2012, we recorded
approximately $14.8 million in severance expenses and related costs to implement our plan to reduce administrative
and corporate support costs through a reduction in personnel. Additionally, in connection with our plans to reduce our
previously planned network expansion activities and overall capital expenditures, certain plans for network design,
site acquisition and internal corporate programming and development were canceled. Therefore, we determined that
certain capitalized amounts were no longer recoverable, and as such, we recorded an impairment charge of $13.6
million, writing the carrying value of those capitalized amounts down to zero. Additionally, in connection with the
reduction in network expansion activities, we recognized restructuring charges of approximately $11.0 million,
primarily related to lease exit costs associated with cell sites that were no longer being developed or utilized.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we incurred approximately $26.4 million of integration charges relating
primarily to certain leased cell site and retail store locations contributed to our joint venture STX Wireless in the
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South Texas region that it no longer uses. 

No impairment charges were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2013 or 2012 with respect to our wireless
licenses. As a result of our annual impairment testing of our wireless licenses conducted during the third quarter of
2011, we recorded impairment charges of $0.4 million to reduce the carrying value of certain non-operating wireless
licenses to their fair value. No such impairment charges were recorded with respect to our operating wireless licenses,
as the aggregate fair values of these licenses exceeded their aggregate carrying value.
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Gain on Sale, Exchange or Disposal of Assets, Net

Gain on sale, exchange or disposal of assets, net reflects the net gain or loss recognized upon the disposal of certain of
our property and equipment and wireless licenses. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recognized a net
gain of $5.4 million. We recorded a gain of $4.2 million in connection with the sale of a wireless license, a gain of
$6.8 million in connection with the exchange of various wireless licenses with a subsidiary of T-Mobile USA, Inc., or
T-Mobile, and Verizon Wireless, and a gain of $2.8 million in connection with the sale of various patents. For more
information regarding these transactions, see the discussion below under "Liquidity and Capital Resources - Capital
Expenditures, Significant Acquisitions and Other Transactions." These gains were partially offset by a loss of
approximately $8.4 million relating to the disposal of certain property and equipment.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we recognized a net gain of $229.7 million. We recorded a gain of
approximately $236.8 million related to the sale of spectrum to Verizon Wireless and exchange of spectrum with
T-Mobile. This gain was partially offset by a loss of approximately $7.2 million relating to the disposal of certain
property and equipment.

We recognized a net gain of $2.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2011. We recognized a non-cash gain
on the exchange of wireless licenses of $20.5 million. Offsetting this gain were losses recognized on the disposal of
certain of our property and equipment during the year.

Non-Operating Items

The following tables summarize non-operating data for our consolidated operations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 Change

Equity in net loss of investees, net $(10,558 ) $(464 ) $(10,094 )
Interest income 362 194 168
Interest expense (249,784 ) (268,232 ) 18,448
Loss on extinguishment of debt (72,988 ) (18,634 ) (54,354 )
Income tax expense (45,569 ) (57,904 ) 12,335

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 Change

Equity in net income (loss) of investees, net $(464 ) $2,984 $(3,448 )
Interest income 194 245 (51 )
Interest expense (268,232 ) (256,175 ) (12,057 )
Other expense, net — (2 ) 2
Loss on extinguishment of debt (18,634 ) — (18,634 )
Income tax expense (57,904 ) (39,377 ) (18,527 )

Equity in Net Income (Loss) of Investees, Net

Equity in net income (loss) of investees, net reflects our share of net income or losses of regional wireless service
providers in which we hold investments. Since inception of our investment in these equity investees through
December 31, 2013, we had made total contributions to these equity method investees of $23.0 million and received
dividends from the investments of $18.2 million.
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We review our investments accounted for under the equity method for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the investments may not be fully recoverable. The Merger
Agreement with AT&T requires that we sell our investments in these regional wireless service providers, and in the
third quarter of 2013 we commenced a plan to sell those investments. As the investments met all of the criteria under
the authoritative guidance to be classified as assets held for sale, we reclassified the investments to assets held for sale
as of September 30, 2013. We are required to assess the fair value
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of the investments at each period end. Accordingly, we determined that an other-than-temporary impairment existed at
September 30, 2013 and December 30, 2013. As a result, we recorded impairment charges totaling $9.2 million to
reduce the carrying value of our equity method investment to its estimated fair value of zero at December 31, 2013. In
March 2014, we completed the sale of our investment in one of our equity method investees for a contingent fee of up
to $5.0 million.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased $18.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the prior year. The
decrease in interest expense resulted primarily from the refinancing in October 2012 of our $300 million in aggregate
principal amount of 10% senior notes due 2015 with the $400 million senior secured B term loan facility under the
Credit Agreement, and the refinancing in April 2013 of our $1,100 million in aggregate principal amount of 7.75%
senior secured notes due 2016, or the Secured Notes, with the $1,425 million senior secured C term loan facility under
the Credit Agreement, which term loan facilities bear interest at a lower rate, partially offset by a higher principal
amount of long-term debt outstanding following such refinancings.

Interest expense increased $12.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the prior year. The
increase in interest expense resulted primarily from our issuance of $400 million of additional 7.75% senior notes due
2020 in May 2011, as well as interest expense related to our entry into additional capital leases.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

During the year end December 31, 2013, we recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $73.0 million, $72.8
million of which related to the redemption of the Secured Notes and the satisfaction and discharge of the associated
indenture in April 2013 and $0.2 million of which related to the purchase of $1.8 million in aggregate principal
amount of 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2014 in April 2013.

On October 10, 2012, in connection with our entry into the Credit Agreement, we issued a notice of redemption to
redeem all of our 10% unsecured senior notes due 2015 in accordance with the optional redemption provisions
governing the notes at a redemption price of 105% of the principal amount of outstanding notes, plus accrued and
unpaid interest to the redemption date. On November 9, 2012, we completed the redemption for a total cash payment
of $324.5 million and the indenture governing the notes was satisfied and discharged in accordance with its terms. As
a result of this redemption, we recognized an $18.6 million loss on extinguishment of debt during the year ended
December 31, 2012, which was comprised of $15.0 million in redemption premium, $3.5 million in unamortized debt
issuance costs and $0.1 million in professional fees.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we did not have any extinguishment of debt.

Income Tax Expense

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded income tax expense of $45.6 million compared to income tax
expense of $57.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. The $12.3 million decrease in income tax expense
was primarily due to a $2.2 million increase in tax expense associated with the amortization of wireless licenses,
offset by a $3.1 million decrease in tax expense from the deferred tax effects of our investment in STX Wireless, a
nonrecurring $18.3 million decrease in tax expense associated with the reversal of deferred tax liabilities related to our
wireless licenses, and a $7.3 million increase in tax expense due to a nonrecurring tax benefit realized in the prior year
associated with the reversal of deferred tax liabilities related to our former investment in Savary Island Wireless, LLC,
or Savary Island. Both nonrecurring items were primarily associated with the spectrum transactions that were
consummated with Verizon Wireless in August 2012 and with T-Mobile in October 2012.
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During the year ended December 31, 2012, we recorded income tax expense of $57.9 million compared to income tax
expense of $39.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. The $18.5 million increase in income tax expense
was primarily due to a $2.5 million increase in tax expense associated with the amortization of wireless licenses, a
$5.7 million increase in tax expense from the deferred tax effects of our investment in STX Wireless, and a
nonrecurring $19.9 million increase of tax expense associated with the reversal of deferred tax liabilities related to our
wireless licenses, partially offset by a nonrecurring $9.5 million net tax benefit associated with the reversal of deferred
tax liabilities related to our former investment in Savary Island. Both nonrecurring items were primarily associated
with the spectrum transactions that were consummated with Verizon Wireless in August 2012 and with T-Mobile in
October 2012.
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Unrestricted Subsidiaries

In July 2011, Leap's board of directors designated Cricket Music Holdco, LLC (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cricket,
or Cricket Music) and Cricket Music's wholly-owned subsidiary Muve USA, LLC, or Muve USA, as "Unrestricted
Subsidiaries" under the indentures governing our senior notes. Cricket Music, Muve USA and their subsidiaries are
also designated as "Unrestricted Subsidiaries" under the Credit Agreement. Cricket Music and Muve USA hold certain
hardware, software and intellectual property relating to our Muve Music service. During the year ended December 31,
2012, Cricket Music, Muve USA and their subsidiaries had no operations or revenues. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, Muve USA and its subsidiaries commenced limited operations providing music distribution
services to TIM Celular S.A. in Brazil. During the year ended December 31, 2013, our unrestricted subsidiaries had
revenues and income tax expense of $410,000 and $82,000, respectively. Given the lack or limited scope of operations
during the relevant period, the most significant components of the financial position and results of operations of our
unrestricted subsidiaries were property and equipment and depreciation expense. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
property and equipment of our unrestricted subsidiaries was approximately $0.4 million and $4.9 million,
respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, depreciation expense of our unrestricted
subsidiaries was approximately $4.5 million, $4.5 million and $2.2 million, respectively, resulting in a net loss of
approximately $4.2 million, $4.5 million and $2.2 million, respectively.

Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following financial information reflects all normal recurring adjustments that are, in the opinion of management,
necessary for a fair statement of our results of operations for the interim periods presented (in thousands, except per
share data):

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2013

June 30,
2013

September 30,
2013

December 31,
2013

Revenues $789,858 $731,543 $693,992 $682,679
Operating loss (29,351 ) (7,558 ) (83,383 ) (104,624 )
Net loss (109,607 ) (156,353 ) (160,460 ) (177,033 )
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (111,312 ) (163,109 ) (185,409 ) (180,978 )
Basic loss per share attributable to common stockholders (1.43 ) (2.09 ) (2.37 ) (2.30 )
Diluted loss per share attributable to common
stockholders (1.43 ) (2.09 ) (2.37 ) (2.30 )

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012

June 30,
2012

September 30,
2012

December 31,
2012

Revenues $825,619 $786,772 $773,972 $755,978
Operating income (loss) (15,803 ) 31,589 81,409 60,568
Net income (loss) (94,334 ) (45,987 ) 26,868 (73,824 )
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders (98,439 ) (41,590 ) 25,015 (74,278 )
Basic income (loss) per share attributable to common
stockholders (1.28 ) (0.54 ) 0.32 (0.96 )

Diluted income (loss) per share attributable to common
stockholders (1.28 ) (0.54 ) 0.32 (0.96 )
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Quarterly Results of Operations Data (Unaudited)

The following table presents our unaudited condensed consolidated quarterly statement of operations data for 2013,
which has been derived from our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2013

June 30,
2013

September 30,
2013

December 31,
2013

Revenues:
Service revenues $684,622 $678,497 $646,272 $621,163
Equipment revenues 105,236 53,046 47,720 61,516
Total revenues 789,858 731,543 693,992 682,679
Operating expenses:
Cost of service (exclusive of items shown separately
below) 250,858 249,371 252,144 247,592

Cost of equipment 258,968 183,658 197,150 231,623
Selling and marketing 78,838 69,397 69,868 58,501
General and administrative 82,225 83,402 103,014 88,682
Depreciation and amortization 152,573 150,856 148,630 142,282
Impairments and other charges 735 4,287 8,608 15,153
Total operating expenses 824,197 740,971 779,414 783,833
Gain (loss) on sale, exchange or disposal of assets, net 4,988 1,870 2,039 (3,470 )
Operating loss (29,351 ) (7,558 ) (83,383 ) (104,624 )
Equity in net income (loss) of investees, net (1,158 ) 1,696 (8,005 ) (3,091 )
Interest income 47 58 75 182
Interest expense (64,725 ) (66,851 ) (59,219 ) (58,989 )
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (72,988 ) — —
Loss before income taxes (95,187 ) (145,643 ) (150,532 ) (166,522 )
Income tax expense (14,420 ) (10,710 ) (9,928 ) (10,511 )
Net loss (109,607 ) (156,353 ) (160,460 ) (177,033 )
Accretion of redeemable non-controlling interests, net of
tax (1,705 ) (6,756 ) (24,949 ) (3,945 )

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $(111,312 ) $(163,109 ) $(185,409 ) $(180,978 )

Performance Measures

In managing our business and assessing our financial performance, management supplements the information
provided by financial statement measures with several customer-focused performance metrics that are widely used in
the telecommunications industry. These metrics include ARPU, which measures average service revenue per
customer; CPGA, which measures the average cost of acquiring a new customer; cash costs per user per month, or
CCU, which measures the non-selling cash cost of operating our business on a per customer basis; churn, which
measures turnover in our customer base; and adjusted operating income before depreciation and amortization, or
OIBDA, which measures operating performance. ARPU, CPGA, CCU and adjusted OIBDA are non-GAAP financial
measures. A non-GAAP financial measure, within the meaning of Item 10 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the
SEC, is a numerical measure of a company's financial performance or cash flows that (a) excludes amounts, or is
subject to adjustments that have the effect of excluding amounts, which are included in the most directly comparable
measure calculated and presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the consolidated
balance sheets, consolidated statements of comprehensive income or consolidated statements of cash flows; or
(b) includes amounts, or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of including amounts, which are excluded from
the most directly comparable measure so calculated and presented. See "Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial
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Measures" below for a reconciliation of ARPU, CPGA, CCU and adjusted OIBDA to the most directly comparable
GAAP financial measures.
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ARPU is service revenues, less pass-through regulatory fees and telecommunications taxes, divided by the
weighted-average number of customers, divided by the number of months during the period being measured.
Management uses ARPU to identify average revenues per customer, to track changes in average customer revenues
over time, to help evaluate how changes in our business, including changes in our service offerings, affect average
revenues per customer, and to forecast future service revenues. In addition, ARPU provides management with a useful
measure to compare our subscriber revenue to that of other wireless communications providers. Our customers are
generally disconnected from service after a specified period following their failure to either pay a monthly bill or
replenish, or "top-up," their account. Because our calculation of weighted-average number of customers includes
customers who are not currently paying for service but who have not yet been disconnected from service because they
have not paid their last bill or have not replenished their account, ARPU may appear lower during periods in which we
have significant disconnect activity. We believe investors use ARPU primarily as a tool to track changes in our
average revenue per customer and to compare our per customer service revenues to those of other wireless
communications providers. Other companies may calculate this measure differently.

CPGA is selling and marketing costs (excluding applicable share-based compensation expense or benefit included in
selling and marketing expense), and equipment subsidy (generally defined as cost of equipment less equipment
revenue), less the net loss on equipment transactions and third-party commissions unrelated to customer acquisition,
divided by the total number of gross new customer additions during the period being measured. The net loss on
equipment transactions unrelated to customer acquisition includes the revenues and costs associated with the sale of
wireless devices to existing customers as well as costs associated with device replacements and repairs (other than
warranty costs, which are the responsibility of the device manufacturers). Third-party commissions unrelated to
customer acquisition are commissions paid to third parties for certain activities related to the continuing service of
customers. We deduct customers who do not pay the first bill they receive following initial activation from our gross
customer additions in the month in which they are disconnected, which tends to increase CPGA because we incur the
costs associated with a new customer without receiving the benefit of a gross customer addition. Management uses
CPGA to measure the efficiency of our customer acquisition efforts, to track changes in our average cost of acquiring
new subscribers over time, and to help evaluate how changes in our sales and distribution strategies affect the
cost-efficiency of our customer acquisition efforts. In addition, CPGA provides management with a useful measure to
compare our per customer acquisition costs with those of other wireless communications providers. We believe
investors use CPGA primarily as a tool to track changes in our average cost of acquiring new customers and to
compare our per customer acquisition costs to those of other wireless communications providers. Other companies
may calculate this measure differently.

CCU is cost of service and general and administrative costs (excluding applicable share-based compensation expense
or benefit included in cost of service and general and administrative expense) plus net loss on equipment transactions
and third-party commissions unrelated to customer acquisition (which includes the gain or loss on the sale of devices
to existing customers, costs associated with device replacements and repairs (other than warranty costs which are the
responsibility of the device manufacturers) and commissions paid to third parties for certain activities related to the
continuing service of customers), less pass-through regulatory fees and telecommunications taxes, divided by the
weighted-average number of customers, divided by the number of months during the period being measured. CCU
does not include any depreciation and amortization expense. Management uses CCU as a tool to evaluate the
non-selling cash expenses associated with ongoing business operations on a per customer basis, to track changes in
these non-selling cash costs over time, and to help evaluate how changes in our business operations affect non-selling
cash costs per customer. In addition, CCU provides management with a useful measure to compare our non-selling
cash costs per customer with those of other wireless communications providers. We believe investors use CCU
primarily as a tool to track changes in our non-selling cash costs over time and to compare our non-selling cash costs
to those of other wireless communications providers. Other companies may calculate this measure differently.

Churn, which measures customer turnover, is calculated as the net number of customers that disconnect from our
service divided by the weighted-average number of customers divided by the number of months during the period
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being measured. Customers who do not pay the first bill they receive following initial activation are deducted from
our gross customer additions in the month in which they are disconnected; as a result, these customers are not
included in churn. Customers of our Cricket Wireless and Cricket Broadband service are generally disconnected from
service approximately 30 days after failing to pay a monthly bill, and pay-in-advance customers who ask to terminate
their service are disconnected when their paid service period ends. Cricket PAYGo customers generally have 60 days
from the date they activated their account, were charged a daily or monthly access fee for service or last "topped-up"
their account (whichever is later) to do so again, or they will have their account suspended for a subsequent 60-day
period before being disconnected. Management uses churn to measure our retention of customers, to measure changes
in customer retention over time, and to help evaluate how changes in our business affect customer retention. In
addition, churn provides management with a useful measure to compare our customer turnover activity to that of other
wireless communications
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providers. We believe investors use churn primarily as a tool to track changes in our customer retention over time and
to compare our customer retention to that of other wireless communications providers. Other companies may calculate
this measure differently.

Adjusted OIBDA is a non-GAAP financial measure defined as operating income (loss) before depreciation and
amortization, adjusted to exclude the effects of: (gain)/loss on sale, exchange or disposal of assets, net; impairments
and other charges; and share-based compensation expense or benefit. Adjusted OIBDA should not be construed as an
alternative to operating income (loss) or net income (loss) as determined in accordance with GAAP, or as an
alternative to cash flows from operating activities as determined in accordance with GAAP or as a measure of
liquidity.

In a capital-intensive industry such as wireless telecommunications, management believes that adjusted OIBDA, and
the associated percentage margin calculations, are meaningful measures of our operating performance. We use
adjusted OIBDA as a supplemental performance measure because management believes it facilitates comparisons of
our operating performance from period to period and comparisons of our operating performance to that of other
companies by backing out potential differences caused by the age and book depreciation of fixed assets (affecting
relative depreciation expenses) as well as the items described above for which additional adjustments were made.
While depreciation and amortization are considered operating costs under GAAP, these expenses primarily represent
the non-cash current period allocation of costs associated with long-lived assets acquired or constructed in prior
periods. Because adjusted OIBDA facilitates internal comparisons of our historical operating performance,
management also uses this metric for business planning purposes and to measure our performance relative to that of
our competitors. In addition, we believe that adjusted OIBDA and similar measures are widely used by investors,
financial analysts and credit rating agencies as measures of our financial performance over time and to compare our
financial performance with that of other companies in our industry.

Adjusted OIBDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for
analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations include:

•it does not reflect capital expenditures;

•although it does not include depreciation and amortization, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often haveto be replaced in the future and adjusted OIBDA does not reflect cash requirements for such replacements;

•it does not reflect costs associated with share-based awards exchanged for employee services;

•it does not reflect the interest expense necessary to service interest or principal payments on indebtedness;

•it does not reflect expenses incurred for the payment of income taxes and other taxes; and

•other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate this measure differently than we do, limiting itsusefulness as a comparative measure.

Management understands these limitations and considers adjusted OIBDA as a financial performance measure that
supplements but does not replace the information provided to management by our GAAP results.

The following table shows metric information for 2013 (unaudited; in thousands, except for ARPU, CPGA, CCU, and
Churn):

Three Months Ended Year Ended
December 31,June 30, 2013
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2013March 31,
2013

September 30,
2013

December 31,
2013

ARPU $43.72 $44.89 $45.45 $45.30 $44.81
CPGA $317 $387 $319 $282 $321
CCU $26.36 $27.79 $31.64 $32.84 $29.52
Churn 3.6 % 4.3 % 4.0 % 3.5 % 3.9 %
Adjusted OIBDA $121,083 $148,786 $78,040 $60,310 $408,219
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We utilize certain financial measures, as described above, that are widely used in the telecommunications industry but
that are not calculated based on GAAP. Certain of these financial measures are considered "non-GAAP" financial
measures within the meaning of Item 10 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.

ARPU - The following table reconciles total service revenues used in the calculation of ARPU to service revenues,
which we consider to be the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to ARPU (unaudited; in thousands,
except weighted-average number of customers and ARPU):

Three Months Ended Year Ended
December 31,
2013

March 31,
2013

June 30,
2013

September 30,
2013

December 31,
2013

Service revenues $684,622 $678,497 $646,272 $621,163 $2,630,554
Less pass-through regulatory fees and
telecommunications taxes (855 ) (774 ) (614 ) (406 ) (2,649 )

Total service revenues used in the
calculation of ARPU $683,767 $677,723 $645,658 $620,757 $2,627,905

Weighted-average number of customers 5,213,605 5,031,930 4,734,846 4,567,388 4,886,943
ARPU $43.72 $44.89 $45.45 $45.30 $44.81

CPGA - The following table reconciles total costs used in the calculation of CPGA to selling and marketing expense,
which we consider to be the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to CPGA (unaudited; in thousands,
except gross customer additions and CPGA):

Three Months Ended Year Ended
December 31,
2013

March 31,
2013

June 30,
2013

September 30,
2013

December 31,
2013

Selling and marketing expense $78,838 $69,397 $69,868 $58,501 $276,604
Less share-based compensation expense
included in selling and marketing
expense

(111 ) (211 ) (270 ) (238 ) (830 )

Plus cost of equipment 258,968 183,658 197,150 231,623 871,399
Less equipment revenue (105,236 ) (53,046 ) (47,720 ) (61,516 ) (267,518 )
Less net loss on equipment transactions
and third-party commissions unrelated to
customer acquisition

(82,072 ) (90,385 ) (100,772 ) (117,921 ) (391,150 )

Total costs used in the calculation of
CPGA $150,387 $109,413 $118,256 $110,449 $488,505

Gross customer additions 473,881 283,066 370,971 391,915 1,519,833
CPGA $317 $387 $319 $282 $321
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CCU - The following table reconciles total costs used in the calculation of CCU to cost of service, which we consider
to be the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to CCU (unaudited; in thousands, except
weighted-average number of customers and CCU):

Three Months Ended Year Ended
December 31,
2013

March 31,
2013

June 30,
2013

September 30,
2013

December 31,
2013

Cost of service $250,858 $249,371 $252,144 $247,592 $999,965
Plus general and administrative expense 82,225 83,402 103,014 88,682 357,323
Less share-based compensation expense
included in cost of service and general
and administrative expense

(2,003 ) (2,860 ) (5,954 ) (3,791 ) (14,608 )

Plus net loss on equipment transactions
and third-party commissions unrelated
to customer acquisition

82,072 90,385 100,772 117,921 391,150

Less pass-through regulatory fees and
telecommunications taxes (855 ) (774 ) (614 ) (406 ) (2,649 )

Total costs used in the calculation of
CCU $412,297 $419,524 $449,362 $449,998 $1,731,181

Weighted-average number of customers 5,213,605 5,031,930 4,734,846 4,567,388 4,886,943
CCU $26.36 $27.79 $31.64 $32.84 $29.52

Adjusted OIBDA - The following table reconciles adjusted OIBDA to operating income (loss), which we consider to
be the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to adjusted OIBDA (unaudited; in thousands):

Three Months Ended Year Ended
December 31,
2013

March 31,
2013

June 30,
2013

September 30,
2013

December 31,
2013

Operating loss $(29,351 ) $(7,558 ) $(83,383 ) $(104,624 ) $(224,916 )
Plus depreciation and amortization 152,573 150,856 148,630 142,282 594,341
OIBDA $123,222 $143,298 $65,247 $37,658 $369,425
Less (gain) loss on sale, exchange or
disposal of assets, net (4,988 ) (1,870 ) (2,039 ) 3,470 (5,427 )

Plus impairments and other charges 735 4,287 8,608 15,153 28,783
Plus share-based compensation expense 2,114 3,071 6,224 4,029 15,438
Adjusted OIBDA $121,083 $148,786 $78,040 $60,310 $408,219

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Our principal sources of liquidity are our existing unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and
cash generated from operations. We had a total of $917.0 million in unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments as of December 31, 2013. We generated $128.8 million of net cash from operating activities during the
year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $240.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2012. The decrease
in net cash from operating activities was primarily attributable to the increase in our operating loss and changes in
working capital. We believe that our existing unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short term investments, together
with cash generated from operations, provide us with sufficient liquidity to meet the operating, capital and debt
service requirements for our current business operations and current investment initiatives until at least mid-2015.
Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to closing, we expect to complete the proposed Merger with
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AT&T no later than the end of the first quarter of 2014.

Our current investment initiatives include the ongoing maintenance, development and enhancement of our network
and other business assets, including improving the 3G and LTE network coverage and capacity in existing markets. To
date, we have covered
approximately 21 million POPs with next-generation LTE network technology. However, given the significant
decrease in the size of our customer base in recent quarters, our high level of indebtedness and the high cost of LTE
deployment, we have generally determined not to deploy LTE network technology in additional markets at this time.

We intend to be disciplined as we consider investment initiatives and to remain focused on our position as a low-cost
provider of wireless telecommunications services. Total capital expenditures for 2013 were $133.1 million. We
currently expect total capital expenditures for 2014 to be between $125 million and $175 million, although these
estimates will change significantly if we complete our proposed Merger with AT&T. For additional information
regarding our projected capital expenditures for the next several years, see the discussion below under "— Capital
Expenditures, Significant Acquisitions and Other Transactions."

In recent years, we have entered into agreements with significant purchase commitments, including an agreement with
Apple to purchase an estimated $800 million of iPhone devices between June 2012 and June 2015 and an agreement
with Sprint to purchase a minimum of $125 million of services between 2014 and 2015. Additional information
regarding our purchase agreements with Apple and Sprint and other significant contracts and commitments we have
entered into is set forth below under "— Capital Expenditures, Significant Acquisitions and Other Transactions."

We determine our future capital and operating requirements and liquidity based upon our current and projected
financial and operating performance, the scope of our investment initiatives and the extent of our contractual
commitments. The evolving competitive landscape has negatively impacted our financial and operating results in
recent quarters, as evidenced by a 26.5% reduction in the total number of our customers between March 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2013, which resulted in significant declines in our service revenues and cash generated from operations.
Our ability to remain competitive will depend, in part, on our ability to anticipate and respond to various competitive
factors, to provide LTE-based services and meet increasing customer demand for high data throughput speeds, and to
keep our costs low. If our proposed Merger with AT&T is not completed as expected, and if we are unable to
successfully respond to the competitive environment and we continue to lose customers at our current pace, we project
that we will need to generate additional capital resources by mid-2015. Under such circumstances, we expect that we
would seek to increase our liquidity prior to that time, for example, by significantly reducing operating activities and
associated operating expenses and significantly delaying or reducing capital expenditures. In addition, we could seek
to increase our liquidity through other actions, including selling assets, including spectrum not currently utilized in our
business operations or other business assets, or pursuing other capital or credit markets activities. However, there can
be no assurances that we would be successful in any such efforts or that any or all of these actions would be sufficient
to allow us to fund our liquidity needs. Furthermore, we currently have limited capacity to incur additional debt under
our Credit Agreement and the indenture governing Cricket's senior notes, and we do not forecast having increases in
such capacity in the near term or beyond. There are a number of risks and uncertainties (including those set forth in
"Part I - Item 1A. Risk Factors" of this report) that could cause our financial and operating results and capital or
liquidity requirements to differ materially from our projections. In particular, the evolving competitive landscape may
result in more competitive pricing, higher costs, lower customer additions and higher customer turnover than we
project, any of which results or actions could materially adversely impact our capital requirements and require that we
generate additional capital resources sooner than we currently project. As a result, failure to consummate the Merger,
or any significant delay in consummating the Merger, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We had $3,662 million in senior indebtedness outstanding as of December 31, 2013, which was comprised of $248
million in aggregate principal amount of 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2014, $1,600 million in aggregate
principal amount of 7.75% senior notes due 2020, and $1,814 million in aggregate principal amount of term loan
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borrowings outstanding under our Credit Agreement. We may from time to time seek to purchase outstanding 4.50%
convertible senior notes due 2014 through open-market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise.
Such purchases, if any, will depend on the consent of AT&T, prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements
and other factors.

Our significant outstanding indebtedness requires us to take actions to monitor and address potential risks in our
business that could materially affect our financial condition and performance. For example, in connection with our
financial and capital planning processes, we regularly review our business plans and forecasts to monitor our ability to
service our debt and to assess our capacity to incur additional debt under our Credit Agreement and the indenture
governing Cricket's senior notes. In addition, because borrowings under our Credit Agreement bear interest at a
floating rate, we review changes and trends in interest rates to evaluate possible hedging activities we could
implement, to the extent permitted by the Merger Agreement. Given our existing unrestricted cash, cash equivalents
and short-term investments, our expected cash generated from operations and the various actions we could take, if
necessary, to increase our liquidity as described above, we believe we have the ability to effectively manage our levels
of indebtedness and address risks to our business and financial condition related to our indebtedness.
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Cash Flows

The following table shows cash flow information for the three years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Net cash provided by operating activities 128,802 240,388 338,065
Net cash used in investing activities (358,759 ) (99,422 ) (730,531 )
Net cash provided by financing activities 245,652 29,341 386,919

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $111.6 million, or 46.4%, for the year ended December 31, 2013
compared to the prior year. This decrease was primarily attributable to the increase in our operating loss, which was
primarily attributable to our lower revenues due to our lower weighted-average number of customers.

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $97.7 million, or 28.9%, for the year ended December 31, 2012
compared to the prior year. This decrease was primarily attributable to changes in working capital.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $358.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2013, which included the
effects of the following transactions:

•We purchased $133.1 million of property and equipment for the ongoing maintenance, development and enhancement
of our network and other business assets.
•We made investment purchases of $770.8 million, offset by sales or maturities of investments of $543.8 million.
•We received approximately $9.7 million in net proceeds from the sale of wireless licenses and operating assets.
Net cash used in investing activities was $99.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2012, which included the
effects of the following transactions:

•We purchased $487.9 million of property and equipment for the ongoing maintenance, development and enhancement
of our network and other business assets.
•We made investment purchases of $367.5 million, offset by sales or maturities of investments of $613.6 million.
•We received approximately $154.1 million in net proceeds from the sale of wireless licenses and operating assets.
Net cash used in investing activities was $730.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, which included the
effects of the following transactions:

•We purchased $395.3 million of property and equipment for the ongoing maintenance, development and enhancement
of our network and other business assets.

•We made investment purchases of $826.2 million, offset by sales or maturities of investments of $487.9 million.

•
We received an $18.2 million dividend from one of our equity method investees on July 1, 2011, of which
approximately $11.6 million was reflected as cash from investing activities, as it represented a return of our original
investment.

Financing Activities
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Net cash provided by financing activities was $245.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, which included
the effects of the following transactions:
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•

We borrowed $1,425 million in aggregate principal amount of senior secured C term loans under our Credit
Agreement, which resulted in net proceeds of $1,414 million. The net proceeds were partially offset by the payments
to redeem all of our $1,100 million in aggregate principal amount of outstanding Secured Notes and to repurchase
$1.8 million of outstanding 4.5% convertible senior notes due 2014.

•We made approximately $33.3 million in distributions and loans to Pocket Communications, or Pocket, in connection
with our STX Wireless joint venture.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $29.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, which included
the effects of the following transactions:

•
We entered into a Credit Agreement with respect to a $400 million senior secured term loan facility, which resulted in
net proceeds of $396.0 million. The net proceeds from this borrowing were partially offset by the payment to redeem
all of our $300 million in aggregate principal amount of outstanding 10.0% unsecured senior notes due 2015.

•We made approximately $29.4 million in distributions and loans to Pocket in connection with our STX Wireless joint
venture.
•We repaid in full the remaining $21.9 million in principal amount of our non-negotiable promissory note.

•We made a payment of approximately $5.3 million to acquire all of the remaining membership interests we did not
previously own in Savary Island.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $386.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, which included
the effects of the following transactions:

•We issued $400 million of additional 7.75% senior notes due 2020, which resulted in net proceeds of $396.8 million.
•We prepaid approximately $23.6 million in principal amount of our non-negotiable promissory note.

•We received proceeds of approximately $25.8 million from the sale lease-back financing related to certain of our
telecommunications towers and related assets.

Credit Agreement

On October 10, 2012, Cricket entered into the Credit Agreement with respect to a $400 million senior secured B term
loan facility, which was fully drawn in October 2012 and matures in October 2019. B term loan borrowings under the
Credit Agreement must be repaid in 27 quarterly installments of $1.0 million each, which commenced on March 31,
2013, followed by a final installment of $373.0 million at maturity.

On March 8, 2013, Cricket amended the Credit Agreement to provide for an incremental $1,425 million senior
secured C term loan facility, which was fully drawn on April 15, 2013 and matures in March 2020. C term loan
borrowings under the Credit Agreement must be repaid in 26 quarterly installments of $3.6 million each, which
commenced on September 30, 2013, followed by a final installment of $1,332.4 million at maturity. Approximately
$1,185 million of the net proceeds from the C term loan facility were used to fund the redemption of all of the Secured
Notes (including accrued interest), as more fully described below. Remaining net proceeds may be used for general
corporate purposes.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $1,814 million in outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement. Outstanding
borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at the London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, plus 3.50%
(subject to a LIBOR floor of 1.25% per annum) or at the bank base rate plus 2.50% (subject to a base rate floor of
2.25% per annum), as selected by Cricket. At December 31, 2013, the weighted average effective interest rate on
outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement was 4.8%.
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Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by Leap and each of its existing and future wholly-owned
domestic subsidiaries (other than Cricket, which is the borrower) that guarantees any indebtedness of Leap, Cricket or
any subsidiary guarantor or that constitutes a "significant subsidiary" as defined in Regulation S-X under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (subject to certain exceptions).

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are effectively senior to all of Leap's, Cricket's and the guarantors' existing
and future unsecured indebtedness (including Cricket's $1,600 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes and,
in the case of Leap,
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Leap's $248.2 million aggregate principal amount of convertible senior notes), as well as to all of Leap's, Cricket's and
the guarantors' obligations under any permitted junior lien debt that may be incurred in the future, in each case to the
extent of the value of the collateral securing the obligations under the Credit Agreement.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are secured on a first-priority basis, equally and ratably with any future parity
lien debt that Leap, Cricket or the guarantors may incur, by liens on substantially all of the present and future personal
property of Leap, Cricket and the guarantors, except for certain excluded assets and subject to permitted liens
(including liens on the collateral securing any future permitted priority debt). Under the Credit Agreement, Leap,
Cricket and the guarantors are permitted to incur liens securing indebtedness for borrowed money in an aggregate
principal amount outstanding (including the aggregate principal amount outstanding under the Credit Agreement) of
up to the greater of $1,750 million and 3.5 times Leap's consolidated cash flow (excluding the consolidated cash flow
of Cricket Music) for the prior four fiscal quarters.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are effectively junior to all of Leap's, Cricket's and the guarantors' obligations
under any permitted priority debt that may be incurred in the future (up to the lesser of 0.30 times Leap's consolidated
cash flow (excluding the consolidated cash flow of STX Wireless and Cricket Music) for the prior four fiscal quarters
and $300 million in aggregate principal amount outstanding), to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such
permitted priority debt, as well as to existing and future liabilities of Leap's and Cricket's subsidiaries that are not
guarantors (including STX Wireless and Cricket Music and their respective subsidiaries). In addition, borrowings
under the Credit Agreement are senior in right of payment to any of Leap's, Cricket's and the guarantors' future
subordinated indebtedness.

Cricket has the right to prepay borrowings under the Credit Agreement, in whole or in part, at any time without
premium or penalty, except that prepayments of C term loans in connection with a repricing transaction occurring on
or prior to March 8, 2014 are subject to a prepayment premium of 1.00% of the principal amount of the borrowings so
prepaid.

Under the Credit Agreement, Leap and its restricted subsidiaries are subject to certain limitations, including
limitations on their ability to: incur additional debt or sell assets, make certain investments, grant liens and pay
dividends and make certain other restricted payments. In addition, Cricket will be required to pay down the facility
under certain circumstances if Leap and its restricted subsidiaries issue debt, sell assets or property, receive certain
extraordinary receipts or generate excess cash flow (as defined in the Credit Agreement).

The Credit Agreement also provides for an event of default upon the occurrence of a change of control, which is
defined to include the acquisition of beneficial ownership of 35% or more of Leap's equity securities (except for a
transaction where immediately after such transaction Leap will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of a person of which no
person or group is the beneficial owner of 35% or more of such person's voting stock), a sale of all or substantially all
of the assets of Leap and its restricted subsidiaries and a change in a majority of the members of Leap's board of
directors that is not approved by the board. The change in control resulting from the Merger would not constitute a
"change of control" as defined in the Credit Agreement because immediately after the transaction Leap would be a
wholly-owned subsidiary of a person of which no person or group is the beneficial owner of 35% or more of such
person's voting stock. If the indebtedness under the Credit Agreement was accelerated prior to maturity as a result of
such change of control, this would give rise to an event of default under the indentures governing our senior notes and
convertible notes.

Senior Notes

Discharge of Indenture and Loss on Extinguishment of Debt
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On April 15, 2013, in connection with Cricket's borrowing of C term loans under the Credit Agreement, Cricket issued
a notice of redemption to redeem all of the Secured Notes in accordance with the optional redemption provisions
governing the notes at a redemption price of 103.875% of the principal amount of outstanding notes, plus accrued and
unpaid interest to the redemption date of May 15, 2013. Also on April 15, 2013, Cricket deposited approximately
$1,185 million with the trustee for the Secured Notes to fund the redemption price (including accrued interest) and the
indenture governing the Secured Notes was satisfied and discharged in accordance with its terms. As a result of this
redemption, we recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $72.8 million during the year ended December 31,
2013, which was comprised of $42.6 million in redemption premium, $22.0 million in unamortized debt discount and
$8.2 million in unamortized debt issuance costs.

Convertible Senior Notes Due 2014

In June 2008, Leap issued $250 million of 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2014 in a private placement to
institutional buyers. The notes bear interest at the rate of 4.50% per year, payable semi-annually in cash in arrears,
which interest payments commenced in January 2009. The notes are Leap's general unsecured obligations and rank
equally in right of payment with all of Leap's existing

66

Edgar Filing: LEAP WIRELESS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10-K

132



and future senior unsecured indebtedness and senior in right of payment to all indebtedness that is contractually
subordinated to the notes. The notes are structurally subordinated to the existing and future claims of Leap's
subsidiaries' creditors, including under the Credit Agreement and the unsecured senior notes described below. The
notes are effectively junior to all of Leap's existing and future secured obligations, including those under the Credit
Agreement, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such obligations.

Holders may convert their notes into shares of Leap common stock at any time on or prior to the third scheduled
trading day prior to the maturity date of the notes, July 15, 2014. If, at the time of conversion, the applicable stock
price of Leap common stock is less than or equal to approximately $93.21 per share, the notes will be convertible into
10.7290 shares of Leap common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the notes (referred to as the "base conversion
rate"), subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events. If, at the time of conversion, the applicable stock
price of Leap common stock exceeds approximately $93.21 per share, the conversion rate will be determined pursuant
to a formula based on the base conversion rate and an incremental share factor of 8.3150 shares per $1,000 principal
amount of the notes, subject to adjustment. As set forth in the indenture governing the notes, following the
consummation of the Merger, holders would receive cash and CVRs upon conversion in lieu of shares of Leap
common stock.

Leap may be required to repurchase all outstanding notes in cash at a repurchase price of 100% of the principal
amount of the notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to the repurchase date if (1) any person acquires
beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, of shares of Leap's capital stock that would entitle the person to exercise
50% or more of the total voting power of all of Leap's capital stock entitled to vote in the election of directors,
(2) Leap (i) merges or consolidates with or into any other person, another person merges with or into Leap, or Leap
conveys, sells, transfers or leases all or substantially all of its assets to another person or (ii) engages in any
recapitalization, reclassification or other transaction in which all or substantially all of Leap common stock is
exchanged for or converted into cash, securities or other property, in each case subject to limitations and excluding in
the case of (1) and (2) any merger or consolidation where at least 90% of the consideration consists of shares of
common stock traded on NYSE, ASE or NASDAQ, (3) a majority of the members of Leap's board of directors ceases
to consist of individuals who were directors on the date of original issuance of the notes or whose election or
nomination for election was previously approved by the board of directors, (4) Leap is liquidated or dissolved or
holders of common stock approve any plan or proposal for its liquidation or dissolution or (5) shares of Leap common
stock are not listed for trading on any of the New York Stock Exchange, the NASDAQ Global Market or the
NASDAQ Global Select Market (or any of their respective successors). Leap may not redeem the notes at its option.
The Merger, if consummated, would trigger the right of holders of Leap's 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2014 to
require Leap to repurchase holders' notes at a repurchase price of 100% of the principal amount of the notes, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to the repurchase date.

On March 26, 2013, Leap launched a tender offer to purchase, for cash, any and all of its $250 million of 4.50%
convertible senior notes due 2014 at a purchase price of $1,005 per $1,000 principal amount of notes tendered plus
accrued interest. On April 23, 2013, we purchased $1.8 million in aggregate principal amount of unsecured
convertible senior notes due 2014 pursuant to the tender offer, which resulted in a loss on extinguishment of debt of
$0.2 million. We may from time to time seek to purchase outstanding 4.50% convertible senior notes due 2014
through open-market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Such purchases, if any, will depend on
the consent of AT&T, prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements and other factors.

Unsecured Senior Notes Due 2020

In November 2010, Cricket issued $1,200 million of 7.75% senior notes due 2020 in a private placement to
institutional buyers at an issue price of 98.323% of the principal amount, which were exchanged in January 2011 for
identical notes that had been registered with the SEC. The $20.1 million discount to the net proceeds we received in
connection with the issuance of the notes has been recorded in long-term debt, net in the consolidated financial
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statements and is being accreted as an increase to interest expense over the term of the notes. In May 2011, Cricket
issued an additional $400 million of 7.75% senior notes due 2020 in a private placement to institutional buyers at an
issue price of 99.193% of the principal amount, which were exchanged in November 2011 for identical notes that had
been registered with the SEC. The $3.2 million discount to the net proceeds we received in connection with the
issuance of the additional notes was recorded in long-term debt, net in the consolidated financial statements and is
being accreted as an increase to interest expense over the term of the notes. At December 31, 2013, the effective
interest rates on the initial $1,200 million tranche and the additional $400 million tranche of the notes were 7.85% and
7.80%, respectively, both of which include the effect of the discount accretion.

The notes bear interest at the rate of 7.75% per year, payable semi-annually in cash in arrears, which interest payments
commenced in April 2011. The notes are guaranteed on an unsecured senior basis by Leap and each of its existing and
future domestic subsidiaries (other than Cricket, which is the issuer of the notes) that guarantees indebtedness of Leap,
Cricket or any subsidiary guarantor. The notes and the guarantees are Leap's, Cricket's and the guarantors' general
senior unsecured obligations and rank equally in
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right of payment with all of Leap's, Cricket's and the guarantors' existing and future unsubordinated unsecured
indebtedness. The notes and the guarantees are effectively junior to Leap's, Cricket's and the guarantors' existing and
future secured obligations, including those under the Credit Agreement, to the extent of the value of the assets
securing such obligations, as well as to existing and future liabilities of Leap's and Cricket's subsidiaries that are not
guarantors (including STX Wireless and Cricket Music and their respective subsidiaries). In addition, the notes and
the guarantees are senior in right of payment to any of Leap's, Cricket's and the guarantors' future subordinated
indebtedness.

Prior to October 15, 2015, Cricket may redeem the notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of
the principal amount thereof plus the applicable premium and any accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to the
redemption date. The applicable premium is calculated as the greater of (i) 1.0% of the principal amount of such notes
and (ii) the excess of (a) the present value at such date of redemption of (1) the redemption price of such notes at
October 15, 2015 plus (2) all remaining required interest payments due on such notes through October 15, 2015
(excluding accrued but unpaid interest to the date of redemption), computed using a discount rate equal to the
Treasury Rate plus 50 basis points, over (b) the principal amount of such notes. The notes may be redeemed, in whole
or in part, at any time on or after October 15, 2015, at a redemption price of 103.875%, 102.583% and 101.292% of
the principal amount thereof if redeemed during the twelve months beginning on October 15, 2015, 2016 and 2017,
respectively, or at 100% of the principal amount if redeemed during the twelve months beginning on October 15, 2018
or thereafter, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to the redemption date.

If a "change of control" occurs (which is defined to include the acquisition of beneficial ownership of 35% or more of
Leap's equity securities (except for a transaction where immediately after such transaction Leap will be a
wholly-owned subsidiary of a person of which no person or group is the beneficial owner of 35% or more of such
person's voting stock), a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of Leap and its restricted subsidiaries and a change
in a majority of the members of Leap's board of directors that is not approved by the board), each holder of the notes
may require Cricket to repurchase all of such holder's notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount
of the notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to the repurchase date. The change in control resulting
from the Merger would not constitute a "change of control" as defined in the indenture governing the notes because
immediately after such transaction Leap would be a wholly-owned subsidiary of a person of which no person or group
is the beneficial owner of 35% or more of such person's voting stock.

The indenture governing the notes limits, among other things, our ability to: incur additional debt; create liens or other
encumbrances; place limitations on distributions from restricted subsidiaries; pay dividends; make investments;
prepay subordinated indebtedness or make other restricted payments; issue or sell capital stock of restricted
subsidiaries; issue guarantees; sell assets; enter into transactions with our affiliates; and make acquisitions or merge or
consolidate with another entity.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Non-Financial Assets

As more fully described in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in "Item 8. Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data" of this report, we apply the authoritative guidance for fair value measurements to our assets
and liabilities. The guidance defines fair value as an exit price, which is the price that would be received upon the sale
of an asset or paid upon the transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The degree of judgment utilized in measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities generally
correlates to the level of pricing observability. Assets and liabilities with readily available, actively quoted prices or
for which fair value can be measured from actively quoted prices in active markets generally have more pricing
observability and require less judgment in measuring fair value. Conversely, assets and liabilities that are rarely traded
or not quoted have less pricing observability and are generally measured at fair value using valuation models that
require more judgment. These valuation techniques involve some level of management estimation and judgment, the
degree of which is dependent on the price transparency of the asset, liability or market and the nature of the asset or
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liability.

We have categorized our assets and liabilities measured at fair value into a three-level hierarchy in accordance with
the authoritative guidance for fair value measurements. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value using quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities are generally categorized as Level 1; assets and liabilities
measured at fair value using observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market
data for similar assets or liabilities are generally categorized as Level 2; and assets and liabilities measured at fair
value using unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by market data are generally categorized as Level 3. Such
Level 3 assets and liabilities have values determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or
similar techniques, and include instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant management
judgment and estimation. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, none of our financial assets required fair value to be
measured using Level 3 inputs. However, as more fully described in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements
included in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this report, we have non-financial assets
measured at fair value using Level 3 inputs on a non-recurring basis.
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Generally, our results of operations are not significantly impacted by our assets and liabilities accounted for at fair
value due to the nature of each asset and liability.

We continue to report our long-term debt obligations at amortized cost and disclose the fair value of such obligations.

Capital Expenditures, Significant Acquisitions and Other Transactions

Capital Expenditures

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we incurred approximately $133.1 million in capital expenditures. These
capital expenditures were primarily for the ongoing maintenance, development and enhancement of our network and
other business assets.

We currently expect total capital expenditures for 2014 to be between $125 million and $175 million, although these
estimates will change significantly if we complete our proposed Merger with AT&T. These capital expenditures are
primarily expected to support the ongoing maintenance, development and enhancement of our network and other
business assets.

We are generally targeting annual capital expenditures over the next several years of less than 10% of annual service
revenues to support the ongoing maintenance, development and enhancement of our network and other business assets
(including capital expenditures relating to next-generation LTE network technology deployed in existing
markets). The actual amount of capital expenditures we spend in future years for these purposes may vary as a result
of numerous factors, including our then-available capital resources, customer usage of our network resources and the
completion of our proposed Merger with AT&T.

We continue to enhance our network to allow us to provide customers with high-quality service by improving the 3G
and LTE network coverage and capacity in existing markets. To date, we have covered approximately 21 million
POPs with LTE. However, given the significant decrease in the size of our customer base in recent quarters, our high
level of indebtedness and the high cost of LTE deployment, we have generally determined not to deploy LTE network
technology in additional markets at this time.

Other Transactions

On September 24, 2013, we completed the sale of our 10 MHz PCS wireless license in Biloxi, Mississippi to Cellular
South Licenses, LLC for $6.0 million. The wireless license sold had a carrying value of $1.8 million and we
recognized a gain of $4.2 million in connection with the sale.

On March 25, 2013, we completed an intra-market license exchange with T-Mobile and Verizon Wireless involving
various markets in Philadelphia, Wilmington and Atlantic City. The licenses involved in the exchange, which were
classified as assets held for sale as of December 31, 2012, had a carrying value of $136.2 million, and we recognized a
gain of $6.8 million in connection with the transaction.

On October 1, 2012, we assigned to various entities affiliated with T-Mobile spectrum in various markets in Alabama,
Illinois, Missouri, Minnesota and Wisconsin in exchange for 10 MHz of additional AWS spectrum in Phoenix,
Houston and two other Texas markets. The transactions also included intra-market exchanges between us and
T-Mobile in Philadelphia, Wilmington, Atlantic City and various markets in Texas and New Mexico. We recognized a
non-cash gain on the transaction of approximately $106.4 million related to the excess of the fair value over carrying
value of the spectrum exchanged by us in the transaction.
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On August 28, 2012, we purchased the 700 MHz License from Verizon Wireless for $204 million and we and Savary
Island sold to Verizon Wireless excess PCS and AWS spectrum in various markets across the U.S for $360 million.
We recognized a net gain of $130.4 million in connection with these transactions.

iPhone Purchase Commitment
In May 2012, we entered into a three-year iPhone purchase commitment with Apple. The commitment began upon our
launch of sales of the iPhone in June 2012. Based on our current handset purchase and sales mix and current iPhone
device pricing, we estimate that the commitment would require us to purchase approximately $800 million of iPhones,
with annual commitments during the three-year period that increase moderately in the second and third years.

We purchased approximately one-half of our first-year minimum purchase commitment through June 2013, which
purchases were approximately $100 million below our first-year minimum purchase commitment. Due to our efforts
to expand sales volume for the iPhone, we have not been required to purchase additional handsets to meet our
first-year minimum purchase commitment. Based on our current network footprint and product offerings, we currently
project that our iPhone purchases for the second year
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would be approximately $200 million below our second-year minimum purchase commitment and our purchases for
the third year would be approximately $300 million below our third-year minimum purchase commitment. Similar to
other carriers, our iPhone purchase rate slowed during the second year in advance of Apple’s recent launch of new
devices. During the third quarter of 2013, we introduced new device financing programs and we are continuing to
work with Apple to increase our advertising and promotional programs to increase awareness of our iPhone offering.
In addition, Apple recently released an AWS-compatible version of the iPhone, which we began offering in late
October 2013 in additional markets where we did not previously sell the iPhone, which markets represent
approximately 40% of our covered POPs. If requested to do so, we believe that we would be able to increase our
current iPhone sales rate and purchase and sell the total required number of devices over the three-year period of the
commitment and for a subsequent inventory sell-through period of 12 to 18 months. The actual amount that we spend
and the number of devices that we purchase over the term of the commitment will depend on many factors, including
customer acceptance and availability of current and future versions of the device, future costs for the device, the
success of our marketing and advertising efforts, customer demand for devices offered by other manufacturers and
other factors. We could also seek to amend the requirements under, or extend the term of, the purchase commitment,
although our current capital and liquidity projections do not assume that such a modification will occur.

Wholesale Agreement

In August 2010, we entered into a wholesale agreement with an affiliate of Sprint, which we use to offer Cricket
services in a limited number of nationwide retailers outside of our current network footprint. The initial term of the
wholesale agreement runs until December 31, 2015, and automatically renews for successive one-year periods unless
either party provides 180-day advance notice to the other. Under the agreement, we pay Sprint a specified amount per
month for each subscriber activated on its network, subject to periodic market-based adjustments. We have agreed,
among other things, to purchase a minimum of $300 million of wholesale services over the initial five-year term of the
agreement with the following annual minimum purchase commitments: $20 million in 2011; $75 million in 2012; $80
million in 2013; $75 million in 2014; and $50 million in 2015. We entered into an amendment to the wholesale
agreement in February 2013 to enable us to purchase 4G LTE services. In addition, under the amendment, we can
credit up to $162 million of revenue we provide Sprint under other existing commercial arrangements against the
minimum purchase commitment. Any wholesale revenue we provide to Sprint in a given year above the minimum
purchase commitment for that particular year is credited to the next succeeding year. However, to the extent our
revenues were to fall beneath the applicable commitment amount for any given year, excess revenues from a
subsequent year could not be carried back to offset such shortfall.

In addition, in the event we are involved in a change-of-control transaction with another facilities-based wireless
carrier with annual revenues of at least $500 million in the fiscal year preceding the date of the change of control
agreement (other than T-Mobile US, Inc., as successor to MetroPCS Communications, Inc., or its affiliates (which we
refer to as T-Mobile US)), either we (or our successor in interest) or Sprint may terminate the wholesale agreement
within 60 days following the closing of such a transaction. In connection with any such termination, we (or our
successor in interest) would be required to pay to Sprint a specified percentage of the remaining aggregate minimum
purchase commitment, with the percentage to be paid depending on the year in which the change of control agreement
was entered into, being 20% for any such agreement entered into in 2013 and 10% for any such agreement entered
into in 2014 or 2015. This termination right would be triggered by the Merger, if consummated.

In the event that we were involved in a change-of-control transaction with T-Mobile US during the term of the
wholesale agreement, then the agreement would continue in full force and effect, subject to certain revisions,
including, without limitation, an increase to the total minimum purchase commitment to $350 million, taking into
account any revenue contributed by Cricket prior to the date thereof. In the event Sprint is involved in a
change-of-control transaction, the agreement would bind Sprint's successor-in-interest.

STX Wireless Joint Venture
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Cricket service is offered in South Texas by our joint venture STX Operations, which Cricket controls through a
75.75% membership interest in its parent company STX Wireless. The joint venture was created in October 2010
through the contribution by us and various entities doing business as Pocket of substantially all of our respective
wireless spectrum and operating assets in the South Texas region. In exchange for such contributions, Cricket received
a 75.75% controlling membership interest in STX Wireless and Pocket received a 24.25% non-controlling
membership interest. Additionally, in connection with the transaction, we made payments to Pocket of $40.7 million
in cash.

Cricket controls and manages the joint venture under the terms of the amended and restated limited liability company
agreement of STX Wireless, or the STX LLC Agreement. Under the STX LLC Agreement, Pocket has the right to
put, and we have the right to call, all of Pocket's membership interests in STX Wireless, which rights are generally
exercisable on or after April 1, 2014. In addition, in the event of a change of control of Leap (including as a result of
the consummation of the Merger), Pocket is obligated
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to sell to us all of its membership interests in STX Wireless. The purchase price for Pocket's membership interests
would be equal to 24.25% of the product of Leap's enterprise value-to-revenue multiple for the four most recently
completed fiscal quarters multiplied by the total revenues of STX Wireless and its subsidiaries over that same period,
subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. The purchase price is reduced by the total amount of optional cash
distributions that have been made to Pocket pursuant to the STX LLC Agreement plus an amount equal to an 8.0% per
annum return on each such distribution from the date it was made. The purchase price is payable in either cash, Leap
common stock or a combination thereof, as determined by Cricket in its discretion (provided that, if permitted by
Cricket's debt instruments, at least $25 million of the purchase price must be paid in cash). We have the right to deduct
from or set off against the purchase price any obligations owed to us by Pocket. Under the STX LLC Agreement,
Cricket is permitted to purchase Pocket's membership interests in STX Wireless over multiple closings in the event
that the block of shares of Leap common stock issuable to Pocket at the closing of the purchase would be greater than
9.9% of the total number of shares of Leap common stock then issued and outstanding.

To the extent the redemption price for Pocket's non-controlling membership interest varies from the value of Pocket's
net interest in STX Wireless at any period (after the attribution of profits or losses), the value of such interest is
accreted to the redemption price for such interest with a corresponding adjustment to additional paid-in capital. For
the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, we recorded net accretion expense of $32.0 million and net accretion
benefit of $0.7 million, respectively, to bring the carrying value of Pocket's membership interests in STX Wireless to
its estimated redemption value. The net accretion expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 has been calculated
using a Leap enterprise value-to-revenue multiple based on a share price of $17.34 per share of Leap common stock,
which was the trailing average share price for the ten trading days ended on December 31, 2013.

In accordance with the STX LLC Agreement, STX Wireless made pro-rata tax distributions of $25.9 million and $8.3
million to Cricket and Pocket, respectively, in connection with their estimated tax liabilities resulting from STX
Wireless' earnings for the year ended December 31, 2013. During the year ended December 31, 2012, STX Wireless
made pro-rata tax distributions of $9.1 million and $3.0 million to Cricket and Pocket, respectively. We recorded the
tax distributions to Pocket as adjustments to additional paid-in-capital in the consolidated balance sheets and as a
component of accretion of redeemable non-controlling interests and distributions, net of tax, in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income. The distributions made to Cricket were eliminated in consolidation.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, STX Wireless made optional pro-rata cash distributions of $57.3 million
and $18.3 million to Cricket and Pocket, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2012, STX Wireless made
optional pro-rata cash distributions of $50.7 million and $16.2 million to Cricket and Pocket, respectively. Under the
STX LLC Agreement, optional distributions to Pocket (plus an annual return, as discussed above) reduce the purchase
price payable to Pocket in the event of a put, call or mandatory buyout following a change of control of Leap.

At the closing of the formation of the joint venture, STX Wireless entered into a loan and security agreement with
Pocket pursuant to which, commencing in April 2012, STX Wireless agreed to make quarterly limited-recourse loans
to Pocket out of excess cash in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $30 million, which loans are secured by
Pocket's membership interests in STX Wireless. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, Pocket had $15.5 million and
$8.3 million in aggregate principal amount of outstanding borrowings under the loan and security agreement.
Borrowings under the loan and security agreement bear interest at 8.0% per annum, compounded annually, and will
mature on the earlier of October 2020 and the date on which Pocket ceases to hold any membership interests in STX
Wireless. Cricket has the right to set off all outstanding principal and interest under this loan and security agreement
against the payment of the purchase price for Pocket's membership interests in STX Wireless in the event of a put, call
or mandatory buyout following a change of control of Leap. Accordingly, outstanding borrowings and accrued interest
under the loan and security agreement have been recorded as a deduction from the purchase price payable to Pocket as
discussed above in the consolidated balance sheets and as a component of accretion of redeemable non-controlling
interests and distributions, net of tax, in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The offset of the
outstanding borrowings and accrued interest against the purchase price for Pocket's membership interest, coupled with
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the net accretion (expense) benefit recorded to adjust the redemption value of Pocket's net interest in STX Wireless,
brought the carrying value of Pocket's membership interests in STX Wireless to an estimated redemption value of
$68.5 million and $64.5 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth estimated amounts and timing of our minimum contractual payments as of
December 31, 2013 for the next five years and thereafter (in thousands). Future events, including potential refinancing
of our long-term debt, could cause actual payments to differ significantly from these amounts.

2014 2015-2016 2017-2018 Thereafter Total
Long-term debt(1) $266,454 $36,500 $36,500 $3,322,625 $3,662,079
Capital leases(2) 10,056 16,705 10,124 10,145 47,030
Operating leases 268,453 474,657 311,627 198,999 1,253,736
Purchase obligations(3) 763,459 495,034 94,977 — 1,353,470
Contractual interest(4) 217,047 419,269 415,753 311,432 1,363,501
Total $1,525,469 $1,442,165 $868,981 $3,843,201 $7,679,816
____________

(1)
Amounts shown for Cricket's long-term debt include principal only and exclude the effects of discount accretion
on our $1,600 million of 7.75% senior notes due 2020 and $1,814 million senior secured term loans under the
Credit Agreement. Interest on the debt, calculated at the current interest rate, is stated separately.

(2) Amounts shown for Cricket's capital leases include principal and interest.

(3)

Purchase obligations are defined as agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and legally
binding on us and that specify all significant terms including (a) fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased,
(b) fixed, minimum or variable price provisions, and (c) the approximate timing of the transaction. These
amounts exclude purchase orders already reflected in our current liabilities. These amounts also include our
estimated purchase commitment with Apple for iPhones as discussed above under --"iPhone Purchase
Commitment."

(4) Contractual interest is based on the current interest rates in effect at December 31, 2013 for debt outstanding as of
that date.

The table above does not include the following contractual obligations relating to STX Wireless: (1) Cricket's
obligation to pay to Pocket, if Pocket exercises its right to sell its membership interest in STX Wireless to Cricket, an
amount equal to 24.25% of the product of Leap's enterprise value-to-revenue multiple for the four most recently
completed fiscal quarters multiplied by the total revenues of STX Wireless and its subsidiaries over that same period,
which amount was estimated to be approximately $68.5 million as of December 31, 2013; and (2) STX Wireless'
obligation to make quarterly limited-recourse loans to Pocket out of excess cash in an aggregate principal amount not
to exceed $30 million.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2012, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB, issued ASU 2012-02 which simplified the
requirements for testing for indefinite-lived intangible assets and permits an entity to first assess qualitative factors to
determine whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative fair value test. The new guidance was adopted by us in the
first quarter of 2013 and did not have a material impact on us or our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2013-02, "Reporting of Amounts Reclassified
Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income," or ASU 2013-02. ASU 2013-02 requires companies to present
information about significant items that have been reclassified by component out of accumulated other comprehensive
income either on the face of the statement where net income is presented or as a separate disclosure in the notes to the
financial statements. This new guidance became effective for us in the first quarter of 2013 and did not have a material
impact on us or our consolidated financial statements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
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We do not have and have not had any material off-balance sheet arrangements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

Our senior notes and convertible senior notes bear interest at fixed rates and, accordingly, our exposure to market risk
for changes in interest rates relates primarily to borrowings under our Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2013,
we had $1,814 million in principal amount of outstanding borrowings under our Credit Agreement. Borrowings under
our Credit Agreement bear interest at LIBOR plus 3.50% (subject to a LIBOR floor of 1.25% per annum) or at the
bank base rate plus 2.50% (subject to a base rate floor of 2.25% per annum), as selected by Cricket. Our primary
interest rate under the Credit Agreement is LIBOR plus 3.50%. At December 31, 2013, the weighted average effective
interest rate on outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement was 4.80%. Assuming the outstanding balance
under our Credit Agreement remained constant over a year, a 100 basis point increase in the interest rate would
decrease pre-tax income, or increase pre-tax loss, by approximately $18.1 million.

Our investment portfolio consists of highly liquid, fixed-income investments with contractual maturities of less than
one year. The fair value of such a portfolio is less sensitive to market fluctuations than a portfolio of longer term
securities. Accordingly, we believe that a significant change in interest rates would not have a material effect on our
investment portfolio.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Leap Wireless International, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Leap Wireless International, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based
on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial
statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial
statements and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit
of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Diego, California
March 5, 2014
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LEAP WIRELESS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share amounts)

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $531,245 $515,550
Short-term investments 385,783 159,426
Inventories 73,035 121,601
Deferred charges 38,293 60,963
Other current assets 159,581 139,242
Total current assets 1,187,937 996,782
Property and equipment, net 1,266,373 1,762,090
Wireless licenses 2,091,261 1,947,333
Assets held for sale (Note 7) — 136,222
Goodwill 31,886 31,886
Intangible assets, net 14,043 24,663
Other assets 71,388 68,284
Total assets $4,662,888 $4,967,260
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $365,479 $396,110
Current maturities of long-term debt 266,454 4,000
Other current liabilities 209,068 216,880
Total current liabilities 841,001 616,990
Long-term debt, net 3,364,567 3,298,463
Deferred tax liabilities 424,446 385,111
Other long-term liabilities 158,010 169,047
Total liabilities 4,788,024 4,469,611
Redeemable non-controlling interests 68,535 64,517
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock - authorized 10,000,000 shares, $.0001 par value; no shares
issued and outstanding — —

Common stock - authorized 160,000,000 shares, $.0001 par value; 79,726,348
and 79,194,750 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, respectively

8 8

Additional paid-in capital 2,159,171 2,182,503
Accumulated deficit (2,352,147 ) (1,748,694 )
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (703 ) (685 )
Total stockholders' equity (deficit) (193,671 ) 433,132
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $4,662,888 $4,967,260

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LEAP WIRELESS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Revenues:
Service revenues $2,630,554 $2,947,457 $2,829,281
Equipment revenues 267,518 194,884 241,850
Total revenues 2,898,072 3,142,341 3,071,131
Operating expenses:
Cost of service (exclusive of items shown separately below) 999,965 1,034,167 981,203
Cost of equipment 871,399 816,226 817,920
Selling and marketing 276,604 349,970 369,257
General and administrative 357,323 348,934 355,529
Depreciation and amortization 594,341 625,596 548,426
Impairments and other charges (Note 11) 28,783 39,399 26,770
Total operating expenses 3,128,415 3,214,292 3,099,105
Gain on sale, exchange or disposal of assets, net 5,427 229,714 2,622
Operating income (loss) (224,916 ) 157,763 (25,352 )
Equity in net income (loss) of investees, net (10,558 ) (464 ) 2,984
Interest income 362 194 245
Interest expense (249,784 ) (268,232 ) (256,175 )
Other expense, net — — (2 )
Loss on extinguishment of debt (72,988 ) (18,634 ) —
 Loss before income taxes (557,884 ) (129,373 ) (278,300 )
Income tax expense (45,569 ) (57,904 ) (39,377 )
Net loss (603,453 ) (187,277 ) (317,677 )
Accretion of redeemable non-controlling interests and distributions,
net of tax (37,355 ) (2,015 ) 3,050

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $(640,808 ) $(189,292 ) $(314,627 )
Loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic $(8.20 ) $(2.45 ) $(4.11 )
Diluted $(8.20 ) $(2.45 ) $(4.11 )
Shares used in per share calculations:
Basic 78,136 77,283 76,534
Diluted 78,136 77,283 76,534
Other comprehensive loss:
Net loss $(603,453 ) $(187,277 ) $(317,677 )
Net unrealized holding gains (losses) on investments and other (18 ) 27 (14 )
Comprehensive loss $(603,471 ) $(187,250 ) $(317,691 )

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LEAP WIRELESS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Operating activities:
Net loss $(603,453 ) $(187,277 ) $(317,677 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Share-based compensation expense 15,438 8,122 15,328
Depreciation and amortization 594,341 625,596 548,426
Accretion of asset retirement obligations 3,356 3,208 3,061
Non-cash interest items, net 10,608 13,514 13,178
Non-cash loss on extinguishment of debt 30,510 3,528 —
Deferred income tax expense 41,716 53,845 35,316
Impairments and other charges, net 15,447 13,640 377
Gain on sale, exchange or disposal of assets, net (5,427 ) (229,714 ) (2,732 )
Equity in net loss of investees, net of cash dividends 10,558 464 3,628
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Inventories and deferred charges 71,236 (7,628 ) (23,352 )
Other assets (29,113 ) (9,735 ) (40,970 )
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (3,030 ) (6,136 ) 38,224
Other liabilities (14,286 ) (53,989 ) 43,212
Impairments and other charges, to be settled in cash (9,099 ) 12,950 22,046
Net cash provided by operating activities 128,802 240,388 338,065
Investing activities:
Acquisition of a business — — (850 )
Purchases of property and equipment (133,067 ) (487,921 ) (395,343 )
Change in prepayments for purchases of property and equipment (4,975 ) (6,357 ) (6,813 )
Purchases of wireless licenses and spectrum clearing costs (3,289 ) (5,596 ) (4,880 )
Proceeds from sales of wireless licenses and operating assets, net 9,665 154,068 5,070
Purchases of investments (770,803 ) (367,487 ) (826,233 )
Sales and maturities of investments 543,773 613,632 487,860
Dividend received from equity investee — — 11,606
Change in restricted cash (63 ) 239 (948 )
Net cash used in investing activities (358,759 ) (99,422 ) (730,531 )
Financing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt 1,414,313 396,000 396,772
Repayment of long-term debt (1,112,922) (321,911 ) (23,589 )
Payment of debt issuance costs (15,800 ) (5,645 ) (7,269 )
Purchase of non-controlling interest — (5,250 ) —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net 555 959 1,346
Proceeds from sale lease-back financing — — 25,815
Payments made to joint venture partners (33,338 ) (29,407 ) (3,108 )
Other (7,156 ) (5,405 ) (3,048 )
Net cash provided by financing activities 245,652 29,341 386,919
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 15,695 170,307 (5,547 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 515,550 345,243 350,790
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $531,245 $515,550 $345,243

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LEAP WIRELESS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

TotalShares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2010 78,437,309 8 2,155,712 (1,243,740 ) (698 ) 911,282
Components of comprehensive
loss:
Net loss — — — (317,677 ) — (317,677 )
Net unrealized holding losses on
investments and other — — — — (14 ) (14 )

Comprehensive loss (317,691 )
Share-based compensation
expense — — 15,328 — — 15,328

Accretion of redeemable
non-controlling interests, net of
tax

— — 5,124 — — 5,124

Issuance of common stock under
share-based compensation plans,
net of repurchases

486,740 — 1,346 — — 1,346

Distributions to joint venture
partners — — (2,074 ) — — (2,074 )

Balance at December 31, 2011 78,924,049 8 2,175,436 (1,561,417 ) (712 ) 613,315
Components of comprehensive
loss:
Net loss — — — (187,277 ) — (187,277 )
Net unrealized holding gains on
investments and other — — — — 27 27
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